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team of individuals and

experienced leadership are committed

to maintaining the highest standards

creating exceptional growth opportunities

and supporting the RPA community

of employees retailers and partners

We are focused on streamlining and

improving our diverse property portfolio

through focus on innovation quality

and value We are also dedicated to

enhancing shareholder value through an

opportunistic pursuit of continued growth

while controlling costs and prudently

managing our existing assets
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ENHANCING PORTFOLIO QUALITY

Ii 2012 we embarked on an aggressive disposition program selling nearly

$500 million of non-core and non-strategic assets allowing us to significantly RPAI was one of the

refocus our portfolio on higher growth multi-tenant retail shopping centers best-performinq

These efforts will continue in 2013 with planned non-core and non-srategic REITs of the year

dispositions of $400 million to $450 million delivering total

return of 43 percent

II OPTIMIZING OUR OPERATIONAL PLATFORM to our shareholders

The development of our operational infrastructure has been primaryfocusfor

the company over the last several years We are now well positioned to benefit

from the enhancements we have made in our asset management leasing and

property management platforms Going forward we will be primarily focused

on maximizing operational efficiencies through the continued development of

strong relationships with our national retail partners and through the further Sold nearly $500

concentration of the portfolio in key strategic markets million of non-core

arid non-strategic

POSITIONING FOR GROWTH
assets allowing us to

significantly refocus
RPAI successful IPO our active disposition program and our fourth quarter

our porttotio on hich

preferred equity offering enabled us to significantly delever our balance sheet

growth multi tenaiv

and enhance our risk profile As result we are well positioned for growth and
retan snopoinq centers

expect to become active in the acquisition market again for the firs time since

2008 with expected transaction activity of $100 million to $200 million

want to thank our Board of Directors for their invaluable nsightc over the past year

and their ongoing support during this pivotal time for the cor pany
RPAIs successful P0

alsowantto thank ourdedicated and talented team of employees who are the reason our active disposition

for our outstanding performance It is their drive and focus that have propelled oir program and our

company to such remarkable results
fourth quarter

rireferred equity

We look forward to building on RPAIs solid performance in 2012 by continuing to offering enabled us to

Leverage our deep industry experience and high quality asset base in orderto enhanc significantly delever

value for all our stockholders in the coming year and beyond ur baiance sheet

and enhance our risk

profile

Looking forward we will remain focused on successfully executing our mission

to be leading independent owner of multi-tenant retail shopping centers and our

primary objectives for 2013 are as follows
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STRONG TENANT RELATIONSHIPS

We have deep understanding of our tenant

base and we maintain productive long-

term relationships with our retail partners

Merchandising is critical aspect of our

asset management approach and we

remain intensely focused on leasing the

nght space to the right tenant as we believe

that an optimized tenant mix will solidify an

assets positioning in its market and will

help us to drive rent growth and maximize

asset value over the longer term

LOOKING AHEAD TO 2013

We will continue to refine our portfolio

through an active capital recycling

program During 2013 our goal is to sell

between $400 million and $450 million of

non-core and non-strategic assets while

acquiring $100 million to $200 million of

high quality assets in strategic markets

for RPAI

ilding critical mass in attractive long-term

timize our operational platform and enhance

our largest market is result of the

significant presence in the Dallas area

ping center portfolio in that market As

look at both power centers and grocery

retail type diversity in each individual

rtunistic and pragmatic with the

look forward to continuing to build on

in 2013
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was significant step forward for RPM as it provided our existing shareholders

with valuable liquidity and provided the company with critical access to new source

of capital The listing along with the successful execution of

and strategic disposition program paved the way for our inaugural

offering in December which generated $130 million of net proceeds enabl

opportunistically prepay high cost debt

In total we repaid and extinguished nearly $1 billion

of debt during the year which resulted in Combined

Net Debt to Combined Adjusted EBITDA ratio of 6.6x

down 1.6x from 8.2x at year-end 2011 The improvement

in our overall credit metrics positions us to perform

successfully in nearly any macroeconomic environment

Looking ahead to 2013 we will be net seller of assets

with the goal of further refining our portfolio mix and

continuing to reduce Leverage We will however also

begin to deploy capital into strategic acquisitions We

will maintain our disciplined approach to balance sheet

management and we will be opportunistic about capital

raising and allocation

We are extremely pleased with our

results in 2012 and believe the market

has recognized RPAI

and focus on pruL

manaqement as RPM shares through

March 28 2013 have returned 96/

since the IPO

We look forward to continuing to build

on our financial momentum in 2013

and to creating additional value for our

share ho Ide rs



We re ow welt postioned for growth We wilt evaluate

opp rtuntes both power centers and grocery-anchored

cc ters and wilt be pnmarily focused on appropriately

mderwriting risk adjusted returns based on our thorough

undertanding of the ndivduat trade area trends and dynamics

crc we can real stcalty build critical mass

II took fo strating to you our

We believe our

VOiE



UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington D.C 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31 2012

or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to SEC
Commission File Number 001-35481

Mail
Processing

Section
RETAIL PROPERTIES OFAMERICA INC

Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter MAY 201

Maryland 42-1579325

State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization I.R.S Employer

DC
2021 Spring Road Suite 200 Oak Brook Illinois 60523

404
Address of principal executive offices Zip Code

630-634-4200

Registrants telephone number including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Act

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered

Class Common Stock $001 par value New York Stock Exchange
7.00% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock $.001 par value New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12g of the Act

Title Of class

None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act Yes No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15d of the Act Yes No IEJ

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports and has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Website if any every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T 232.405 of this chapter during the preceding 12 months or
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files Yes No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K 229.405 of this chapter is not contained
herein and will not be contained to the best of registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference

in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer or smaller reporting

company See definitions of large accelerated filer accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company
Do not check if smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act Yes No EE1

As of June 29 2012 the aggregate market value of the Class common stock held by non-affiliates was approximately $826.6 million based
upon the closing price as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on June 292012 of $9.72 For this computation the Registrant has excluded
the market value of all shares of Class common stock reported as beneficially owned by executive officers and directors of the Registrant
Such exclusion shall not be deemed to constitute an admission that any such person is an affiliate of the Registrant

Number of shares outstanding of the registrants classes of common stock as of February 15 2013

Class common stock 133606778 shares

Class B-2 common stock 48518389 shares

Class B-3common stock 48518389 shares



PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK



RETAIL PROPERTIES OFAMERICA INC

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART

Item Business

Item 1A Risk Factors

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments 21

Item Properties 22

Item Legal Proceedings 24

Item Mine Safety Disclosures 24

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 25

Item Selected Financial Data 27

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 28

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 51

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 53

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 112

Item 9A Controls and Procedures 112

Item 9B Other Information 114

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 114

Item 11 Executive Compensation 120

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 133

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence 134

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services 136

PART 1V

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 137

SIGNATURES
139



PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK



PART

All share amounts and dollar amounts in this Form 10-K in Items through 7A are stated in thousands with the exception ofper
share amounts We define non-stabilized properties as those properties that have not achieved 90% or greater occupancy since

their development and have been operational for less than one year In this report all references to we our and us refer

collectively to Retail Properties ofAmerica Inc and its subsidiaries including consolidated joint ventures

Item Business

General

We are fully integrated self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust REIT formed to own and operate high

quality strategically located shopping centers We are one of the largest owners and operators of shopping centers in the United

States As of December 31 2012 our retail operating portfolio consisted of 230 properties with approximately 32671000 square
feet of gross leasable area GLA was geographically diversified across 35 states and included power centers community centers

neighborhood centers and lifestyle centers as well as single-user retail properties Our retail properties are primarily located in

retail districts within densely populated areas in highly visible locations with convenient access to interstates and major

thoroughfares Our retail properties have weighted average age based on annualized base rent ABR of approximately 10.5

years since theinitial construction As of December 312012 our retail operating portfolio was 89.9% occupied and 92.4% leased

including leases signed but not commenced In addition to our retail operating portfolio as of December 31 2012 we also held

interests in 10 office properties two industrial properties 22 retail operating properties held by three unconsolidatedjoint ventures
three retail properties under development and three retail operating properties classified as held for sale The following summarizes

our consolidated operating portfolio as of December 31 2012

Percent Leased
Number of GLA Including Leases

Description Properties in thousands Occupancy Signed

Retail

Wholly-owned 230 32671 89.9% 92.4%

Office/Industrial

Wholly owned 12 185 100 0% 1000%

Total consolidated operating portfolio 242 34 856 90 5% 92 9%

Includes leases signed but not commenced

As of December 31 2012 over 90% of our shopping centers based on GLA were anchored or shadow anchored by grocer
discount department store wholesale club or retailer that sells basic household goods or clothing including Target TJX Companies

PetSmart Best Buy Bed Bath Beyond Home Depot Kohls Wal-Mart Publix and Lowes Overall we have broad and highly

diversified retail tenant base that includes approximately 1500 tenants with no one tenant representing more than 3.3% of the total

ABR generated from our retail operating properties or our retail ABR

Operating History

We are Maryland corporation formed in March 2003 and have been publicly held and subject to U.S Securities and Exchange
commission SEC reporting obligations since 2003 We were initially formed as Inland Western Retail Real Estate Trust Inc
and on March 2012 we changed our name to Retail Properties of America Inc

Competition

In seeking new investment opportunities we compete with otherreal estate investors including pension funds insurance companies

foreign investors real estate partnerships other REITs private individuals and other real estate companies some of which have

greater financial resources than we do With
respect to properties presently owned by us we compete with other owners of like

properties for tenants There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully compete with such entities in development
acquisition and leasing activities in the future

Our business is inherently competitive Property owners including us compete the basis of location visibility quality and

aesthetic value of construction volume oftraffic strength and name recognition of tenants and other factors These factors combine

to determine the level of occupancy and rental rates that we are able to achieve at our properties Further our tenants compete with

other forms of retailing including e-commerce catalog companies and direct consumer sales We may at times compete with



newer properties or those in more desirable locations To remain competitive we evaluate all of the factors affecting our centers

and work to position them accordingly For example we may decide to focus on renting space to specific retailers who will

complement our existing tenants and increase traffic We believe the pnncipal factors that retailers consider in making their leasing

decisions include

consumer demographics

quality design and location of properties

total number and geographic distribution of properties

diversity of retailers and anchor tenants at shopping center locations

management and operational expertise and

rental rates

Based on these factors we believe that the size and scope of our property portfolio as well as the overall quality and attractiveness

of our individual properties enable us to compete effectively for retail tenants in our local markets Because our revenue potential

may be linked to the success of retailers we indirectly share exposure to the same competitive factors that our retail tenants

experience in their respective markets when trying to attract individual shoppers These dynamics include general competition

from other regional shopping centers including outlet malls and other discount shopping centers as well as competition with

discount shopping clubs catalog companies internet sales and telemarketing

Tax Status

We have elected to be taxed as REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended or the

Code To maintain our qualification as REIT we must meet number of organizational and operational requirements including

requirement
that we annually distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our shareholders determined without regard

to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains As REIT we generally are not subject to U.S federal income

tax on the taxable income we currently distribute to our shareholders If we fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year we will

be subject to U.S federal income tax at regular corporate tax rates Even if we qualify for taxation as REIT we may be subject

to certain state and local taxes on our income property or net worth and U.S federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed

income We have one wholly-owned consolidated subsidiary that has jointly elected to be treated as taxable REIT subsidiary or

TRS for U.S federal income tax purposes ATRS is taxed on its net income at regular corporate tax rates The income tax expense

incurred as result of the TRS has not had material impact on our consolidated financial statements

Regulation

General

The properties in our portfolio are subject to various laws ordinances and regulations including regulations relating to common

areas We believe each of our existing properties has the necessary permits and approvals to operate its business

Americans with Disabilities Act

Our properties must comply with Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act or ADA to the extent that such properties are

public accommodations as defined by the ADA The ADA may require removal of structural barriers to access by persons with

disabilities in certain public areas of our properties where such removal is readily achievable We believe the existing properties

are in substantial compliance with the ADA and that we will not be required to make substantial capital expenditures to address

the requirements of the ADA Refer to Item IA Risk Factors for more information regarding compliance with the ADA

Environmental Matters

Under various federal state or local laws ordinances and regulations as current or former owner or operator of real property

we may be liable for costs and damages resulting from the presence or release of hazardous substances waste or petroleum

products at on in under or from such property including costs for investigation remediation natural resource damages or third

party liability for personal injury or property dathag These laws often impose liability without regard to whether the owner or

operator
knew of or was responsible for the presence or release of such matenals and the liability may be joint and several



Independent eæviromnental consultants have conducted Phase Environmental Site Assessments or similarenvironmental audits

for all of our investment properties at the time they were acquired Phase Environmental Site Assessment is written report

that identifies existing or potential environmental conditions associated with particular property These environmental site

assessments generally involve review of records and visual inspection of the property but do not include soil sampling or ground

water analysis These environmental site assessments have not revealed nor are we aware of any environmental liability that we

believe will have material effect on our operations Referto Item IA Risk FactOrs formOre information regarding environmental

matters

Insurance

We carry comprehensive liability fire extended coverage earthquake terrorism and rental loss insurance covering all of the

properties in our portfolio under blanket policy We believe the policy specifications and insured limits are appropriate given the

relative nsk of loss the cost of the coverage and industry practice and in the opinion of our management the properties in our

portfolio are adequately insured Our terrorism insurance is subject to exclusions for loss or damage caused by nuclear substances

pollutants contaminants and biological and chemical weapons We do not carry insurance for generally uninsured losses such as

loss frOm riots Or acts of God In addition we cany terrorism instiranceon au of our prOperties in an amount and with deductibles

which we believe are commercially reasonable See Item 1A Risk Factors for more information

Employees

As of December 31 2012 we had appr9ximately 250 employees

Access to Company Information

We make available free of charge through our website and by responding to requests addressed to our investor relations group

our Annual Report on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those

reports and proxy statements filed or furnished pursuant to 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

These reports are available as soon as reasonably practical after such material is electronically filed or furnished to the SEC Our

website address is www rpai corn The information contained on our website or other websites linked to our website is not part

of this document You may also obtain our reports by accessing the EDGAR database at the SEcs website at www.sec.gov

Shareholders wishing to communicate directly with the board of directors or any committee can do so by writing to the attention

of the Board of Directors or Committee in care of Retail Properties of America Inc at 2021 Spring Road Suite 200 Oak

Brook Illinois 60523

Item 1A Risk Factors

In evaluating our company careful consideration should be given to the following risk factOrsin addition to the other informatien

included in this annual report Each of these risk factors could adversely affect our business operating results and/or financial

condition as well as adversely affect the value of an investment in our stock In addition to the following disclosures please refer

to the other information contained in this report including the consolidated financial statements and the related notes

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS AND OUR PROPERTIES

There are inherent risks associated with real estate investments and with the real estate industiy each of which could have an

adverse impact on our financial performance and the value of our retail properties

Real estate investments are subject to various risks and fluctuations and cycles in value and demand many of which are beyond

our control Our financial performance and the value of our properties can be affected by many of these factors including the

following

the national regional and local economy which may be negatively impacted by concerns about inflation deflation

government deficits high unemployment rates decreased consumer confidence industry slowdowns reduced corporate

profits liquidity concerns in our markets and other adverse busifless concerns

local real estate conditions such as an oversupply of retail space or reduction in demand for retail space or retail goods

and the availability and creditworthiness of current and prospective tenants

vacancies or ability to rent space on favorable terms including possible market pressures to offer tenants rent abatements

tenant improvements or inducements early termination rights or below-market renewal options



the convenience and quality ofcompeting retail properties and other retailing options such as the internet

perceptions by retailers or shoppers of the safety convenience and attractiveness of our retail
properties

inability to collect rent from tenants

changes in operating costs and expenses including without limitation
increasing labor and material

costs insurance
costs energy prices environmental restrictions real estate taxes and costs of compliance with laws regulations and
government policies which we may be restricted from passing on to our tenants

our ability to secure adequate insurance

our ability to provide adequate management services and to maintain our properties

adverse changes in financial conditions of buyers sellers and tenants of our properties including bankruptcies financial

difficulties or lease defaults by our tenants

fluctuations in interest rates which could adversely affect our ability or the ability of buyers and tenants of
properties

to obtain financing on favorable terms or at all

competition from other real estate investors with significant capital including other real estate operating companies
publicly traded REITs and institutional investment funds

changes in and changes in enforcement of laws regulations and governmental policies including without limitation
health safety environmental zoning and tax laws government fiscal policies and the ADA and

civil unrest acts of war terrorist attacks and natural disasters including earthquakes and floods which may result in
uninsured and underinsured losses

In addition because the yields available from equity investments in real estate depend iniªrge part on the amount of rental income
earned as well as property operating expenses and other costs incurred period of economic slowdown or recession decliningdemand for real estate or the public perception that any of these events may occui could result in general decline in rents or an
increased incidence of defaults among our existing leases and consequently ourproperties including those held by joint ventures
may fail to generate revenues sufficient to meet operating debt service and other expenses As result we may have to borrow
amounts to cover fixed costs and our cash flow financial condition and results of

operations could be adversely affected As such
the per share trading prices of our Class common stock and Series preferredstock and our ability to satisfy our principal and
interest obligations and to make distributions to our shareholders may be adversely affected

Continued economic weakness from the severe U.S economic recession that began in 2008 may materially and adversely affrct
our cash flow financial condition and results of operations

The economy is still
expenencing weakness from the severe recessn that began in 2008 which resulted in increased

unemployment decreased consumer spending reduced demand and rental rates for retail space the
bankruptcy or weakened

financial condition of number of large retailers and decline in residential and commercial property values Although the U.S
economy has emerged from that recession high levels of unemployment have persisted and rental rates and valuations for retail

space have not fully recovered to pre-recession levels and may not for number of
years If the economic recovery slows or stallswe may continue to experience downward pressure on the rental rates weare able to charge as leases signed prior to the recession

expire and tenants may declare bankruptcy announce store closings or fail to meet their lease obligations any of which could
adversely affect our cash flow financial condition and results of operations

Substantial internationa4 national and local government spending and increasing deficits may adversely affect our cash flow
financial condition and results of operations

The values of and the cash flows from the properties we own are affected by developments in global national and local economies
As result of the severe recession that began in 2008 and the significant government interventions federal state and local

governments have incurred record deficits and assumed or guaranteed liabilities of private financial institutions or other private
entities These increased budget deficits and the weakened financial condition of federal state and local governments may lead to
reduced governmental spending tax increases public sector job losses increased interest rates currency devaluations or other
adverse economic events which may directly or indirectly adversely affect our cash flow financial condition and results of
operations



We face signflcant competition in the leasing market which may decrease or prevent increases in the occupancy and rental

rates of our properties

We have acquiredand intend tocontinueto acquireproperties located in developed areas Consequently we compete with numerous

developers owners and operators of retail properties many of which own properties similar to and in the same market areas as

our properties If our competitors offer space at rental rates below current market rates or below the rental rates we currently

charge our tenants we may lose existing or potential tenants and we may be pressured to reduce our rental rates below those we
currently charge in order to attract new tenants and retain existing tenants when their leasesexpire As result our cash flow
financial condition and results of operations maybe adversely affected

We may be required to make rent or other concessions and/or signflcant capital expenditures to improve our properties in

order to retain and attract tenants which could adversely affect our cash flow financial condition and results of operations

In order to attract new tenantsand retain existing tenants we may be required to offer more substantial rent abatements tenant

improvements or indacements and early termination rights or accommodate requests for renovations build-to-suit remodeling and

other improvements or provide additional services to our tenants As result we may have to make significant capital or other

expenditures in order to retain tenants whose leases expire.and to attract new tenants in sufficient numbers which could adversely

affect our results of operations and cash flow Additionally if we need to raise capital to make such expenditures and are unable

to do so or such capital is otherwise unavailable we may be unable to make the required expenditures This could result in non-

renewals by tenants upon expiration of their.lcases which could adversely affect oar cash flow financial condition and results of

operations

Our inability to collect rents from tenants may negatively impact our cash flow financial condition and results of operations

Substantially all of our income is derived from rentals of real property Therefore our cash flow financial condition and results

of operations materially depend on the financial stability of our tenants any of which may expenence change in their business

at any time and our ability to continue to lease space in our properties on economically favorable terms If the sales of stores

operating in our centers decline sufficiently tenants may be unable to pay their existing minimum rents or expense recovery

charges since these rents and charges would represent higher percentage of their sales and newtenants might be less willing to

pay minimum rents as high as they would otherwise pay Further tenants may delay lease commencements decline to extend or

renew lease upon its expiration or on terms favorable to us or exercise early termination rights to the extent available If

significant number of our tenants are unableto make their rental payments to us or otherwise meet their lease obligations our cash

flow financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected

We may be unable to renew leases lease vacant space or re-lease space as leases
expire and rents associated with new leases

for the properties in our portfolio may be less than expiring rents lease roll-down which could adversely affect our cash flow

financial condition and results of operations

Approximately 5% of the total GLA in our retail operating portfolio excluding leases signed but not commenced including our

pro rata share of unconsolidated Joint ventures was vacant as of December 31 2012 In addition leases accounting for

approximately 33 7% of the ABR in our retail operating portfolio including our pro rata share of unconsolidated Joint ventures

as of December 31 2012 are scheduled to expire between 2013 and 2015 We cannot assure you that leases will be renewed or

that our properties will be re-leased at net effective rental rates equal to or above the current average iet effective rental rates or

that substantial rent abatements tenant improvements lease inducements or incentives early termination rights or below market

renewal options will not be offered to attract new tenants or retain existing tenants The rental rate spread between expiring leases

and new leases may vary both from property to property and among different leased
spaces within single property If the rental

rates for our properties decrease our existing tenants do not renew their leases or we do not re-let significant portion of our

available space and
space for which leases will expireour cash flow financial condition and results ofoperations could be adversely

affected

Ifany of our anchor tenants experience downturn in their business or terminate their leases our cash flowfinancial condition

and results of operations could be adversely affrcted

Our cash flow financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected in the event of downturn in the business

or the bankruptcy or insolvency of any anchor store or anchor tenant particularly an anchor tenant with multiple store locations

Anchor tenants generally occupy large amounts of
square footage pay significant portion of the total rents at property and

contribute to the success of other tenaiits by drawing significant numbers of customers to property The closing of one or more
anchorstores at property could adversely affect that.property and result in lease terminations by or reductions in rent from other

tenants whose leases permit termination or rent reduction in those circumstances or whose own operations may suffer as result



of the anchor store closing Additional bankruptcies or insolvenciesof or store closingsby our anchor tenants could significantly

increase vacancies and reduce our rental income We may be unable to re-let such space on similar terms and in timely manner

Many of the leases at our retailproperties contain co-tenancy or go-dark provisions which iftriggered may allow tenants

to pay reduced rent cease operations or terminate their leases any of which could adversely affect our cash flow financial

condition andresults of operations

Many of the leases at our retail properties contain co tenancy provisions
that condition tenants obligation to remain open the

amount of rent payable by the tenant or the tenants obligation to continue occupancy in certain conditions including the

presence of certain anchor tenant or tenants and the continued operation of an anchor tenants store or iiminimum occupancy

levels at the applicable property If co-tenancy provision is triggered by failure of any of these or other applicable conditions

tenant could have the right to cease operations at the applicable property terminate its lease early or have its rent reduced In

periods of prolonged economic decline there is higher than normal risk that co-tenancy provisions will be triggered due to the

higher risk of tenants closing stores or terminating leases during these periods For example the effects of past tenant bankruptcies

triggered some co-tenancy clauses in certain other tenant leases which protided
certain of these tenants with immediatereductions

in their annual rents andcpermittedthem to terminate their leases if suitable replacement was not found within the allotted time

period In addition to these co-tenancy provisions certain of the leases at our retail properties contain go-dark provisions that

allow the tenant to cease operations at the applicable property while continuing to pay rent This cduld result in decreased customer

traffic at the applicable property thereby decreasing sales for our other tenants at that property which may result in our other

tenants being unable to pay their minimum rents or expense recovery charges These provisions also may result in lower rental

revenue generated under the applicable leases To the extent co-tenancy or go-dark provisions
in our retail leases result in lower

revenue or tenant sales or in tenants rights to terminate their leases early or to have their rent reduced our cash flow financial

condition and results of operations could be adversely affected

We may be unable to collect balances due on our leases from any tenants in bankruptcy which could adversely affect our cash

flow financial condition and results of operations

Our leases generally do not contain provisions designed to ensure the creditworthiness of the tenant and number of companies

in the retail industry including some of our tenants have declared bankruptcy or otherwise closed certain of their stores in recent

years We cannot assure you that any tenant that flies for bankruptcy protection will continue to occupy their locations or pay us

rent Any or all of the tenants or guarantor
of tenants lease obligations could be subject to bankruptcy proceeding pursuant

to Chapter 11 or Chapter of the bankruptcy laws of the United States Such bankrutcy filing could limit our ability to collect

pre-bankruptcy rents from these entities or their properties unless we receive an order from the bankruptcy court permitting us to

do so tenant or lease guarantor bankruptcy could delay our efforts to collect past due balances under the relevant leases and

could ultimately limit or preclude collection of these sums If lease is rejected by tenant in bankruptcy the tenant would vacate

the premises and we would only have general unsecured claim for damages This claim could be paid only in the event funds

are available and then only in the same percentage as that realized on other unsecured claims and our claim would be limited to

the sum of rent already due and unpaid plus ii the rent reserved under the lease without acceleration for the greater of one

year or 15% of the remaining term of the lease but not greater than three years Therefore if lease is rejected we would likely

receive substantially less than the full value of any unsecured claims we hold if anything which could result in reduction in our

cash flow financial condition and results of operations

Our expenses may remain constant or increase even ifinCome from our properties decreases causing our cash flowfinancial

condition and results of operations to be adversely affected

Costs associated with our business such as mortgage pa3ments real estate and personal property taxes insurance utilities and

corporate expenses are relatively inflexible and generally do not decrease when property
is not fully occupied rental rates

decrease tenant fails to pay rent or other circumstances cause our revenues todecrease If we are unable to reduce our operating

costs if our revenue declines our cash flow financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected In addition

inflationary price increases could result in increased operating costs for us and our tenants and to the extent we are unable to pass

along those price increases or are unable to recover operating expenses from tenants could adversely affect our cash flow financial

condition and results of operations

Real estate related taxes may increase and ifthese increases are not passed on to tenants our cash flowfinancial condition

and results of operations will be reduced

Even if we qualif as REIT for U.S federal income tax purposes we will be required to pay state and local taxes on our properties

The real property taxes may increase property
Values or assessment rates change or as our properties are assessed or reassessed

by taxing authorities An increase in theassessed valuation of property
for real estate tax purposes

will result in an increase in



the related real estate taxes on that property Although some leases may permit us to pass through such tax increases to our tenants

there is no assurance that renewal leases or future leases will be negotiated on the same basis If our property taxes increase and

we are unable to pass those increases through to our tenants our cash flow financial condition and rbsults of operations could be

adversely affected

We have high concentration of properties in the Dallas-Fort Worth-Arlington area and adverse economic and other

developments in that area could have material adverse effect on us

As of December 31 2012 approximately 11.3% of the GLA and approximately 14.3% of the ABR from our retail operating

portfolio were represented by properties located in the Dallas-Fort Worth-Arlington area result we are particularly susceptible

to adverse economic and other developments in this area including increased unemployment industry slowdowns business layoffs

or downsizing relocations of businesses decreased consumer confidence changes in demographics increases in real estate and

othr taxes increased regulation and natural disasters any of Which could have material adverse effect on us

We depend on external sources of capital that are outside of our contro4 which may affect our ability to seize strategic

opportunities satisfy our debt obligations and make distributions to our shareholders

In order to maintain our qualification as REIT we are generally required under the Code to annually distribute at least 90% of

our REIT taxable income determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital gains In

addition as REIT we will be subject to income tax at regular corporate rates to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of

our REIT taxable income including any net capital gains Because of these distribution requirements we may not be able to fund

future capital needs including redevelopment acquisition expansion and renovation activities payments of principal and interest

on and the refinancing of our existing debt tenant improvements and leasing costs from operating cash flow Consequently we

rely on third-party sources to fund our capital needs We may not be able to obtain the necessary financing on favorable terms in

the time period we desire or at all Any additional debt we incur will increase otir leverage exposeus to the risk of default and

may impose operating restrictions on us and any additional equity we raise could be dilutive to existing shareholders Our access

to third-party sources of capital depends in part on

general market conditions

the markets view of the quality of our assets

the markets perception of our growth potential

our current debt levels

our current and expected future earnings

our cash flow and cash distributions and

the market price per share of our Class common stock and Series preferred stock

Ifwe cannot obtain capital from third-party sources we may not be able to acquire or develop properties when strategic opportunities

exist satisf our principal and interest obligations or make the cash distributions to our shareholders
necessary to maintain our

qualification as REIT

We may be unable to sell property at the time we desire and on favorable terms or at all which could limit our ability to access

capital through dispositions and could adversely affect our.cash flow financial condition and results of operations

Real estate investments generally cannot be sold quickly Our ability to dispose of properties on advantageous terms depends on

factors beyond on our control including competition from other sellers and the availability of attractive financing for potential

buyers of our properties and we cannot predict the various market conditions affecting real estate investments that will exist at

any particular time in the future In addition the Code generally imposes 100% tax on gain recognized by REITs upon the

disposition of assets if the assets are held primarily for sale in the ordinary course of businessrather than for investment which

may cause us to forego or defer sales of properties that otherwise would be attractive from pre-tax perspective As result of

such tax laws and the uncertainty of market conditions our ability to promptly make changes to our portfolio as necessary to

respond to economic and other conditions may be limited and we cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to sell such

properties at profit or at all Accordingly our ability to access capital through dispositions may be limited which could limit

our ability to acquire properties strategically and pay down indebtedness for example



When acquiring property in the future wemay also agree
to restrictions that prohibit tle sale of that property for period of

time or impose other restrictions such as limitation on the amount of debt thatcan be placed or repaid on that property These

provisions may restrict our ability to sell property atopportune
times or on favorable terms and as result may adversely impact

our cash flow financial condition and results of operations

Furthermore we may be required to expend fund to correct defects or to make improvements before property can be sold We

cannot assure our shareholders that we will have funds available to correct such defects or to make such improvements and

therefore we may be unable to sell the asset or may have to sell it at reduced price

We may be unable to complete acquisitions and even if acquisitions are completed we mayfail to successfully operate acquired

properties

We continue to evaluate the market of available properties and.rnay acquire properties when we believe strategic opportunities

exist Our ability to acquire properties on favorable terms and successfully operate or develop them is subject to the following

risks

we may be unable to acquire desired property because of competition from other real estate investors with substantial

capital including from other REITs and institutional investment funds

even if we are able to acquire desired property competition from other potential acquiers may significantly increase

the purchase price

even if we enter into agreements for the acquisition of properties these agreements are subject to customary conditions

to closing including completion of due diligence investigations to our satisfaction

we may incur significant costs and divert management attention in connection with the evaluation and negotiation of

potential acquisitions including onesthatwe are subsequently unable to complete

we may acquire properties that are not initially accretive to our results upon acquisition and we may not successfully

manage and lease those properties to meet our expectations

we may be unable to finance the acquisition on favorable terms in the time period we desire or at all

even ifwe are able to finance the acquisition our cash flow may be insufficient to meet our required principal açid interest

payments

we may spend more than budgeted to make necessary improvements or renovations to acquired properties

we may be unable to quickly and efficiently integrate new acquisitions particularly the acquisition of portfolios of

properties into our existing operations

market conditions may result in higherthan expected vacancy rates and lower than expected rental rates and

we may acquire properties subject to liabilities and Without any recourse with onjy limited recourse with respect to

unknown liabilities for clean-up of undisclosed envirnmentai contaminXion claims by tenants or other persons dealing

with former owners of the properties and claims for indemnification by general partners directors officers and others

indemnified by the former owners of the properties

If we cannot finance property acquisitions in timely mannerand on favorable terms or operate acquired properties to meet our

financial expectations our cash flow financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected

Joint venture investments could be adversely affected by our lack of sole decision-making authority

We have made and may continue to make investments in joint ventures or other partnership arrangements between us and ourjoint

venture partners As of December 31 2Q12 we held portion of one development property with 44000 square
feet of GLA in

one consolidatedjoint venture and operating properties with 4421000 square
feet of GLA in three unconsolidatedjoint ventures

Investments injointventures or otherpartnershp arrangements involve risks not present were third party not involved including

the following

we do not have exclusive control over the development financing leasing management and other aspects of the property

or joint venture which may prevent us from taking actions that are in our best interest but opposed by our partners



priorconsent of our joint venture partners may be required for sale or transfer to third party of our interest in the joint

venture which would restrict our ability to dispose of our interest in thejoint venture

two of our unconsolidated joint venture agreements have and future joint venture agreements may contain buy-sell

provisions pursuant to which one partner may initiate procedures requiringtheother partnerto choosebetween buying

the other partners interest or selling its interest to that partner

our partners might become bankrupt or fail to fund their share of required capital contributions necessary to refinance

debt or to fund tenant improvements or development or renovation projects for te joint venture properties which may

force us to contribute more capital than we anticipated to cover the joint venture liabilities

our partners may have competing interests in our markets that could create conflict of interest issues

our partners may have economic or business interests ot goals that are inconsistentvith our interests or goals nd may

take actions contrary to our instructions requests policies or objectives

twoof our joint venture agreements have and future joint vetitureagreŁments may cOntain provisions limiting our ability

to solicit or otherwise attempt to persuade any tenant to relocate to anotherprope not owned by the joint venture

our partners may take actions that could jeopardize our REIT status or require us to pay taxes

actions by our partners might subject properties owned by the joint venture to liabilities greater than those ontemplated

by the terms of the joint venture agreements or other adverse consequences that may reduce our returns

disputes between us and our partners may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses and prevent

our officers and/or directors from focusing their time and effort on our business and could result in subjecting properties

owned by the partnership or joint venture to additional risk and

we may in certain circumstances be liable for the actions of our third-party partners

If any of the foregoing were to occur our cash flow financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected

Our development redevelopment and construction activities have inherent risks which could adversely impact our cash flow

financial condition and results of operations

Our development redevelopment and construction activities include risks that are different and in moSt cases greater than the

risks associated with our acquisition of fully developed and stabilized operating properties We may provide completion of

construction and principal guaranty to the construction lender As result of such guaranty we may subject property to liabilities

in excess of those contemplated and thus reduce our return to investors As of December 31 2012 we had guaranteed $4168 of

the construction loan associated with one consolidated joint venture property
In addition to the risks associated with real estate

investments in general as described elsewhere the risks associated with our development and redevelopment activities include

significant time lag between commencement and stabilization subjects us to greater risks due to fluctuations in the general

economy including national regional and local economiŒ downturns and shifts in demographics

expenditure of money and time on projects that may never be completed

occupancy rates and rents at newly completed property may not be sufficient to make the property profitable

inability to achieve projected occupancy and/or rental rates per squarefoot
within the projected time frame if at all

failure or inability to obtain construction or permanent financing on favorable terms or at all

higher than estimated construction or operating costs including labor and material costs

inability to complete construction and lease-up on schedule resulting in increased debt service expense and construction

costs and

possible delay in completion of project because of number of factors including weather labor disruptions construction

delays or delays in receipt of zoning or other regulatory approvals acts of terror or other acts of violence or acts of God

such as fires earthquakes or floods

Additionally the time frame required for development or redevelopment and lease-up of these properties means that we may not

realize significant cash teturn for several years if any of the above events occur the development of the properties may hinder



our growth and have an adverse effect on our cash flow financial condition and results of operations In addition new development

activities regardless of whether or not they are ultimately successful typically require substantial time and attention from

management

We are subject to litigation that may negatively impact our cash flow financial condition and results of operations

We are defendant from time to time in lawsuits and regulatory proceedings relating to our business Due to the inherent uncertainties

of litigation and regulatory proceedings we cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of any such litigation or proceedings

An unfavorable outcome could negatively impact our cash flow financial condition and results ofoperations Fora further discussion

of litigation risks see Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements

number ofproperties in our portfolio are subject to ground leases are found to be in breach of ground lease or are

unable to renew ground lease we could be materially and adversely aJjecteiL

We have 17 properties in our portfolio that are either completely or partially on land subject to ground leases Accordingly we

only own long-term leasehold or similar interest in those properties If we are found to be in breach of ground lease we could

lose the right to use the property In addition unless wecanpiirchaseafee interest in the underlying land and improvements or

extend the terms of these leases before their expiration as to which no assurance can be given we will lose our right to operate

these properties and our interest in the improvements upon expiration of the leases Assuming that we exercise all available options

to extend the terms of our ground leases all of our ground leases will expire between 2023 and 2105 However in certain cases

our ability to exercise such options is subject to the condition that we are not in default under the terms of the ground lease at the

time that we exercise such options and we can provide no assurances that we will be able to exercise our options at such time

Furthermore we can provide noassurances that we will be able to renew our ground leases upon expiration If wewere to lose

the right to use property due to breach or non-renewal of the ground lease we would be unable to derive income from such

property which could materially and adversely affect us

Uninsured losses or losses in excess of insurance coverage could materially and adversely affect our cash flow financial

condition and results of operations

Each tenant is responsible for insuring its goods and premises and in some circumstances may be required to reimburse us for

share of the cost of acquiring comprehensive insurance for theproperty including casualty liability fire and extended
coverage

customarily obtained for similarproperties in amounts which we determine are sufficient to cover reasonably foreseeable losses

Tenants on net lease typically are required to pay all insurance costs associated with their space However material losses may
occur in excess of insurance proceeds with respect to any property and we may not have sufficient resources to fund such losses

In addition we may be subject to certain types of losses generally of catastrophic nature such as losses due to wars acts of

terronsm earthquakes floods hurricanes pollution or environmental matters which are either uninsurable or not economically

insurable or may be insured subject to limitations such as large deductibles or co payments If we expenence loss that is uninsured

or that exceeds policy limits we could lose all or significant portion of the capital we have invested in the damaged property as

well as the anticipated iuture revenue of the property which could materially and adversely affect our financial coiiditionand

results of operations Inflation changes building codes and ordinances environmental considerations and other factors also

might make it impractical or undesirable to use insurance proceeds to replace property after it has been damaged or destroyed

In addition if the damaged properties are subject to recourse indebtedness we would continue to be liable for the indebtedness

even if these properties are irreparably damaged Furthermore we may not be able to obtain adequate insurance coverage at

reasonable costs in the future as the costs associated with property and casualty renewals may be higher than anticipated

number of our properties are located in areas which are susceptible to and could be significantly affected by natural disasters

that could cause significant damage to our properties For example many of our properties are located in coastal regions and

would therefore be affected by any future increases in sea levels or in the frequency or severity of hurricanes and tropical storms

In addition number of our properties are located in California and other regions that are especially susceptible to earthquakes

If we experience loss due to such natural disasters or other relevant factors that is uninsured or which exceedsour policy limits

we could incur significant costs and lose the capital invested in the damaged properties as well as the anticipated future revenue

from those properties whichcould adversely affect our cash flowfinancial condition and results of operations Iæadditionifthe

damaged properties are subject to recourse indebtedness we would continue to be liable for the indebtedness even if these properties

are irreparably damaged

In addition insurance risks associated with potential terrorist acts could sharply increase the premium we pay for coverage against

property and casualty claims Further mortgage lenders in some cases insist that specific coverage against terrorism be purchased

by commercial property owners as condition for providing mortgage loans It is uncertain whether such insurance policies will

be available or available at reasonable costs which could inhibit our ability to finance or refinance our properties In such instances
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we may be required to provide other financial support either through financial assurances or self-insurance to cover potential

losses We cannot assure our shareholders that we will have adequate coverage
for such losses and to the extent we must pay

unexpectedly large amounts for insurance our cash flow financial condition and results of operations could be materially and

adversely affected

We may incur signflcant costs complying with the ADA and similar laws which could adversely affect our cash flow financial

condition and results of operations

Under the ADA all public accommodations must meet federal requirements related to access anduse by disabled persons.Although

we believe the properties in our portfolio substantially comply with present requirements of the ADA we have not conducted an

audit or investigation of all of our properties to determine our compliance Noncompliance with the ADA could result in imposition

of fines or an award of damages to private litigants The obligation to make readily achievable accommodations is an ongoing

one and we will continue to assess our properties and to make alterations as appropriate in this respect If one or more of the

properties in our portfolio is not in compliance with the ADA we would be required to incur additional costs to bring the property

into compliance and we may also incur fines and/or damages to private litigants Additional federal state andlocal laws also may

require modifications to our properties or restrict our ability to renovate our properties We cannot predict the ultimate cost of

compliance with the ADA or other legislation If we incur substantial costs to comply with the ADA and any other legislation our

cash flow financial condition and results of operations coUld be adversely affected

We may incur liability with respect to contaminated property or incur costs to comply with environmental laws which may

negatively impact our cash flow financial condition and results of operations

Under various federal state and local laws ordinances and regulations as current or former owner or operator of real property

we may be liable for costs and damages resulting from the presence or release of hazardous substances waste or petroleum

products at on in under or from such propefty including costs for investigation remediation natural resource damages or third

party liability for personal injury or property damage These laws often impose liability without regard to whether the owner or

operator knew of or was responsible for the presence or release of such materials and the liability may be joint and several In

addition the presence of contamination or the failure to remediate contamination at our properties may adversely affect our ability

to sell redevelop or lease such property or to borrow using the property as collateral Environmental laws also may create liens

on contaminated sites in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs to address such contamination Moreover if

contamination is discovered on our properties environmental laws may impose restrictions on the manner in which that property

may be used or how businesses may be operated on that property Some of our properties have been or may be impacted by

contamination arising from current or prior uses of the property or adjacent properties for commercial or industrial purposes Such

contamination may arise from spills of petroleum or hazardous substances or releases from tanks used to store such matenals We

also may be liable for the costs ofremediating contamination at off-site disposal or treatment facilities when we arrange for disposal

or treatment of hazardous substances at such facilities without regard to whether we comply with environmental laws in doihg

so The environmental site assessments described in Item Business Environmental Matters have limited scope and may

not reveal all potential environmental liabilities Further material environmentalconditios may have arisen afterthe reviewwas

completed or may arise in the future and future laws ordinances or regulations may impose additional material environmental

liability beyond what was known at the time the site assessment was conducted

In addition our properties are subject to various federal state and local environmental health and safety laws including laws

governing
the management of waste and underground and aboveground storage tanks Noncompliance with these environmental

health and safety laws could subject us or our tenants to liability These environmental liabilities could affect tenants ability to

make rental payments to us Moreover changes in laws could increase the potential costs of compliance with environmental laws

health and safety laws or increase liability for noncompliance This may result in significant unanticipated expenditures or may

otherwise materially and adversely affect our operations or those of our tenants which could in turn have material adverse effect

onus

As the owner or operator of real property we may also incur liability based on various building conditions For example buildings

and other structures on properties that we currently own or operate or those we acquire or operate in the future contain may contain

or may have contained asbestos-containing material or ACM Environmental health and safety laws require that ACM be properly

managed and maintained and may impose fines or penalties on owners operators or employers for non-compliance with those

requirements These requirements include special precautions such as removal abatement or air monitoring if ACM would be

disturbed during maintenance renovation or demolition of building potentially resulting in substantial costs In addition we

may be subject to liability for personal injury or property damage sustained as result of exposure to ACM or releases of ACM
into the environment
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We cannot assure you that costs or liabilities incurred as result of environmental issues will not have material adverse effect

on our cash flow financial condition and results of operations

Our properties may contain or develop harmful mold or suffer from other indoor air quality issues which could lead tp liability

foradverse health effects orproperty damage or costfor remediation and may adversely impact our cash flowfinancial condition

and results of operations

When excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials mold growth may occur particularly if the moisture

problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over period of time Some molds may produce airborne toxins or irritants

Indoor air quality issues can also stem from inadequate ventilation chemical contamination from indoor or outdoor sources and

other biological contaminants such as pollen viruses and baÆteria Indoor exposure to airborne toxins or irritants can be alleged

to cause variety of adverse health effects and symptoms including allergic or other reactions As result the presence ofsignificant

mold or other airborne contaminants at any of our properties could require us to undertake costly remediation program to contain

or remove the mold or other airborne contaminants or to increase ventilation In addition the presence of significant mold or other

airborne contaminants could expose us to liability from our tenants employees of our tenants or others if property damage or

personal injury occurs

We have experienced aggregate net losses available to common shareholders for the years endedllecember 31 20122011 and

2010 and we may experience future losses

We had net losses available to common shareholders of approximately $710 $72609 and $95843 for the years ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 respectively If we continue to incur significant net losses in the future or such losses increase our cash flow

financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected

We may experience decline in the fair value of our assets and be forced to recognize impairment charges which could

materially and adversely impact our financial condition results of operations andfuture cash flow

decline in the fair value of our assets may require us to recognize an impairment charge against such assets under accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States GAAP if we were to determine that with respect to any assets in unrealized

loss positions we do not have the ability and intent to hold such assets to maturity or for period of time sufficient to allow for

recovery to the amortized cost of such assets If such determination were to be made we would recognize unrealized losses

through earnings and write down the amortized cost of such assets to new cost basis based on the fair value of such assets on

the date they are considered to be unrecoverable Such impairment charges reflect non cash losses at the time of recognition

subsequent disposition or sale of such assets could further affect our cash flow and future losses or gains as they are based on the

difference between the sale price received and adjusted amortized cost of such assets at the time of sale For the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 we recognized aggregate impairment charges related to investment properties and notes

receivable of $25 842 $39 981 and $23 057 respectively including $24 519 $32331 and $12 027 respectively reflected in

discontinued operations We may be required to recognize additional asset impairment charges in the future

Our success depends on key personnel whose continued service is not guaranteed

We depend on the efforts and expertise of our senior management team to manage our day-to-day operations and strategic business

direction We do not however have employment agreements with the members of our senior management team Therefore we

cannot guarantee their continued service Moreover among other things it would constitute an event of default under the credit

agreement governing our senior unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured term loan if certain members of management

or reasonably satisfactory replacement ceased to continue to be active on daily basis in our management The loss of their

services and our inability to find suitable replacements could have an adverse effect on our operations

RISKS RELATED TO OUR DEBT FINANCING

We had $2593581 excluding mortgage discount of $1492 net of accumulated amortization of consolidated indebtedness

outstanding as of December 31 2012 which could adversely affect our financial health and operating flexibility

We have substantial amount of indebtedness As of December 31 2012 we had $2593581 excluding mortgage discount of

$1492 net of accumulated amortization of aggregate consolidated indebtedness outstanding the majority of which was secured

by one of more of our properties As result of this substantial ifidebtedness we are required to use material portion of our cash

flow to service principal and interest on our debt which limits the cash flow available to pursue desirable business opportunities

pay operating expenses and make distributions to our shareholders
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Our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences to us including

limiting our ability to borrow additional amounts for working capital debt service requirements capital expenditures

execution of our growth strategy or other purposes

limiting our ability to use operating cash flow in other areas of our business because we must dedicatea substantial portion

of these funds to service the debt

increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions including increases in interest rates

our ability to capitalize on business opportunities including the acquisition of additional properties and to react to

competitive pressures
and adverse changes in government regulation

limiting our ability or increasing the costs to refinance indebtedness including the $236194 and $188618 of our

indebtedness maturing in 2013 and 2014 respectively

limiting our ability to enter into financing and hedging transactions by reducing the number of counterparties with whom

we can enter into such transactions as well as the volume of those transactions

we may be forced to dispose of one or more properties possibly on disadvantageous terms

we may be forced to sell additional equity securities at prices that may be dilutive to existing shareholders

we may default on our obligations or violate restrictive coyenants inwhich case the lenders or mortgagees may accelerate

our debt obligations foreclose on the properties that secure their loans and/or take control of our properties that secure

their loans and collect rents and other property income

in the event of default under any of our recourse indebtedness we would be liable for any deficiency between the value

of the property securing such loan and the principal and accrued interest on the loan and

our default under any one of our mortgage loans with cross-default provisions could result in default on other

indebtedness

If any one of these events were to occur our cash flow financial condition and results of operations could be materially and

adversely affected

significant portion of the indebtedness we incur is secured an4 defaults may result in foreclosure In addition mortgages

sometimes include cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions that increase the risk that more than one property may

be affected by default

As of December 31201 2we had total of $2088581 excluding mortgage discount of$ 1492 net of accumulated amortization

of indebtedness secured by 173 of our 242 operating properties Because significant number of our properties continue to be

mortgaged to secure payments of indebtedness we are subject to the risk of property loss since defaults on indebtedness secured

by properties may result in foreclosure actions initiated by lenders and ultimately our loss of the property securing the loan for

which we are in default

As of December 31 2012 we had $26865 mortgage loan that had matured which was secured by one property with 287000

square feet of GLA representing $1455 of ABR We can provide no assurance that we will be able to restructure our current

obligations under the mortgage loan that matured or that our negotiations with the lender will result in favorable outcome to us

Failure to restructure our mortgage obligation could result in default and foreclosure actions and loss of the underlying property

In the event that we default on other mortgages in the future either as result of ceasing to make debt service payments or the

failure to meet applicable covenants we may have additional properties that are subject to potential foreclosure In addition as

result of cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions contained in certain of our mortgage loans default under one mortgage

loan could result in default on other indebtedness and cause us to lose other better performing properties which could materially

and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations

Further for tax purposes foreclosure of any nonrecourse mortgage on any of our properties would be treated as sale of the

property for purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage If the outstanding balance of

the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property we would recognize taxable income on the foreclosure

without accompanying cash proceeds circumstance which could hinder our ability to meet the REIT distribution requirements

imposed by the Code As result we may be required to identify and utilize other sources ofcash for distributions to our shareholders

of that income
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We incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings which reduces thefunds availablefor distributions required to maintain

our status as REIT and to avoid income and excise tax

We have historically incurred mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings in order to finance acquisitions or ongoing operations

and we intend to continue to do so in the future Our debt service and repayment requirements will n8t be reduced regardless of

our actual cash flows In addition in orderto maintain our qualification as REIT we must annually distribute to our shareholders

at least 90% of our REIT taxable income determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital

gains and we are generally subject to corporate tax on any retained income As result if our future cash flow is not sufficient to

meet our debt service and rupayment requirements and the REIT distribution requirements we may be required to use cash reserves

incur additional debt or liquidate assets in order to meet those requirements However we cannot provide assurancethat capital

will be available from such sources on favorable terms or at all which may negatively impact our cash flow financial condition

and results of operations

Our cash flow financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by financial and other covenants and

other provisions under the credit agreement governing our senior unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured term loan

or other debt agreements

On February 24 2012 we amended and restated our secured credit agreement to provide for senior unsecured credit facility in

the aggregate amount of $650000 consisting of $350000 senior unsecured revolving line of credit and $300000 unsecured

term loan with number of financial institutions The credit agreement govemiiig this senior unsecured revolving line of credit

and unsecured term loan requires compliance with certain financial and operating covenants including among other things

leverage ratio certain
coverage

ratios and net worth covenants covenant regarding minimum occupancy limitations on our

ability to incur unhedged variable rate debt or recourse indebtedness limitations on our investments in unimproved land

unconsolidated joint ventures construction in progress and mortgage notes receivable The credit agreement also requires us to

obtain consent prior to selling assets above certain value or increasing our total assets by more than certain amount as result

of merger In addition our senior unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured term loan limit our distributions to the greater

of 95% of funds from operations or FF0 as defined in the credit agreement which equals FF0 as set forth in Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Funds From Operations excluding gains or losses

from extraordinary items impairment charges not already excluded from FF0 and other non-cash charges or the amount necessary

for us to maintain our qualification as REIT The senior unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured term loan also contain

customary events of default including but not limited to non-payment of principal interest fees or other breaches of

covenants defaults on any of our recourse indebtedness in excess of $20000 or any non-recourse indebtedness in excess of

$100000 in the aggregate subject to certain carveouts failure of certain members of management or reasonably satisfactory

replacement to continue to be active on daily basis in our management and bankruptcy or other insolvency events These

provisions could limit our ability to make ditributions to our sharehlders obtain additional funds needed to address cash shortfalls

or pursue growth opportunities or transactions that would provide substantial returns to our shareholders In addition breach of

these covenants or other event of default would allow the lenders to accelerate payment of advances under the credit agreement

If payment is accelerated our assets may not be sufficient to repay such debt in full and as result suck an event may have

material adverse effect on our cash flow financial condition and results of operations

In addition and in connection with the debt refinancing transaction of 1W JV 2009 LLC 1W JV previously consolidated joint

venture that became wholly-owned in April 2012 that owns portfolio of investment properties we entered into lockbox and

cash management agreement pursuant to which substantially all of the income generated by the 1W JV properties is deposited

directly into lockbox account established by the lender In the event of default or the debt service coverage ratio falling below

set amount the cash management agreement provides that excess cash flow will be swept into cash management account for

the benefit of the lender and held as additional security after the payment of interest and approved property operating expenses

Cash will not be distributed to us from these accounts until the earlier of cash sweep event cure or the repayment of the mortgage

loan senior mezzanine note and junior mezzanine nOte As of December 31 2012 we were in compliance with the terms of the

cash management agreement however if an event of default were to occtir we may be forced to borrow funds in order to make

distributions to our shareholders and maintain our qualification as REIT

Given the restrictions in our debt covenants on these and other activities we may be significantly limited in our operating and

financial flexibility and may be limited in our ability to respond to changes in our business or competitive activities in the future
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Dislocations in the credit markets including the continuing effects of the severe dislocation experienced in 2008 and 2009

may adversely affect our ability to obtain debt financing at favorable rates or at alL

Dislocations in the credit markets generally or relating to the real estate industry specifically may adversely affect our ability to

obtain debt financing at favorable rates or at all The credit markets experienced severe dislocation during 2008 and 2009 which

for certain periods of time resulted in the near unavailability of debt financing for even the most creditworthy borrowers Although

the credit markets have since stabilized there are number of continuing effects including weakening of many traditional sources

of debt financing reduction in the overall amount of debt financingavailable lower loan to value ratios tightening of lender

underwriting standards and terms As result we may not be able to refinance our existing debt when it comes due or to obtain

new debt financing for acquisitions or development projects or we may be forced to accept less favorable terms including increased

collateral to secure our indebtedness andlor more restrictive covenants If we are not successful in refinancing our debt when it

becomes due we may default under our loan obligations enter into foreclosure proceedings or be forced to dispose of properties

on disadvantageous terms anyof which might adversely affect our ability to service other debt and meet our other obligations In

addition if dislocation similar to that which occurred in 2008 and 2009 occurs in the future the values of our properties may
decline further which could limit our ability to obtain future debt financing refinance existing debt or utilize existing debt

commitments and thus materially and adversely affect our finanäial condition particularly if it occurs at time when we have

significant debt matunties coming due

Future increases in interest rates may adversely affect any future refinancing of our debt may require us to sell properties and

could adversely affect our cash flow financial condition and results of operations

Increases in interest rates would result in higher interest rates on our existing unhedged variable rate debt and could adversely

affect our cash flow financial condition and results of operations Additionally if we do not have sufficient funds to repay our

debt at maturity it may benecessary to refinance the debt through additional debt or additional equity financings 1f at the time

of any refinancing prevailing interest rates or other factors result in higher interest rates on refinancings than our current interest

rates our net income could be reduced and any increases in interest expense could adversely affect our cash flow financial condition

and results of operations

Further if we are unable to refinance our debt on acceptable terms we may be forced to dispose of properties on disadvantageous

terms potentially resulting in losses To the extent we cannot meet future debt service obligations we will nsk losing some or all

of our properties that may be pledged to secure our obligations Also covenants applicable to any future debt could impair our

planned investment strategy and if violated result in default

RISKS RELATED TO OUR ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

Our board of directors may change significant corporate policies without shareholder approvaL

Our investment financing distribution and operations policies are determined by our board of directors These policies may be

amended or revised at any time and from time to time at the discretion of the board of directors without vote of our shareholders

As result the ability of our shareholders to control our policies and practices is extremely limited We could make investments

and engage in business activities that are different from and possibly riskier than the investments and businesses described in this

report In addition our board of directors may change our policies with respect to conflicts of interest provided that such changes

are consistent with applicable legal and regulatory requirements including the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange

NYSE change in these policies could have an adverse effect on our cash flow financial condition and results of operations

We could increase the number of authorized shares of stock and issue stock without shareholder approvaL

Subject to applicable legal and regulatory requirements our charter authorizes our board of directors without shareholder approval

to increase the aggregate number of authorized shares of stock or the number of authorized shares of stOck of any class or series

to authorize us to issue authorized but unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock and to classify or reclassify any

unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock and to set the preferences rights and other terms of such classified or

unclassified shares Asa result we may issue series or classes of common stock or preferred stock with preferences dividends

powers and rights voting or otherwise that are senior to or otherwise conflict with the rights of holders of our common stock

In addition our board of directors could establish series of preferred stock that could depending on the terms of such series

delay defer or prevent transaction or change of control that might involve premium price for our common stock or that our

shareholders may believe is in their best interests
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Provisions of our charter may limit the ability of third party to acqufre control of our company

Our charter provides that no person may beneficially own more than 9.8% in value or number of shares whichever is more

restrictive of our outstanding common stock or 9.8% in value of the aggregate outstanding shares of our capital stock These

ownership limitations may prevent an acquisition of control of our company by third party without our board of directors

approval even if our shareholders believe the change in control is in their best interests

Certain provisions ofMarylandlaw could inhibit changes of control in us which could lower the values of our ClassA common

stock and Series preferred stock

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law or MGCL may have the effect of inhibiting or deterring third

party from making proposal to acquire us or of impeding change of control under circumstances that otherwise could provide

the holders of shares of our common stock with the opportunity to realize premium over the then-prevailing market price of such

shares including

business combination provisions that subject to limitations prohibit certain business combinations between us and an

interested shareholder defined generally as any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our

shares or an affiliate or associate of ours who at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question was

the beneficial owner of 10% or more of our then outstanding voting shares or anaffihiate of an interested shareholder

for five years after the most recent date on which the shareholder becomes an interested shareholder and thereafter may

impose special shareholder voting requirements unless certain minimum price conditions are satisfied and

control share provisions that provide that control shares of our company defined as shares which when aggregated

with other shares controlled by the shareholdçr entitle the shareholder to exercise one of three increasing ranges of voting

power in electing directors acquired in control share acquisition defined as the direct or indirect acquisition of

ownership or control of outstanding control shares have no voting rights except to the extent approved by our

shareholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter excluding all

interested shares

We have opted out of these provisions of the MGCL in the case of the business combination provisions of the MGCL by resolution

of our board of directors and in the case of the control share provisions of the MGCL pursuant to provision in our bylaws

However following our opt out in the future only upon the approval of our shareholders our board of directors may by resolution

elect to opt in to the business combination provisions of the MGCL and we may only upon the approval of our shareholders by

amendment to our bylaws opt in to the control share provisions of the MGCL

Title Subtitle of the MGCL permits our board of directors without shareholder.approval and regardless of what is currently

provided in our charter or bylaws to implement certain takeover defenses including adopting classified board Such takeover

defenses may have the effect of inhibiting third party from making an acquisition proposal for us or of delaying deferring or

preventing change in control of us under the circumstances that otherwise could provide our common shareholders with the

opportunity to realize premium over the then current market price

In addition the provisions of our charter on removal of directors and the advance notice provisions of our bylaws could delay

defer or prevent transaction or change of control of our company that might involve premium price for holders of our common

stock or that our shareholders may believe to be in their best interests Likewise if our companys board of directors were to opt

in to the business combination provisions of the MGCL or the provisions of Title Subtitle of the MGCL or if the provision

in our bylaws opting out of the control share acquisition provisions of the MGCL were rescinded by our board of directors and

our shareholders these provisions of the MGCL could have similar anti-takeover effects

Our rights and the rights of our shareholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited which could limit

your recourse in the event of actions that you do not believe are in your best interests

Maryland law provides that director or officer has no liability in that capacity if he orhe satisfies his or her duties to us andour

shareholders As permitted by the MGCL our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and our shareholders

for money damages except for liability resulting from

actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money property or services or

final judgment based upon finding of active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that was material to

the cause of action adjudicated
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In addition our charter and bylaws and indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors and certain of our

officers require us to indemnify our directors and officers among others for actions taken by them in those capacities to the

maximum extent permitted by Maryland law As result we and our shareholders may have more limited rights against our

directors and officers than might Otherwise exist Accordingly in the event that actions taken in good faith by any of our directors

or officers impede the performance of our company your ability to recover damages from such director or officer will be limited

In addition we will be obligated to advance the defense costs incurred by our directors and our officers with indemnification

agreements and may in the discretion of our board of directors advance the defense costs incurred by our employees and other

agents in connection with legal proceedings

Our charter contains provisions that make removal of our directors difficult which could make it dfficultfor our shareholders

to effect changes to our management

Our charter provides that director may ony be removed for cause upon the affirmative vote of holders ofa majority of the votes

entitled to be cast in the election of directors Vacancies may be filled only by majority of the remaining directors in office even

if less than quorum These requirements make it more difficult to change our management by removing and replacing directors

and may prevent change in control of our company that is in the best interests of our shareholders

RISKS RELATING TO OUR REIT STATUS

Failure to qualify as REIT would cause us to be taxed as regular corporation which would substantially reduce funds

available for distributions to our shareholders and.materially and adversely affect our cash flowfinancial condition and results

of operations

We believe that we have been organized owned and operated in conformity with the requirements for qualification and taxation

as REIT under the Code beginning with our taxable year ended December 31 2003 and that our intended manner of ownership

and operation will enable us to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as REIT for U.S federal income

tax purposes However we cannot assure you that we have qualified or will qualify as such Shareholders should be aware that

qualification as REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code as to which there are only

limited judicial and administrative interpretations and involves the determination of facts and circumstances not entirely within

our control Future legislation new regulations administrative interpretations or court decisions may significantly change the tax

laws or the application of the tax laws with respect to qualification as REIT or the U.S federal income tax consequences of such

qualification

If we fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year we will face serious tax consequences that will substantially reduce the finds

available for distributions to our shareholders because

we would not be allowed deduction for dividends paid to shareholders in computing our taxable income and would be

subject to U.S federal income tax at regular corporate rates

we could be subject to the U.S federal alternative minimum tax

we could be subject to increased state and local taxes and

unless we are entitled to relief under certain U.S federal income tax laws we could not re-elect REIT status until the

fifth calendar year after the
year

in which we failed to qualify as REIT

In addition if we fail to qualify as REIT we will not be required to make distributions and it could result in default under certain

of our indebtedness agreements As result of all these factors our failure to qualify as REIT could adversely affect our cash

flow financial condition and results of operations

Even we qualify as REIT we may face other tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow

Even if we qualify for taxation as REIT we may be subject to certain U.S federal state and local taxes on our income and assets

including taxes on any undistributed income taxes on net income from certain prohibited transactions taxes on income from

certain activities conducted as result of foreclosure and state or local income franchise property and transfer taxes In addition

we could in certain circumstances be required to pay an excise or penalty tax which could be significant in amount in order to

utilize one or more relief provisions under the Code to maintain our qualification as REIT Also our consolidated TRS will be

subject to regular corporate U.S federal state and local taxes To the extent that we conduct operations outside of the United

States our operations would subject us to applicable foreign taxes as well Any of these taxes would decrease our earnings and

our cash flow
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Failure to make required distributions would subject us to JS federal corporate income ta.rc

In order to qualify as REIT we generally are required to annually distribute at least 9O/Q of our REIT taxable income determined

without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gains each year to our shareholders To the extent that

we satisfy this distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income we will be subject to U.S

federal corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income In addition we will be subject to 4% nondeductible excise

tax if the actual amount that we pay out to our shareholders for calendar year is less than the minimum amount specified under

the Code Moreover our senior unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured term loan may limit our distributions to the

minimum amount required to maintain REIT status Specifically they limit our distributions to the greater of 95% of FF0 as

defined in the credit agreement which equals FF0 as set forthin Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations Funds From Operations excluding gains or losses from extraordinary items impairment charges

other than those already excluded from FF0 and other non-cash charges or the amount necessary for us to maintain our qualification

as REIT To the extent these limits prevent us from distributing 100% of our REIT taxable income we will be subjectto income

tax and potentially excise tax on the retained amounts

We may be required to borrow funds to satisfy our REIT distribution requirements

In order to maintain our qualification as REIT and to meet the REIT distribution requirements we may need to borrow funds on

short-term basis or sell assets even if the then-prevailing market conditions are not favorable for these borrowings or sales Our

cath flow from operations may be insufficient to fund required distributions as result of differences in timing between the actual

receipt of income and the recognition of income for U.S federal income tax purposes or the effect of non-deductible expenditures

such as capital expenditures payments of compensation for which Section 162m of the Code denies deduction the creation of

reserves or required debt service or amortization payments The insufficiency ofour cash flows to cover our distribution requirements

could have an adverse impact on our ability to raise debt in order to fund distributions required to maintain our qualification as

REIT

Dividends payable by REITs generally do not qualify for reduced tax rates

Certain qualified dividends paid by corporations to individuals trusts and estates that are U.S shareholders are taxed at capital

gain rates Dividends payable by REITs however are generally taxed at ordinary income rates as opposed to the capital gains rate

The more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate dividends could cause investors who are individuals trusts and estates

to perceive investments in REITs including us to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stock ofnon-REIT corporations

that pay dividends

Complying with RElTrequirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities or to liquidate otherwise attractive

investments

To qualify as REIT we must continually satisfy tests concerning among other things the sources of our income the nature and

diversification of our assets the amounts we distribute to our shareholders and the ownership of our capital stock In order to meet

these tests we may be required to forego investments we might otherwise make and refrain from engaging in certain activities

Thus compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our performance

In addition if we fail to comply with certain asset ownership tests at the end of any calendar quarter we must correct the failure

within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT

qualification As result we may be required to liquidate otherwise attractive investments

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tqx changes that could negatively impact our financial condition

At any time the U.S federal income tax laws governing REITs or the administrative interpretations of those laws may be amended

We cannot predict if or when any new U.S federal income tax law regulation or administrative interpretation or any amendment

to any existing U.S federal income tax law Treasury regulation or administrative interpretation will be adopted promulgated or

become effective and any such law regulation or interpretation may take effect retroactively We and our shareholders could be

adversely affected by any such change in or any new U.S federal income tax law Treasury regulation or administrative

interpretation

You may be restricted from acquiring or transferring certain amounts of our stock

In order to maintain our REIT qualification among other requirements no more than 50% in value of our outstanding stock may
be owned directly or indirectly by five or fewer individuals as defined in the Code to include certain kinds of entities during the

last half of any taxable year other than the first year for which we made REIT election To assist us in qualifying as REIT our
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charter contains an aggregate stock ownership limit of 9.8% common stock ownership limit of 9.8% and preferred stock

ownership limit of 9.8% Generally any shares of our stock owned by affiliated owners will be added together for purposes
of the

aggregate stock ownership limit any shares of common stock owned by affiliated owners will be added together for purposes of

the common stock ownership limit and any shares of preferred stock owned by affiliated owners will be added together for purposes

of the preferred stock ownership limit

If anyone attempts to transfer or own shares of stock in way that would violate the aggregate
stock ownership limit the common

stock ownership limit or the preferred stock ownership limit unless such ownership limits have been waived by our board of

directors or in way that would prevent us from continuing to qualify as REIT those shares instead will be transferred to trust

for the benefit of charitable beneficiary and will be either redeemed by us or sold to person
whose ownership of the shares will

not violate the aggregate stock ownership limit the common stock ownership limit or the preferred stockbwnership limit If this

transfer to trust fails to prevent such violation or our disqualification as REIT then the initial intenjed transfer or ownership

will be null and void from the outset Anyone who acquires or owns shares of stock in violation of the aggregate
stock ownership

limit the common stock ownership limit or the preferred stock ownership limit unless such ownership limit or limits have been

waived by our board of directors or in violation of the other restrictions on transfer or ownership in our charter bears the risk of

financial loss when the shares of common or preferred stock are redeemed or sold as applicable if the market price of our

common or preferred stock falls between the date of purchase and the date of redemption or sale

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tax liabilities

The REIT provisions of the Code limit our ability to hedge our liabilities Generally income from hedging transaction we enter

into to manage risk of interest rate fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made to acquire or carry real estate assets

does not constitute gross income for purposes
of the 75% or 95% gross income tests provided we properly identify the hedge

pursuant to the applicable sections of the Code and Treasury regulations To the extent that we enter into other types of hedging

transactions the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes
of both gross income

tests As result of these rules we may need to limit our use of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges

through TRS This could increase the cost of our hedging activities because our TRS would be subject to tax on income or gains

resulting from hedges entered into by it or expose us to greater
risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would

otherwise want to bear In addition losses in our TRS will generally not provide any tax benefit except for being carried forward

for use against future taxable income in our TRS

The ability of our board of directors to revoke our REIT qualflcation without shareholder approval may cause adverse

consequences to our shareholders

Our charter provides that our board of directors may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election without the approval of our

shareholders if it determines that it is no longer in our best interest to continue to.qualify as REIT If we cease to be REIT we

will not be allowed deduction for dividends paid to shareholders in computing our taxable income and will be subject to U.S

federal income tax at regular corporate rates and state and local taxes which may have adverse consequences on our total return

to our shareholders

GENERAL INVESTMENT RISKS

The market price and trading volume of our Class common stock may be volatile

The U.S stock markets including the NYSE on which our Class common stock is listed have experienced significant price

and volume fluctuations As result the market price of shares of our Class common stock is likely to be similarly volatile and

investors in shares of our Class common stock may experience
decrease in the yalue of their shares including decreases

unrelated to our operating performance or prospects We cannot assure you that the market price of our Class common stock

will not fluctuate or decline significantly in the future

number of factors could negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our Class

common stock including

actual or anticipated changes in our quarterly operating results and changesin expectations of future financial perfonnance

our operating performance and the peilormance of other similarcompanies

our strategic decisions such as acquisitions divestments spin-offs joint ventures strategic investments or changes in

business strategy

19



equity issuances by us orthe perception that such issuances may occur

conversions of our Class common tock into shares of our Class comrno stock or sales of our common stock

adverse market reaction to any indebtedness we inºur in the future

increases in market interest rates or decrease in our distributions to shareholders that lead purchasers of our shares to

demand higher yield

general market conditions including factors unrelated to our performance

changes in market valuations of similar companies

additions or deirtures of key management personnel

publication of research reports about us or cur industryby securities analysts

speculation in the press or investment community

the passage of legislation or other regulatory developments that adversely affect us or our industry

changes in accounting principles

failure to satisi the listing requirements of the NYSE

failure to comply with the requirements of tl3e Sarbanes OxlØyAct and

failure to qualif as REIT

In the past securities-class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the price
of their common stock This type of litigation Łould result in substantial costs and divert our managements attention and resources
which could have material adverse effect on ourash flow financial condition and results of operations

Increases in market interest rates may result in decrease in the value of our common andprefrrred stock

One of the factors that may influence the price of our common and preferred stock is the dividend yield on our common and

preferred stock relative to market interest rates If market interest rates rise which are currently at low levels relative to historical

rates prospective purchasers or holders of shares of our common stock may expect higher distribution rate Higher interest rates

would not however result in more funds being available for distribution and in fact would likely increase our borrowing costs

and might decrease our funds available for distribution We therefore may not be able or we may not choose to provide higher
distribution rate an our common or preferred stock As result prospective purchasers may decide to purchase other securities

rather than our common or preferred stock which could reduce the demand for and result in decline in the market price of our

Class common stock and Series preferred stock

Future conversions of our Class common stock could adversely affect the market price of our Class common stock

As of December 31 2012 we had 48518 shares of each of OurClass B-2 and Class B-3 common stock outstanding Although our

Class common stock will not be listed on national securities exchange our Class B-2 common stock and Class B-3 common
stock will convert automatically into Class Athmmon stock on April 2013 and October 72013 respectively We cannot predict
the effect that the conversion of shares ófour Class common stock irito our Class common stock will have on the market price
of our Class common stock but these ongoing conversions may place constant downward pressure on the price of our equity
securities particularly at the time of eaCh Łonversioæ

Future offerings of debt securities which would be senior to our common andprefrrred stock or equity securities which would
dilute the interests of our existingshareholders and may be senior to our cOmmOn stock may adversely affect the market prices

of our common andpreferred stock

We have issued one series-of preferred stock in the future we-may attempt to increase oar capital resources by making additional

offerings of debt or equity securities including medium term notes.enior or subordinated notes and classes of preferred or common
stock Debt securities or shares of preferred stock will

generally be entitled to receive interest payments or distributions both

current and in connection with any liquidation oesalc priorto thholders of our common stock We -are not required to offer any
such additional debt or equity securities to existing common shareholders on preemptive basis Therefore offerings of common
stock or other equity securities may dilute the holdings of our existing shareholders Future offerings of debt or equity securities
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or the perception that such offerings may occur may reduce the market prices of our common and preferred stock ndJor the

distributions that we pay with respect to our common stock Because we may generally issue any such debt or equity securities in

the future without obtaining the consent of our shareholders Our sharehoLders will bear th risk ofur iture fferings rØdticiæ

the market prices of our common and preferred stock and diluting their proportionatJtvnership

The change of control conversion feature of our Series preferred stock may make it more djfficult for party to takt ovtr

our company or discourage party from taking over our company

UpOn the occurrence of change of control as defined in our Articles Supplenientay for our Series preferrçd stock holders

of our Series preferred stock will havethe right unless prior to the change of confr0lconversio1rdateias deflid in oir Articles

Supplementary for our Series preferred stock or in the event that we have provided notice of our election to redeei our Seiies

preferred stock to convert some or all of their Series preferred stock into shares of our common stockor equivalent value of

alternative consideration Upon such conversion the holders will be limited to maximum numbr of shares of our cotrimon

stock equal to 4.1736 subject to certain adjustments multiplied by the number of shares of Series preferred stock converted ln

addition the change of control conversion feature of our Series preferred stock may have the effect of diseburaging third piry

from making an acquisition proposal for our company or of delaying deferring or preventing certain change of control transactions

of our company under circumstances that shareholders may otherwise believe are in their best interests

Our ability to pay dividends is limited by the requirements of Maiyland law

Our ability to pay dividends on our common stock and Series preferred stock is limited by the laws of the State of Maryland

Under applicable Maryland law Maryland corporation generally may nrt lIL4ke distribution if after giving effect to the

distribution the corporation would not be able to pay its debts as the debtr become due in the usual course of business or the

corporations total assets would be less than the sum of its total liabilities plus unless the corporations charter provides otherwise

the amount that would be needed if the corporation were dissolvd at the time..of the distribution to satisfy the preferential rights

upon dissolution of shareholders whose preferential nghts are supenorto thosereceiving the distnbution Accordingly we generally

may not make distribution on our common stock or Series preferred stock if after giving effect to the distribution we would

not be able to pay our debts as they become due in the usual course of business or our total asŁfs\vould be less than the sum of

our total liabilities plus unless the terms of such class or series provide otherwise the amount.that would be needed to satisfy the

preferential rights upon dissolution of the holders of shares of any class or series oprefrred tock.then outstanding if any with

preferences senior to those of our common stock or Series preferred stock respectively

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Item Properties

The following table sets forth summary information regarding our consolidated operating portfolio at December 31 2012 GLA
and dollars other than per square foot information in thousands This information is grouped into geographic regions based on

the manner in which we have structured our asset management property management and leasing operations For additional

property details see Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation Schedule III herein

AER per

Number of of Total Occupancy of Total Occupied

Geographic Area Properties GLA GLA ABR ABR Sq Ft

North

Connecticut Indiana Massachusetts Maiyland 82 10515 32.2% 91.2% 135664 32.2% 14.15

Maine Michigan New Jersey New York Ohio

Pennsylvania Rhode Island Vermont

East

Alabama Florida Georgia Illinois Missouri 67 8568 26.2% 92.9% 103295 24.5% 12.98

North Carolina South Carolina Tennessee

Virginia

Westc

Arizona California Colorado Iowa Kansas 31 6549 20.0% 84.6% 83335 19.8% 15.04

Montana New Mexico Nevada Utah

Washington Wisconsin

South

Louisiana Oklahoma Texas 50 7039 21.6% 89.2% 98941 23.5% 15.76

Total retail operating portfolio 230 32671 100.0% 89.9% 421235 100.0% 14.34

Office 10 1898 100.0% 22845 12.04

Industrial 287 100.0% 1610 5.61

Total consolidated operating portfolio
242 34856 90.5% 445690 14.13

Percentages are only provided for our retail operating portfolio

Calculated as the percentage of economically occupied GLA as of December 31 2012 The consolidated operating portfolio was 92.9%

leased inciriding leases signed but not commenced as of December 31 2012

Excludes three single-user retail properties classified as held for sale as of December 31 2012
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The following table sets forth information regarding the 20 largest tenants in our retail operating portfolio including our pro
rata

share of unconsolidated joint ventures based on ABR as of December 31 2012 Dollars other than per square
foot information

and square feet of GLA are presented in thousands

Tenant

Best Buy Co Inc

Ahold USA Inc

The TJX Companies Inc

Bed Bath Beyond Inc

Ross Stores Inc

Rite Aid Corporation

PetSmart Inc

The Home Depot Inc

The Sports Authority Inc

SUPERVALU INC

Pier Imports Inc

Michaels Stores Inc

Publix Super Markets Inc

Edwards Theaters Inc

Dicks Sporting Goods Inc

Wal-Mart Stores Inc

Kohls Corporation

Office Depot Inc

Ascena Retail Group Inc

Staples Inc

41 1060 35% 10910

17

10

Dicks Sporting Goods Golf Galaxy

Wal-Mart Sams Club

35 425

40 703

1097

690

562

38 378

30 611

15 634

2.0%

2.1%

219 0.7%

12 518 1.7%

902 3.0%

10 849 2.8%

21 420 1.4%

57 282 0.9%

18.66

11.23

10.57

29.95

12.25

6.63

6.86

13.13

18.68

Primary DBA

Best Buy Best Buy Mobile Pacific

Sales

Giant Foods Stop Shop

HomeGoods Marshalls TJ Maxx

Bed Bath Beyond Buy Buy

Baby The Christmas Tree Shops
Cost Plus Inc

%of ABRper
Number Occupied Ocupied of Occupied
of Stores GLA GLA ABR Total ABR Sq Ft

31 1069 3.5% 14581 3.3% 13.64

11 661 22% 13033 3.0% 19.72

48 1266 4.2% 12105 2.8% 9.56

36 872 29% 11309 26% 1297

Acme Jewel-Osco Save-A-Lot
Shaws Supermarkets Shop Save

Shoppers Food Warehouse

2.% 10.29

1.4% 10399 2.4% 24.47

2.3% 9883 2.3% 14.06

3.6% 9135 2.1% 8.33

2.3% 7952 1.8% 11.52

1.9% 7705 1.8% 13.71

1.2% 705 1.6%

6859 1.6%

6703 1.5%

6558 1.5%

6348 1.5%

5984 1.4%

5826 1.3%

5513 1.3%

5268 1.2%Catherines Dress Barn Fashion

Bug Justice Lane Bryant Maurices

18 342 1.1% 4687 1.1% 13.70

487 13560 44.7% 167813 38.6% 12.38

The following table sets forth summary as of December 31 2012 of lease expirations scheduled to occur during each of the ten

calendar
years from 2013 to 2022 and thereafter assuming no exercise of renewal options or early termination rights The following

table is based on leases commenced as of December 31 2012 for our retail operating portfolio including our pro rata share of

unconsolidated joint ventures Dollars other than
per square foot information and square feet of GLA are presented in thousands

in the table

Lease Expiration Year

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

Thereafter

Month-to-month

Leased Total

Excludes month-to-month leases

%of ABRper
Lease Occupied of Total Occupied
Count GLA GLA ABR ABR Sq Ft

548 1972 6.5% 33966 7.8% 17.22

700 3884 12.8% 61417 14.1% 15.81

519 3294 10.9% 48243 11.1% 14.65

399 2751 9.1% 44434 10.2% 16.15

452 2842 9.4% 43200 9.9% 15.20

235 2004 6.6% 30169 6.9% 15.05

141 1968 6.5% 27631 6.4% 14.04

113 2120 7.0% 24752 5.7% 11.68

106 1666 5.5% 24138 5.5% 14.49

116 2180 7.2% 26991 6.2% 12.38

203 5400 17.9% 67724 15.5% 12.54

81 189 0.6% 2908 0.7% 15.39

3613 30270 100.0% 435573 100.0% 14.39
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As of December 31 2012 the weighted average lease term of leases at our office and industrial properties based on ABR was

3.4 years with no expirations prior to 2014

Item Legal Proceedings

In 2012 certain of our shareholders filed putative class action lawsuits against the Company and certain of its officers and directors

which are currently pending in the U.S District Court in the Northern District of Illinois The lawsuitsallege among other things

that the Companys directors and officers breached their fiduciary duties to the shareholders and as result unjustly enriched the

Company and the individual defendants The lawsuits further allege that the breaches of fiduciary duty led certain shareholders to

acquire additional stock and caused the shareholders to suffer loss in share value all measured in some manner by reference to

the Companys 2012 offering price when it listed its shares on the NYSE The lawsuits seek unspecified damages and other relief

Based on its initial review of the complaints the Company believes the lawsuits to be without merit and intends to defend the

actions vigorously While the resolution of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty management believes based on

currently available information that the final outcomes of these matters will not have material effect on the financial statements

of the Company

The Company is subject from time to time to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business

While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty management believes based on currently available

information that the final outcome of such matters will not have material effect on the financial statements of the Company

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PARTII

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

The following table sets forth for the year ended December 31 2012 the high and low sales prices for each quarter of our Class

common stock which began trading on the NYSE on April 2012 under the trading symbol RPAI and the quarterly dividend
distributions per share of common stock for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011

Sales Price
Dividends

High ow per Share

2012

Fourth Quarter 12.75 11.30 0.165625

Third Quarter 11.78 9.45 0.165625

Second Quarter 9.79 8.50 0165625

First Quarter n/a n/a 0.165625

2011

Fourth Quarter n1a n/a 0.162500

Third Quarter n/a n/a 0.159375

Second Quarter n/a n/a 0.156250

First Quarter n/a n/a 0.148438

As our Class common stock was not listed on national securities exchange until April 2012 the high/low sales prices
for the second quarter are forApril 2012 through June 30 2012

The 2011 third quarter distribution was declared on October 2011 to shareholders of record on that date and was paid on
October 112011

All pre-Recapitalization amounts give retroactive effect to the Recapitalization which is further described in Note ito the

consolidated financial statements

The closing share price for our Class common stockon February 15 2013 as reported on the NYSE was $13.63

We have determined that the dividends paid during 2012 and 2011 on our common stock qualify for the following tax treatment

2012 2011

Ordinary dividends 0.015821 0.121240

Nontaxable distributions 0.643554 0.483448

Total distribution per share 0.6593 75 0.604688

$0015821 included in ordinary dividends is considered qualified dividend

As of February 15 2013 there were approximately 32000 34000 and34000 record holders of our Class Class B-2 and Class
B-3 common stock respectively The number of holders does not include individuals or entities who beneficially own shares but
whose shares are held of record by broker or clearing agency

We intend to continue to qualify as REIT for U.S federal income tax purposes The Code generally requires that REIT
annually

distributes at least 90% of its REIT taxable income determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding

any net capital gain and imposes tax on any taxable income retained by REIT including capital gains

To satisfy the requirements for qualification as REIT and generally not be subject to U.S federal income and excise tax we
intend to make regular quarterly distributions of all or substantially all of our REIT taxable income to shareholders out of assets

legally available for such purposes Our future distributions will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors When determining
the amount of future distributions we expect that our board of directors will consider among other factors the amount of cash

generated from our operating activities ii our expectations of future cash flow iii our determination of near-term cash needs
for debt repayments existing or future share repurchases selective acquisitions of new properties and potential redevelopment
opportunities iv the timing of significant re-leasing activities and the establishment of additional cash reserves for anticipated
tenant improvements and general property capital improvements our ability to continue to access additional sources of capital
vi the amount required to be distributed to maintain our status as REIT and to reduce any income and excise taxes that we
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otherwise would be required to pay vii the amount required to declare and pay in cash or set aside for the payment of the

dividends on our Series preferred stock for all past dividend periods and viii any limitations on our distributions contained in

our credit or other agreements including without limitation in our senior secured revolving line of credit and secured term loan

which limit our distributions to the greater of 95% of FF0 as defined in the credit agreement which equals FF0 as set forth in

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Funds From Operations excluding

gains or losses from extraordinary items impairment charges not already excluded from FF0 and other non-cash charges or the

amount necessary for us to maintain our qualification as REIT

If our operations do not generate sufficient cash flow to allow us to satisfy the REIT distribution requirements we may be required

to fund distributions from working capital borrow funds sell assets or reduce such distributions Our distribution policy enables

us to review the alternative funding sources available to us from time to time Our actual results of operations
will be affected by

number of factors including the revenues we receive from our properties our operating expenses interest expense the ability

of our tenants to meet their obligations and unanticipated expenditures For more information regarding risk factors that could

materially adversely affect our actual results of operations please see Item 1A Risk Factors

Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities

There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during the quarter ended December 31 2012

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any of our equity securities during the quarter ended December 31 2012

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth the following information as of December 31 2012 regarding
the number of shares of our

common stock to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding options warrants and tights ii the weighted average exercise price

of such options warrants and rights and iii the number of shares of our common stock remaining available for future issuance

under our equity compensation plans
other than outstanding options warrants and rights

Number of Shares of

Number of Shares Common Stock

of Common Stock Remaining Available for

to be Issued upon Weighted Average Future Issuance under

Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation

Outstanding Outstanding Plans excluding shares

Options Warrants Options Warrants of common stock

and Rights and Rights reflected in Column

Plan Category

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Shareholders 83 19.31 4020

Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Shareholders

Includes 48 shares of our Class common stock and 35 shares of our Class common stock

Includes 66 shares of common stock remaining available under our Independent Director Stock Option Plan and 3954 shares of common

stock remaining available under our Equity Compensation Plan
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data sJuld be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes

appearing elsewhere in this annual report Previously reported selected financial data reflects certain reclassifications of revenues

and expenses to discontinued operations as result of the sales of investment properties in 2012 In addition the common stock

share and per share data give retroactive effect to the Recapitalization which is further described in Note to the consolidated

financial statements

RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMEfflC INC

As of and for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 2010 2009 and 2008

Amounts in thousands except per share amounts

218833

212539

431372

135063

15345

6437

216423

1657

74109

4375

5906

72578

31

72609

227608

451093

144474

2025

239469

3318

96288

1581

94707

1136

95843

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Net investment properties 4687091 5260788 5686473 6103782 6631506

Total assets 5237427 5941894 6386836 6928365 7606664

Total debt 2592089 3481218 3757237 4110985 4627602

Total shareholders equity 2374259 2135024 2294902 2441550 2572348

Total revenues 567023 566435 595567 608827 641293

Expenses

Depreciation and amortization 217303 223485 226006 224926

Other 207078 333218

Total 424381 558144

Operating income 142642 83149

Gain on extinguishment of debt net 3879

Equity in loss income of unconsolidated joint ventures net 6307 4939

Interest expense
179237 188400

Other non-operating income expense 24788 533829

Loss from continuing operations 14235 644019

Income loss from discontinued operations 5945 39194

Gain on sales of investment properties net 7843

Net loss 447 683213

Net income loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 514

Net loss attributable to the Company 447 683727

Preferred stock dividends 263

Net loss available to common shareholders 710 72609 95843 112335 683727

Loss earnings per common share basic and diluted

Continuing operations 0.03 0.35 0.49 3.35

Discontinued operations 0.03 0.03 0.09 0.20

Net loss per share available to common shareholders 0.38 0.58 3.55

Distributions declared 146769 120647 75040 308798

Distributions declared per common share 0.66 0.63 0.39 1.60

Cash flows provided by operating activities 167085 174607 249837 309351

Cash flows provided by used in investing activities 471829 107471 193706 178555

Cash flows used in financing activities 636854 276282 438806 126989

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

basic and diluted
192124 192577

262685

488691

120136

11299

211376

5354

97185

18224

115409

3074

112335

0.50

0.50

94579

0.49

184072

154400

321747

220464 192456 193497
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Certain statements in Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition andResults of Operations Risk Factors

Business and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning

of the safe harbor from civil liability provided for suth statements by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 set

forth in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Act and SectiOn 1E of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 as amended or the Exchange Act Forward-looking statements involve numerous risks and uncertainties and you
should not rely on them as predictions of future events Forward-looking statements depend on assumptions data or methods

which may be incorrect or imprecise and we may nch be able to realize them We do not guarantee that the transactions and events

described will happen as described or that they will happen at all You can identify fbrward-lookiiig statements by the use of

forward-looking terminology such as believes expects may should seeks dapproximately intends plans pro
forma estimates focus contemplates aimscontinues would or anticipates or the negative of these words and

phrases or similar words or phrases You can also identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategies plans or

intentions Risks uncertainties and other factors could cause actual results and future events to differ materially from those set

forth or contemplated in the forward-looking statements The following factors among others could cause actual results and future

events to differ materially from those set forth or contemplated in the forward-looking statements

general economic business and financial conditions and changes in our industry and changes in the real estate markets

in particular

adverse economic and other developments in the Dallas-Fort Worth-Arlington area where we have high concentration

of properties

general volatility of the capital and credit markets and the market price of our Class common stock

changes in our business strategy

defaults on early terminations of or non-renewal of leases by tenants

bankruptcy or insolvency of major tenant or significant number of smaller tenants

increased interest rates or operating costs

declining realestate valuations and impairment charges

availability terms and deployment ofapita1

our failure to obtain necessary outside financing

our expected leverage

decreased rental rates or increased vacancy rates

our failure to generate sufficient cash flows to service our outstanding indebtedness

difficulties in identifying properties to acquire and completing acquisitions

risks of real estate acquisitions dispositions and redevelopment including the cost of construction delays and cost

overruns

our failure to successfully operate acquired properties and operations

our projected operating results

our ability to manage our growth effectively

our ability to successfully transition certain corporate office functions from previously-related parties to third parties or

to us

estimates relating to our ability to make distributions to our shareholders in the future

impact of changes in governmental regulations tax law and rates and similarmatters

our failure to qualify as REIT
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future terrorist attacks in the U.S

environmental uncertainties and risks related to natural disasters

lack or insufficient amounts of insurance

availability of and our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel

retention of our senior management team

changes in real estate and
zoning

laws and increases in real property tax rates and

our ability to comply with the laws rules and regulations applicable to companies

For further discussion of these and other factors that could impact our future results performance or transactions see Item

Risk Factors Readers should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements which are based only on information

currently available to us or to third parties making the forward-looking statements We undertake no obligation to publicly release

any reyisions to such forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-

except as required by applicable law

The following discussion and analysis compares the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 and should be read in

conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in this report

Executive Summary

We are fully-integrated self-administered and self-managed REIT formed to own and operate high quality strategically located

shopping centers We are one of the largest owners and operators of shopping centers in the United States As of December 31

2012 our retail operating portfolio consisted of 230 properties with approximately 32671000 square
feet of GLA was

geographically diversified across 35 states and included power centers community centers neighborhood centers and lifestyle

centers as well as single-user retail properties Our retail properties are primarily located in retail districts within densely populated

areas in highly visible locations with convenient access to interstates and major thoroughfares Our retail properties have aweighted

average age based on ABR of approximately 10.5 years since the initial construction As of December 312012 our retail operating

portfolio was 89.9% occupied and 92.4% leased including leases signed but not commenced In addition to our retail operating

portfolio as of December 31 2012 we also held interests in 10 office properties two industrial properties 22 retail operating

properties held by three unconsolidatedj oint ventures three retail properties under development and three retail operating properties

classified as held for sale The following summanzes our consolidated operating portfolio as of December 31 2012

Percent Leased

Number of GLA Including Leases

Description Properties in thousands Occupancy Signed

Retail

Wholly-owned 230 32671 89.9% 92.4%

Office/Industrial

Wholly-owned 12 2185 100.0% 100.0%

Total consolidated operating portfolio 242 34856 90.5% 92.9%

Includes leases signed but not commenced

As of December 31 2012 over 90% of our shopping centers based on GLA were anchored or shadow anchored by grocer

discount department store wholesale club or retailer that sells basic household goods or clothing including Target TJX Companies

PetSmart Best Buy Bed Bath Beyond Home Depot Kohls Wal-Mart Publix and Lowes Overall we have broad and highly

diversified retail tenant base that includes approximately 1500 tenants with no one tenant representing more than 3.3% of the total

ABR generated from our retail operating properties or our retail ABR
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2012 Company Highlights

Leasing Activity

We are encouraged by the leasing activity we achieved during 2012 in our retail operating portfolio including our pro
rata share

of unconsolidated joint ventures having signed 672 new and renewal leases for approximately 3573000 square feet achieving

renewal rate of 76.6% Rental rate changes have varied by market during 2012 as certain markets are stabilizing or increasing

while other markets continue to experience decline in market rates Overall rental rates for new leases signed in 2012 appear to

be stabilizing remaining nearly flat over previous rental rates for comparable leases and rental rates on renewal leases signed in

2012 continued to improve increasing by 5.63% over prevIous rental rates for comparable renewals We expect similarmarket

activity to continue during 2013

The following table summarizes the leasing activity in our retail operatingportfolio including our pro rata share of unconsolidated

joint ventures as of December 31 2012 Leases of less than 12 months have been excluded

New
Number of GLA Contractual Prior Change Weighted Tenant

Leases Signed in Rent per Square Contractual over Prior Average Improvements

Signed thousands Foot PSF Rent PSF ABR Lease Term PSF

Comparable Renewal Leases 406 2025 17.46 16.53 5.63% 4.91 1.39

Comparable New Leases 84 438 18.51 18.54 0.16% 8.32 32.57

Non-Comparable New and

Renewal Leasesb 182 1110 14.60 n/a n/a 8.10 26.64

Total 672 3573 17.65 16.89 4.50 6.24 13.06

Total excludes the impact of Non-Comparable Leases

Includes leases signed on units that were vacant for over 12 months leases signed without fixed rental payments and leases signed where

the previous and the current lease do not have consistent lease structure

Capital Markets and Balance Sheet Activity

In 2012 we continued to focus on strengthening our balance sheet by raising capital and deleveraging through asset dispositions

and capital markets transactions Specifically we

completed public offering of 36570 shares of Class common stock resulting in gross proceeds of $292560 or

$272081 net of the underwriting discount $266454 net of the underwriting discount and offering costs and the listing

of our Class common stock on the NYSE under the symbol RPAI

completed public offering of 5400 shares of 7.00% Series cumulative redeemable preferred stock resulting in gross

proceeds of $135000 or $130747 net of the underwriting discount $130289 net of the underwriting discount and

offering costs

sold 31 operating properties including one single-user office property that was transferred to the lender in deed-in-lieu

of foreclosure transaction aggregating 4420300 square feet for total consideration of $475631 resulting in net proceeds

of $211381 and debt extinguishment of $254306

repaid $175000 net ofborrowings on our senior unsecured revolving line ofcredit obtained mortgages payable proceeds

of $319691 made mortgages and notes payable repayments of $953494 excluding principal amortization of $34989

and received forgiveness of debt of $27449 including $23570 of debt extinguishment presentedin the preceding bullet

and

liquidated our entire investments in securities portfolio resulting in gains on sales of marketable securities of $25840

We plan to continue to pursue opportunistic dispositions of non-retail properties free standing triple-net retail properties and non-

strategic multi-tenant properties to focus our portfolio on well located high quality shopping centers

Joint Ventures

On February 72012 we paid nominal amount to acquire the remaining 13.3% noncontrolling interest in the Lake Mend Crossing

joint venture increasing our ownership interest in that venture from 86.7% as of December 31 2011 to 100%
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On February 152012 we transferred our entire interest in our Britomart unconsolidatedjoint venture to ourpartner in consolidated

joint vØætüre resulting in the nôncontrolling interest holders ownership interest being fuliy redeemed Refer to Note 13 in the

accompanying footnotes to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion

On February 232012 our RioCan joint venture acquired 134900 square foot multi-tenant retail property located in Southlake

Texas from our MS Inland joint venture for purchase price of $35366 We did not recognize our proportionate share of the gain

realized by the MS Tnlandjoint venture upon disposition due to our continuing involvement in the property Aspart ofthe transaction

we made net cash contributions of $2738 to the RioCan joint venture representing our share of the acquisition price net of

customary prorations and net of mortgage proceeds We received $2723 in cash distributions from the MS Inland joint venture

representing our proportionate share of the proceeds realized upon disposition after payoff of the outstanding mortgage

On April 26 2012 we paid $55 397 representing the agreed upon repurchase pnce and accrued but unpaid preferred return to

repurchase the 23% ownership interest in 1W JV Such payment increased our ownership interest in 1W JV from 77% to 100%

During 2012 our Hampton Joint venture sold single-user retail property and multi-tenant retail property aggregating 86 700

square feet for combined sales pnce of $5450 Proceeds from the sales were used to pay down $5035 ofthejoint venture debt

Distributions

We declared quarterly distributions totaling $0 66 per share of common stock dunng 2012

Results of Operations

We believe that net operating income NOl is useful measure of our operating performance We define NOT as operating revenues

rental income tenant recovery income other property income excluding straight-line rental income amortization of lease

inducements and amortization of acquired above and below market lease intangibles less property operating expenses real estate

tax expense and property operating expense excluding straight-line ground rent expense and straight line bad debt expense Other

REITs may use different methodologies for calculating NOI and accordingly our NOT may not Ie comparable to other REITs

This measure provides an operating perspective not immediately apparent from GAAP operating income or net loss income We

use NOT to evaluate our performance on property-by-property basis because NOT allows us to evaluate the impact that factors

such as lease structure lease rates and tenant base which vary by property have on our operating results However NOT should

only be used as an alternative measure of our financial performance For reference and as an aid in understanding our computation

of NOT reconciliation of NOt to net loss income available to common shareholders as computed in accordance with GAAP

has been presented

Comparison of the years ended December 31 2012 and December 31 2011

The following table presents operating information for our same store portfolio consisting of 239 operating properties aôquired or

placed in service prior to January 2011 along with reconciliation to net operating income The number of properties in our same

store portfolio decreased to 239 as of December 31 2012 from 250 as of September 30 2012 as result of the fourth quarter sales

of eight investment properties excluding the two properties classified as held for sale as of September 30 2012 that subsequently

sold in the fourth quarter of 2012 and the three properties classified as held for sale as ofDecember3l 2012 all of which qualified

as discontinued operations The properties in Other investment properties include our development properties some of which

became operational during the periods presented two additional phases of existing properties acquired dtiring the third quarter of

2011 two operating properties that were not stabilized for both periods presented and one property that was partially sold to our

RioCan joint venture during the third quarter of 2011 which did not qualify for discontinued operations accounting treatment In

addition we have included University Square the property for which we have ceased making the monthly debt service payment

and for which we have attempted to negotiate with the lender in Other investment properties due to the uncertainty of the tuning

of transfer of ownership of this property
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809

1415

71
3784

217303

1323
6872

26878

1880

72

3879

6307
179237

3300
25840

296

41 0884

109

1611

29
3801

218833

7650
8590

20605

2538

663

15345

6437
216423

7167
277

2032

467178

918

196

42
17

1530

6327

1718

6273
658

591

11466
130

37186

3867

25563

2012 2011 Impact Percentage

439021

104711

9239

9455

1985

459

434680

103317

9776

13296

3622

319

4341

1394

537

3841
1637

140

1568

218

1.0

1.3

5.5

1.7

0.3

89 198 90 766

71622 71404

2830
4571

595 765

5176 605

392151 385603 6548 1.7

4498 7466 2968

396649 39309 3580 0.9

Revenues

Same store investment properties 239 propetties

Rental income

Tenant recovery income

Other property income

Other investment properties

Rental income

Tenant recovery income

Other property income

Expenses

Same store investment properties 239 properties

Property operating expenses

Real estate taxes

Other investment properties

Property operating expenses

Real estate taxes

Net operating income

Same store investment properties

Other investment properties _____________ _____________ _____________

Total net operating income
_____________ _____________ _____________

Other income expense

Straight-line rental income net

Amortization of acquired above and below market lease intangibles net

Amortization of lease inducements

Straight-line ground rent expense

Depreciation and amortization

Provision for impairment of investment properties

Loss on lease terminations

General and administrative expenses

Dividend income

Interest income

Gain on extinguishment of debt

Equity in loss of unconsolidatedjoint ventures net

Interest expense

Co-venture obligation expense

Recognized gain on marketable securities

Other income net
______________ ______________

1736

Total other expense ____________ ____________
56294 12.0

Loss from continuing operations 14235 74109 59874 80.8

Discontinued operations

Loss net 24 196 28 884 4688

Gain on sales of investment properties net 141 24 509 632

Income loss from discontinued operations 5945 4375 10320 25.9

Gain on sales of investment properties net 7843 5906 1937

Net lOss 447 72578 72131 99.4

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
-- 314 31

Net loss attributable to the Company 447 72609 72162 99.4

Preferred stock dividends 263 263

Net loss available to common shareholders 710 72609 71899 99.0

Total net operating income increased by $3580 or 0.9% Total rental income tenant recovery
and other property income decreased

by $140 or 0.0% and total property operating expenses and real estate taxes decreased by $3720 or 2.2% for the
year

ended

December 31 2012 as compared to December 31 2011 Same store net operating income increased by $6548 or 1.7%

Rental income Rental income increased $4341 or 1.0% on same store basis from $434680 to $439021 The same store

increase is primarily due to
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an increase of $5078 consisting of $20136 resulting from contractual rent increases and new tenant leases replacing

former tenants partially offset by decrease of$ 15058 from early terminations and natural expirations of certain tenant

leases partially offset by

decrease of $654 due to reduced rent as result of co-tenancy provisions in certain leases reduced percentage rent as

result of decreased tenant sales and increased rent abatements asa result of efforts to increase occupancy

Overall rental income increased $500 or 0.1% from $447976 to $448476 due to the increase in the same store portfblio described

above partially offset by decrease of $3841 in other investment properties which primarily consisted of decrease of $5411

related to one property partially sold to our RioCan joint venture during the third quarter of 2011 This decrease was partially offset

by an increase of $1570 from two additional phases of existing properties acquired in 2011 as well as increased occupancy at our

non-stabilized operating and development properties

Tenant recovery income Tenant
recovery income increased $1394 or 1.3% on same store basis from $103317 to.$ 104711

primarily due to adjustments to the 2011 tenant recovery income estimates asaresult of the completion of common area maintenance

and real estate tax expense reconciliations during the
year

ended December 31 2012 partially offset by decreases in tenant

recoveries resulting from decreases in recoverable property operating expenses and real estate tax expense

Total tenant recovery income decreased $243 or 0.2% from $106939 to $1 0669 primarily due to decrease in recovry income

resulting from the property partially sold to our RioCan joint venture during the third quarter of 2011 and decrease in recovery

income at University Square partially offset by increases related to our development and non-stabilized operating properties and

from two additional phases of existing properties acquired during the third quarter of 2011 and the increase in the same store

portfolio describedabove

Property operating expenses Property operating expenses decreased $1568 or 1.7% on same store basis from $90766 to

$89198 The same store decrease is primarily due to decreases in certain recoverable property operating expenses of $2543

primarily due toreduced snow removal expenses resulting from milder winter seasons.in 2012 and decrease in bad debt expense

of $520 partially offset by an increase in certain non-recoverable property operating expenses of $1495

Total property operating expenses
decreased $3333 or 3.5% from$95361 o$92028 primarily due to the decrease in the same

store portfolio described above and decreases in certain recoverable and non-recoverable property operating expenses and bad

debt
expense

in other investment properties of $1151 $44 and $5.70 respectively

Real estate taxes Real estate taxes increased $218 or 0.3% on same store basis from $71404 to $71622 This increase is

primarily due to

net increase of $1655 representing changes in prior year estimates adjusted based on actual real estate taxes paid

an $855 decrease in real estate tax refunds received partially offset by

net decrease of $1992 in current period expense primarily due to decreases in assessed values and

decrease in tax consulting fees of $300

Overall real estate taxes decreased $387 or 0.5% from $76580 to $76193 primarily due to decrease in real estate tax epense

of $1193 related to the property partially sold to our RioCan joint venture during the third quarter of 2011 partially offset by an

increase of $428 from University Square an increase of $165 from two additional phases of existing properties acquired during

the third quarter of 2011 and the increase in the same store portfolio described above

Other income expense Total other
expense

decreased $56294 or 12.0% from $467178 to $410884 primarily due to

$37186 decrease in interest expense primarily consisting of

$26870 .decrease in interest on mortgages payable and construction loans due to the repayment of mortgage debt

net increase of $4181 in mortgage premium amortization related to the repayment of cross-collateralized pool

of mortgages in 2012

decrease in amortization of loan fees of $2651

decrease in interest on our credit facility of$ 1988 due to lower interest rates following the February 2012 amendment

and restatement of the facility
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$992 decrease in interest on our derivative liabilities primarily due to the reclassification of $1445 of previously

deferred accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings in 2011 and

$733 decrease in interest on notes payable due to the repayment of $13900 mezzanine note in July 2012

The significant decrease in interest expense was primarily due to reduction in overall leverage We expect decrease

in interest expense in 2013 but smaller decrease than the 2012 decrease based on continued execution of our

strategic initiatives

$25563 increase in recognized gain on marketable
securities due to th sales of our remaining marketable securities

porifolio in 2012

$6327 decrease in provision for impairment of investment properties Based on the results of our evaluations for

impairment see Notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements we recognized impairment charges of $1323

and $7650 for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively In addition to those properties that were

impaired 10 of our properties excluding properties sold classified as held for sale or owned by an unconsolidated joint

venture had impairment indicators at December 31 2012 driven by factors such as low occupancy rate difficulty in

leasing space
and related cOst of re-leasing reduced anticipated holding periods and financially troubled tenants Thr

undiscounted future cash flows for those 10 properties exceeded their respective carrying values by weighted average

of 68% Accordingly no additional impairment charges were warranted for these properties As of December 31 2011

nine of our properties ha4 impairment indicators the undiscounted future cash flows for those properties exceeded their

respective carrying value by weighted average
of 41% partially offset by

an $11466 decrease in net gain on extinguishment of debt primarily resulting from debt forgiveness of $14438 realized

in 2011 on the payoff of three mortgage loans and $991 gain realized in 2011 on the partial sale of one property to our

RioCan joint venture cothpared to debt forgiveness of $3879 realized in 2012 on the payoff of construction loan and

$6273 increase in general and administrative expenses primarily due to costs incurred in conjunction with migrating

our information technology platform increased costs associated with being publicly-traded company and increased

legal expenses We expect general and administrative expenses in 2013 to increase but to lesser extent than in 2012

with increases relating in part to continued execution of our strategic initiatives

Discontinued operations Discontinued operations consist of amounts related to 31 properties that were sold and three properties

classified as held for sale as of and for the year ended December 31 2012 Discontinued operations also consist of 11 properties

that were sold during the year ended December 31 2011 There were no properties that qualified for held for sale accounting

treatment as of December 31 2011 We closed on the sale of 22 single-user retail properties five multi-tenant retail properties

single-user industrial property and three single-user office properties one of which was transferred to the lender in deed-in-lieu

of foreclosure transaction during the year ended December 31 2012 The 2012 dispositions aggregated 4420300 square feet for

consideration totaling $475631 extinguishment of mortgage debt of $254306 and total gains of $30141 We closed on the sale

of five single-user retail properties three single-user industrial properties and three multi-tenant retail properties during the year

ended December 312011 aggregating 2792200 square feet for net sales proceeds totaling $98088 extinguishment or repayment

of debt of $43250 and total gains of $24509

Comparison of the
years

ended December 31 2011 to December 31 2010

The table below presents operating information for our same store portfolio consisting of 239 operating properties acquired or

placed in service prior to January 2010 along with reconciliation to net operating income The properties in the sanle store

portfolio as described were owned for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 The properties in Other investment

properties include our development properties some of which became operational during the periods presented two additional

phases of existing properties acquired duriii the third quarter of 2011 one operating property that was not stabilized for both

periods presented and the properties that were partially sold to our RioCan joint venture during 2010 and 2011 none of which

qualified for discontinued operations accounting treatment In addition we have included University Square the property for

which we have ceased making the monthly debt service payment and for which we have attempted to negotiate.with the lender

in Other investment properties due to the uncertainty of the timing of transfer of ownership of this property
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2011 2010 Impact Percentage

109

1611

29
3801

218833

7650
8590

Revenues

Same store investment properties 239 properties

Rental income 434680 432605 2075 0.5

Tenantrecoveryincome 103317 104356 1039 1.0

Otherpropertyincome 9776 14143 4367 30.9

Other investment properties

Rental income 13296 26103 12807

Tenant recovery income 3622 6973 3351

Other property income 319 1029 710

Expenses

Same store investment properties 239 properties

Property operating expenses 90766 89933 833 0.9

Real estate taxes 71404 75429 4025 5.3

Other investment properties

Property operating expenses 459 6710 2115

Real estate taxes 5176 5400 224

Net operating income

Same store investment properties 385603 385742 139

Other investment properties 7466 21995 14529

Total net operating income 393069 407737 14668 3.6

Other income expense

Straight-line rental income 5259

Amortization of acquired above and below market lease intangibles net 240

Amortization of lease inducements 29
Straight-line ground rent expense

308

Insurance captive income 2996

Depreciation and amortization 4652

Provision for impairment of investment properties
3380

Loss on lease terminations 4535

Insurance captive expenses
3392

General and administrative expenses
2486

Dividend income 934

Interest income 77
Gain on extinguishment of debt 15345

Equity in loss income of unconsolidated joint ventures net 8462

Interest expense
23046

Co-venture obligation expense

Recognized gain on marketable securities net 3730

Other income expense net 6402

Total other expense
36847 7.3

Loss from continuing operations
22179 23.0

Discontinued- operations

Loss net 6659

Gain on sales of.investment properties net 703

Loss income from discontinued operations 5956 376.7

Gain on sales of investment properties net 5906

Net loss 22129 23.4

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests .1105

Net loss available to common shareholders 23234 24.2

Total net operating income decreased by $14668 or 3.6% Total rental income tenant recovery and other property income decreased

by $20199 or 3.5% and total property operating expenses and real estate taxes decreased by $5531 or 3.1% for the year ended

December 31 2011 as compared to December 31 2010 Same store net operating income decreased by $139 or 0.0%

Rental income Rental income increased $2075 or 0.5% on same store basis from $432605 to $434680 The same store

increase is primarily due to

5150

1851

4109
2996

223485

11030

13125

3392
18119

3472

740

20605

2538

663

15345

6437
216423

7167
277

2032

467178

2025

239469

7167
4007

4370
504025

74109 96288

22225
23806

1581

28884

24509

4375
5906

72578

31
72609

94707

1136
95843
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an increase of $3495 consisting of $18263 resulting from contractual rent increases and new tenant leases replacing

farmer tenants partially offset by decrese of $14768 from early terminations and natural expirations of certain tenant

leases partially offset by

decrease of $1486 due to reduced rent as result of co-tenancy provisions in certain leases reduced percentage rent

as result of decreased tenant sales and increased rent abatements as result of efforts to increase occupancy

Although same store rental income increased overall rental income decreased by $10732 or 2.3% from $458708 to $447976
due to rental income decrease of $12807 in other investment properties partially offset by the same store increase discussed

above The decrease in other investment properties primarily consisted of decrease of $14474 related toproperties partially sold

to our RioCanjoint venture during the third and fourth quarters of2O 10 and the third quarter of 2011 partially offset by an increase

of $1652 from two additional phases of existing properties acquired in 2011 as well as increased oócupancy at our non stabilized

operating and development properties

Tenant recovery and other property income Tenant recovery and other property income decreased $5406 or 4.6% on same

store basis from $118499 to $113093 primarily due to adjustments to the 2010 tenant recovery income estimates as result of

the completion of common area maintenance and real estate tax expense reconciliations during the year ended December 31 2011

and decreases in tenant recoveries resulting from decreases in recoverable property operating expenses and real estate tax expense

Total tenant
recovery

and other
property income decreased $9 467 or 5% from $126501 to $117034 pnm4rlly due to the

decrease in the same store portfolio described above and decreases in recovery income of $3671 resulting from the properties

partially sold to our RioCan joint venture during the third and fourth quarters of 2010 and the third quarter of 2011

Property operating expenses Property operating expenses increased $833 or 0.9% on same store basis from $89933 to $90766
The same store increase is primarily due to an increase in certain non-recoverable property operating expenses and bad debt expense

of $1677 and $325 respectively partially offset by decrease in certain recoverable property operating expenses of $1169

Total property operating expenses decreased $1282 or 1.3% from $96643 to $95361 primarily due to decreases in certain

recoverable and non-recoverable property operating expenses in other investment properties of $1651 and $569 respectively

partially offset by the same store increase described above and an increase in bad debt expense of $105 in Other investment

properties

Real estate taxes Real estate taxes decreased $4025 or 5.3% on same store basis from $75429 to $71404 This decrease is

primarily due to

net decrease of $2 050 representing changes in prior year estimates adjusted based on actual real estate taxes paid

net decrease of $1990 in current period expense primarily due to decreases in assessed values

decrease in tax consulting fees of $123 partially offset by

$138 decrease in real estate tax refunds received

Overall real estate taxes decreased $4249 or 5.3% from $80829 to $76580 primarily due to the decrease in the same store

portfolio described above and decrease in real estate tax expense of $2521 related to properties partially sold to our RioCan

joint venture during the third and fourth quarters of 2010 and the third quarter of 2011 partially offset by an increase of $1 592

from University Square an increase of $559 from our development and non-stabilized operating properties and an increase of

$148 from two additional phases of existing properties acquired during the third quarter of 2011

Other income expense Total other expense decreased $36847 or 7.3% from $504025 to $467178 primarily due to

$23046 decrease in interest expense primarily consisting of

$24 664 decrease in interest on mortgages payable due to the repayment of mortgage debt

net increase of $5135 in mortgage premium amortization primarily dti to the acceleration of mortgage premium

amortization in conjunction with the debt repayment on one property in the amount of $4750 in 2011

decrease in prepayment penalties and other costs associated with refinancings of $2049

an $853 decrease in interest on notes payable as result of the repayment of $50000 note payable that bore interest

at 4.80% to MS Inland in December 2010 partially offset by
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an increase in interest on our secured credit facility of $9464 due to increased borrowings used to repay 2011 mortgage

debt maturities

$15345 increase mnet gain on extinguishment of debt primarily resulting from debt forgiveness of $14438 related to

three properties
and $991 gain

realized on the partial sale of one property to our RioCan joint venture and

$6402 change in other income expense from net expense of $4370 in 2010 to net income of $2032 in 2011 as 2010

includes $4000 related to settled litigation matter and $3044 related to rate lock extension fees partially offset by

an $8462 change from equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures to equity in loss ofunconsolidatedjoint ventures

primarily as result of impairment charges of $4 128 of which our share was $3956 at our Hampton joint venture as

well is losses incurredât each of our other unconsolidated joint ventures during the year ended December 31 2011 and

$5259 decrease in straight-line rental income due to the terms of modification to and early terminations of tenant leases

within our portfolio

Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations

consist of amounts related to 31 properties 11 properties and eight properties

that were sold during the years
endedDecember 312012 2011 and 2010 respectively Discontinued operations for all periods

also consist of three properties
classified as held for sale as of December 31 2012 Refer to the discussion comparing 2012 and

2011 results for more detail on the 2012 and 2011 transactions that qualified for discontinued operations
We closed on eight

properties during the year ended December31 2010 aggregating 894 500 square feet for net sales proceeds totaling $21 024 the

extinguishment or repayment of$ 106 791 of debt and total gains of $23 806 The properties disposed of dunng 2010 included two

office buildings five single-user retail prójØfties and one medical center Included in this was an office building aggregating

382600 square feet that was transferred through deed in lieu of foreclosure to the propertys lender resulting in gain on sale

of $19841

Funds From Operations

One of our objectives is to provide cash distributions to our shareholders from cash generated from our operations Cash generated

from operations is not equivalent to our income loss from continuing operations as determined under GAAP Due to certain

unique operating characteristics of real estate companies the National Association of Real Estatc Investment Trusts or NAREIT

an industry trade group has promulgated standard known as FF0 We believe that FF0 which is non-GAAP performance

measure provides an additional and useful means to assess the operating performance of REITs As defined by NAREIT FF0

means net income loss computed in accordance with GAAP excluding gains or losses from sales of depreciable investment

properties plus depreciation and amortization and impairment charges on depreciable investment properties including amounts

from continuing and discontinued operations as well as adjustments for unconsolidated joint ventures in which the REIT holds an

interest We have adopted the NAREIT definition in our computation of FF0 Management believes that subject to the following

limitations FF0 provides basis for comparing our performance and operations
to those of other REITs

We define Operating FF0 as FF0 excluding the impact to earnings from the early extinguishment of debt and other items as

denoted within the calculation that we do not believe are representative of the operating results of our core business platform We

consider Operating FF0 meaningful additional measure of Operating perforthance primarily because it excludes the effects of

transactions and other events which we do not consider representative of the operating results of our core business platform Neither

FF0 nor Operating FF0 represent
alternatives to Net Income as an indicator of our performance and Cash Flows from Operating

Activities as determined by GAAP as measure of our capacity to fund cash needs including the payment of dividends Further

comparison of our presentation
of Operating FF0 to similarly titled measures for other REITs may not necessarily be meaningful

due to possible differences in definition and application by such REITs
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FF0 and Operating FF0 are calculated as follows

Net loss available to common shareholders

Depreciation and amortization

Provision fr impairment of investment properties

Gain on sales of investment properties

Noncontrolling interests share of depreciation related to

consolidated joint ventures

FF0

Liquidity and Capital Resources

SOURCES

Cash and cash equivalents

Operating cash flow

Available borrowings under our existing revolving

line of credit

Asset sales

Joint venture equity from institutional partners

Proceeds from capital markets transactions

Secured loans collateralized by individual properties

2012 2011 2010

710 72609 95843
247108 255182 267500

27369 43 23057

37984 30415 24465

990 1859

235783 195105 16g390

Impact on earnings from the early extinguishment of debt net 10860 20813 4564
Excise tax accrual 4594

Recognized gain on marketable securities 25840 277 4007
Other 1627 453 4192

Operating FF0 202 050 173 562 173 139

Depreciation and amortization related to investment properties for purposes of calculating FF0 includes portion of loss on lease
terminations encompassing the write off of tenant related assets including tenant improvements and in place lease values as
result of early lease terminations Total loss on lease terminations included in depreciation and amortization above for the years
ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 were $6321 $9 704 and $15523 respectively

We anticipate that cash flow from the below-listed sources will provide adequate capital for the next 12 months and beyond for

all scheduled principal and interest payments on our outstanding indebtedness including maturing debt current and ànticipited
tenant improvement or other capital obligations the shareholder distribution required to maintain our REIT status and compliance
with financial covenants of our credit agreement

The pnmary expected sources and uses of our consolidated cash and cash equivalents are as follows

One of our main areas of focus over the last several
years has been on strengthening our balance sheet and addressing debt matunties

We have pursued this goal through combination of the refinancing or repayment of maturing debt reduction in our distribution

rate to shareholders as compared to few years ago the suspension and subsequent termination of our share repurchase program
total or partial dispositions of assets through sales or contributions to joint ventures the completion of public offering and listing
of our Class common stock on the NYSE and completion of public offering of our Series Apreferred stock As of December 31
2012 we had $236194 of debt scheduled to mature through the end of 2013 substantially all of which we plan on satisfying by
using combination of proceeds from our unsecured credit facility and through asset sales and other capital markets transactions
In limited circumstances for non-recourse mortgage indebtedness we may seek to negotiate discounted payoff amount or satisfy
our obligation by delivering the property to the lender

USES

Short-Term

Tenant improvement allowances and leasing costs

Improvements made to individual properties that are not

recoverable through common area maintenance charges to tenants

Debt repayment requirements

Distribution payments

Long-Term

Acquisitions

New development

Major redevelopment renovation or expansion
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The table below summarizes our consolidated indebtedness at December 31 2012

Aggregate Principal Weighted
Amount at Average Weighted Average

December 31 2012 Interest Rate Years to Maturity

1591675 5.79% 5.1 years

486487 7.50% 6.9 years

85000 12.24% 6.9 years

40000 14.00% 6.9 years

2203162 6.56% 5.6 years

10419 2.50% 1.8 years

2213581 654% 56years

1492

2212089 6.54% 5.6 years

300000 2.79% 3.2 years

80000 2.50% 2.2 years

380000 2.73% 2.9 years

Total consolidated indebtedness net 2592089 5.98% 5.2 years

On February 2013 we repaid the entire balance of the 1W JV senior and junior mezzanine notes and incurred 5%

prepayment fee

Mortgages Payable and Construction Loans

Mortgages payable outstanding as of December 31 2012 including construction loan and 1W JV mortgages payable which are

discussed further below and excluding mortgage discount of $1492 net of accumulated amortization were $2088581 and had

weighted average interest rate of 6.17% Of this amount $2078162 had fixed rates ranging from 3.50% to 8.00% 9.78% for

our matured mortgage payable and weighted average
fixed rate of 6.19% at December 31 2012 The remaining $10419 of

mortgages payable represented variable rate construction loan with an interest rate of 2.50% based on London Interbank Offered

Rate LIBOR at December 31 2012 Properties with net carrying value of $3242425 at December 312012 and related tenant

leases are pledged as collateral for the mortgage loans and consolidated joint venture property with net carrying value of $26097

at December 31 2012 and related tenant leases are pledged as collateral for the cOnstruction loan Generally other than 1W JV

mortgages payable our mortgages payable are secured by individual properties or small groups of properties As of December 31

2012 our outstanding mortgage indebtedness had weighted average years to matunty of years

During the year ended December 31 2012 we obtained mortgages payable proceeds of $319691 of which $318186 represents

mortgages payable originated on 11 properties and $1505 relates to draws on construction loans made mortgages payable

repayments of $939594 excluding principal amortization of $34989 and received debt forgiveness of $27449 The mortgages

payable originated during the year ended December 31 2012 have fixed interest rates ranging from 3.50% tO 5.25% weighted

average interest rate of 4.48% and weighted average years to maturity at origination of 9.7 years The fixed or variable interest

rates of the loans repaid during the year ended December 31 2012 ranged from 2.50% to 7.50% and had weighted average

interest rate of 5.54%

IWJV2009 Mortgages Payable and Mezzanine Notes

On November 29 2009 we transferred portfolio of 55 investment properties and the entities which owned them into 1W JV

which at the time was newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary Subsequently in connection with $625000 debt refinancing

transaction which consisted of $500000 of mortgages payable and $125000 of notes payable on December 2009 we raised

additional capital of $50000 in exchange for 23% noncontrolling interest in 1W JV 1W JV which was controlled by us and

therefore consolidated is managed and operated by us Pursuant to the terms and conditions ofthe 1W JV organizational documents

on April 26 2012 we paid $55397 representing the agreed upon repurchase price and accrued butunpaid preferred return to

repurchase the remaining 23% interest in 1W Jvç resulting in us owning 100% of 1W JV The mortgages and notes payable were

scheduled to mature on December 12019 however on February 12013 we repaid the entire balance of the 1W JV notes payable

and incurred 5% prepayment fee

Debt

Fixed rate

Mortgages payable

1W JV mortgages payable

1W JV senior mezzanine note

1W JV junior mezzanine note

Variable rate

Construction loan

Total mortgages and notes payable

Discount net of accumulated amortization

Total mortgages and notes payable net

Unsecured credit
facility

Fixed rate term loan

Variable rate revolving line of credit
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Mezzanine Note and Margin Payable

During the year ended December 31 2010 we borrowed $13900 from third party in the form of mezzanine note and used the

proceeds as partial paydown of the mortgage payable.as required by the lender The mezzanine note bore interest at 11.00% and

was scheduled to mature on December 16 2013 On July 2012 we repaid the entire balance of this mezzanine note

In past years we purchased portion of our securities through margin account As of December 312012 and 2011 we recorded

payable of none and $7541 respectively for securities purchased on margin During the year ended December 31 2012 we did

not borrow on our margin account and paid down $7541

Credit Facility

As of December 31 2011 we had secured credit facility pursuant to an agreement with KeyBank National Association and other

financial institutions The secured credit facility was in theaggregate amount of $585000 consisting of $435000 senior secured

revolving line of credit and $150000 secured term loan that had maturity date of February 2013 As of December 31 2011

we had $555000 outstanding under the secured credit facility

On February 24 2012 we amended and restated our existing credit agreement to provide for senior unsecured credit facility in

the aggregate amount of $650000 consisting of $350000 senior unsecured revolving line of credit and $300000 unsecured

term loan from number of financial institutions The senior unsecured credit facility also contains an accordion feature that allows

us to increase the availability thereunder to up to $850000 in certain circumstances Upon closing we borrowed the full amount

of the term loan and as of December 31 2012 we had total of $80000 outstanding under the senior unsecured revolving line of

credit As of December 31 2012 management believes we were in compliance with all covenants and default provisions under

the credit agreement and our current business plan which is based on our expectations of operating performance indicates that

we will be able to operate in compliance with these covenants and provisions for the next twelve months and beyond

Availability The aggregate availability under the senior unsecured revolving line of credit shall at no time exceed the lesser of

60% of the implied value of the unencumbered pooi assets determined by applying 7.5% capitalization rate to adjusted net

operating income for those properties and the amount that would result in debt service coverage ratio for the unencumbered

pool assets of not less than 1.5 Ox less the outstanding balance of the unsecured term loan As of December 3.1 2012 we had full

availability under the senior unsecured revolving line of credit of which we had borrowed $80000 leaving $270000 available

Maturity and Interest The senior unsecured revolving line of credit matures on February 24 2015 and the unsecured term loan

matures on February 24 2016 We have one-year extension option on both the unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured

term loan which we may exercise as long as there is no existing default we are in compliance with all covenants and we pay an

extension fee equal to 0.25% of the commitment amount being extended The senior unsecured revolving line ofcredit and unsecured

term loan bear interest at rate equal to LIBOR plus margin of between 1.75% and 2.50% or the alternate base rate plus amargin

of between 0.75% and 1.50% both based on our leverage ratio as calculated under the credit agreement In the event that we

become investment grade rated by two of the three major rating agencies Fitch Moodys and Standard Poors the pricing on

our credit facility will be determined based on an investment grade pricing matrix with the interest rate equal to LIBOR plus

margin of between 1.15% and 1.95% or the alternate base rate plus margin of between 0.15% and 0.95% in each case depending

on our credit rating If we are unable to elect to have amounts outstanding under the credit facility bear interest at rates determined

by reference to LIBORplus the margins describedabove interest rates under certain circumstances may be based on an alternate

base rate as defined in the credit agreement plus an applicable margin which could result in higher effective interest rates than

the LIBOR-based rates described above in July 2012 we entered into an interest rate swap transaction to convert the variable rate

portion of $300000 of LIBOR-based debt to fixed rate through February 242016 the maturity date of our unsecured term loan

The swap effectively converts one-month floating rate LIBOR to fixed rate of 0.53 875% over the term of the swap As of

December 31 2012 the weighted average interest rate under the senior unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured term loan

was 2.73%

Recourse The senior unsecured revolving line ofcreditand unsecured term loan are our direct recourse obligation Our obligations

under the credit facility are guaranteed by certain of our.subsidiaries

Financial Covenants The senior unsecured revolving line of credit and utisecured term loan include among others the following

financial covenants i.maxirnum leverage ratio not to exceed 60% which ratio may be increased once to 62.5% for two consecutive

quarters if
necessary ii minimum fixed charge coverage ratio ofnot less than .45x which ratio will be increased to .50x

beginning on the date of the issuance of our financial statements for the quaiter ending December 31 2012 iii consolidated net

worth of not less than $2000000 plus 75% of the net proceeds of any future equity contributions or sales of treasury stock received

by us iv maximum secured indebtedness not to exceed 52.5% of our total asset value which percentage will be decreased to
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50% on the date of issuance of our financial statements for the quarter ending March 31 2013 and further reduced to 45% on the

date ofissuance of our financial statements for the quarter ending March 31 2014 unhedged variable.rate debt of not more

than 20% of our total asset value vi maximum dividend payout ratio of the greater of 95% of FF0 as defined in the credit

agreement which equals FF0 as set forth in Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations Funds from Operations excluding gainsor losses from extraordinary items impairment charges other than those

already excluded from FF0 and other non-cash charges or an amount necessary to maintain our REIT status and vii secured

recourse indebtedness arid guarantee obligations associated with seured financing may not exceed $100000 As of December 31

2012 our leverage ratio and fixed charge coverage ratio calculated in accordance with the terms cfthe senior unsecured revolving

line of credit and unsecured term loan under our credit agreement were 47.14% and 1.87x i-espectively These ratios are presented

solely for the
purpose

of demonstrating contractual covenant compliance and should not beviewed as measures of our historical

or future financial performance financial position or cash flow

Other Covenants and Events ofDefult The senior unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured term loan limit the percentage

of our total asset value that may be invested in unimproved land unconsolidated jointventures construction in progress mortgage

notes receivable and marketable securities and require that we obtain consent for any sale of assets in any fiscal quarter with

value greater than 10% of our total asset value or merger in which we are not the surviving entity or other merger resulting in an

increase to our total asset value by more than 25% and contain other customary covenants The senior unsecured revolving line

of credit and unsecured term loan also contain customary events of default including but not limited to non-payment of principal

interest fees or other amounts breaches of covenants defarilts any recourse indebtedness in excesS of $20000 or any non

recourse indebtedness in excess of $100000 in the aggregate subject to certain carveouts including $26865 of non-recourse

indebtedness that was in default as of December 312012 failure of certain members of management or reasonably satisfactory

replacement to continue to be active on daily basis in ourmaflagement and bankruptcy or other insolvency events

Debt Maturities

The following table shows the scheduled maturities and required principal payments of our mortgages payable notes payable and

unsecured credit facility as of December 31 2012 for each of the next five
years

and thereafter and does not reflect the impact of

any 2013 debt activity

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total Fair Value

Maturing debt

Fixed rate debt

Mortgages payableb

Notes payable

Unsecured credit facility term loan
____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ _____________ _____________ _____________

Total fixed rate debt

Variable rate debt

Mortgages payable

Unsecured credit facility line of credit

Total variable rate debt
____________ ____________

Total maturing debt
__________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________ ___________

Weighted average interest rate on debt

Fixed rate debt 5.76% 7.19% 5.81% 3.18% 5.73% 7.22% 6.11%

Variable rate debt 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Total 5.76% 6.93% 5.31% 3.18% 5.73% 7.22% 5.98%

The debt maturity table does not include mortgage discount of $1 492 net of accumulated amortization which was outstanding as of

December3l20l2

Includes $76055 of variable rate mortgage debt that was swapped to fixed rate

On February 2013 we repaid the entire balance of the 1W JV senior and junior mezzanine notes and incurred 5% prepayment fee

In July 2012 we entered into an interest rate swap transaction to convert the variable rate portion of $300 000 of LIBOR based debt to

fixed rate through February 24 2016 the maturity date of our unsecured term loan The swap effectively converts one month floating rate

L1BOR to fixed rate of 53875% over the term of the swap

As of December 31 2012 the weighted average years to maturity of consolidated indebtedness was 5.2 years

236194 $178199 452355

300000

236194 178199 452355 338239 286060 1012115

38239 286060 887115 $2078162 2258431

125000 125000 133033

___________
300000 302299

2503162 2693763

10419

80000

10419 80000

$236194 188618 $532355 $338239 $286060 $1012115

10419 10419

80000 80424

___________ ____________
90419 90843

___________
$2593581 2784606
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The maturity table excludes accelerated principal payments that may be required as result of covenants or conditions included

in certain loan agreements due to the uncertainty in the timing and amount of these payments As of December31 2012 we were

making accelerated principal payments on one mortgage payable with an outstanding principal balance of $59906 which is

reflected in the
year corresponding to thoan maturity date The mortgage payable is scheduled to mature on December 2034

however if we are not able to cure this arrangement this mortgage payable will be fuliy amortized and repaid on December

2019 During the year ended December31 2012 we made accelerated principal payments of $7291 with respect to this mortgage

payable $26865 mortgage payable that had matured in 2010 and which remains outstanding as of December .31 2012 is

included in the 2013 column In thesecond quarter of 2010 we ceased making the monthly debt service payment on this matured

mortgage payable the non-payment of which amounts to $2627 annually and does not result in noncompliance under any of our

other mortgages payable or credit agreements We have attempted to negotiate and have made offers to the lender to determine an

appropriate course of action under the non-recourse loan agreement however no assurance can be provided that negotiations will

result in favorable outcome As of December 31 2012 we had accrued $7396 of interest related to this matured mortgage

payable We plan on addressing our mortgages payable maturities by using proceeds from our unsecured credit facility and through

asset sales and other capital markets transactions

Distributions and Equity Transactions

Our distributions ofcurrentand accumulated earnings and profits for U.S federal income tax purposes are taxable to shareholders

as ordinary income Distributions in excess of these earnings and profits generally are treated as non-taxable reduction of the

shareholders basis in the shares to the extent thereof non-dividend distributions and thereafter as taxablegain We intend to

continue to qualify as REIT for U.S federal income tax purposes The Code generally requires that REIT distribute annually

at least 90% of its RUT taxable income determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding any net

capital gain in order to qualify as REIT and the Code generally taxes REIT on any retained income

To satisfy the requirements for qualification as REIT and generally not be subject to U.S federal income and excise tax we

intend to make regular quarterly distributions of all or substantially all of our REIT taxable income to holders of our common

stock out of assets legally available for such purposes Our future distributions will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors

When determining the amount of future distributions we expect that our board of directors will consider among other factors

the amount of cash generated from our operating activities ii our expectations of future cash flow iiiour determination of

near-term cash needs for debt repayments existing or future share repurchases and selective acquisitions of new properties iv the

timing of significant re-leasing activities and the establishment of additional cash reserves for anticipated tenant improvements

and general property capital improvements our ability to continue to access additional sources of capital vi the amount

required to be distributed to maintain our status as REIT and to reduce any income and excise taxes that we otherwise would be

required to pay vii the amount required to declare and pay in cash or set aside for the payment of the dividends on our Series

preferred stock for all past dividend periods and viii any limitations on our distributions contained in our credit or other

agreements including without limitation in our senior unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured term loan which limit

our distributions to the greater of 95% of FF0 as defined in the credit agreement which equals FF0 as set forth in Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Funds From Operations excluding gains or losses

from extraordinary items impairment charges not already excluded from FF0 and other non-cash charges or the amount necessary

for us to maintain our qualification as REIT Under certain circumstances we may be required to make distributions in excess

of cash available for distribution in order to meet the REIT distribution requirements

Prior to our Listing we maintained distribution reinvestment program DRP which allowed our shareholders who had purchased

shares in our previous offerings to automatically reinvest distributions by purchasing additional shares from us During the
year

ended December 31 2012 we received $11626 in investor proceeds through our DRP all of which were received in the first

quarterof2ol2

OnApril 52012 we completed public offering of36570 shares ofClass Acommon stock resulting in
gross proceeds of$292560

or $272081 net of the underwriting discount $266454 net of the underwriting discount and offering costs and the listing of

our Class common stock on the NYSE under the symbol RPAI Upon listing our DRP and share repurchase program SRP
were terminated

In November 2012 we filed universal shelf registration statement which is effective for the next three years On December 20

2012 we completed public offering of 5400 shares of Series preferred stock resulting in gross proceeds of $135000 or

$130747 net of the underwriting discount $130289 net of the underwriting discount and offering costs We temporarily used

the net proceeds from the preferred offering to repay outstanding borrowings on our senior unsecured revolving line of credit On

February 2013 we drew on our senior unsecured revolving line of credit to repay the 1W JV senior and junior mezzanine notes

which required 5% prepayment fee We will continue to closely monitor both the debt and equity markets and carefully consider

our available financing alternatives including both public offerings and private placements
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Capital Expenditures and Development Activity

We anticipate that capital demands to meet obligations related to capital improvements with respect to properties can be met with

cash flows from operations and working capital

The following table provides summary information regarding our properties under development as ofDecember 2012 including

one consolidated joint venture two wholly-owned properties and portion of one wholly-owned operating property As of

December 312012 we did not have any significant active construction ongoing at these properties and currently we oniy intend

to develop the remaining potential GLA to the extent that we have pre-leased the space to be developed As of December 31 2012

the ABR from the portion of our development properties with respect to which construction has been completed was $1452

Construction

Our Carrying Value Loan Balance at

Ownership at December31 December 31

Location Property Name Percentage 2012 2012

Henderson Nevada Green Valley Crossing
50.0% 3154 10419

Billings Montana South Billings Center 100 0% 627

Nashville Tennessee Bellevue Mall 100 0% 23 393

Henderson Nevada Lake Mead Crossing
100 0% 17 322

49496 10419

Total excludes $25 998 of costs placed in service $929 of which was placed in service during the year ended December 31 2012

Asset Dispositions and Operating Joint Venture Activity

Over the past three years our asset sales and partial sales of assets to operating joint ventures were an integral factor in our

deleveraging and recapitalization efforts The following table highlights the results of our asset dispositions including partial sales

durrng 2012 2011 and 2010

Number of Total Debt Net Sales

Assets Sold GLA Consideration Extinguished Proceeds

2ol2Dispositions 31 4420300 475631 254306 211381

2011 Partial Sales 654200 110799 60000 39935

2011 Dispositions
11 2792200 144342 43250 98088

2010 Partial Sales 1146200 159918 97888 48616

2010 Dispositions
894500 135905 106791 21024

In addition to the above we received net proceeds of $11 203 $14675 and none for condemnation awards earnouts and the sale

of parcels at certain of our properties during the years
ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Asset Acquisitions

During the year
ended December 312012 we paid $2806 to an unaffiliated third party to acquire fully occupied 45 square

foot building located at our Hickory Ridge multi-tenant retail property
that was subject to ground lease with us prior to the

transaction

During the year
ended December 31 2011 we acquired additional phases of two of our existing multi-tenant retail operating

properties The following table highlights our asset acquisitions during the year ended December 31 2011

Number of Square
Combined

Assets Acquired Footage Purchase Price Debt

2011 Acquisitions
120100 16805

Both properties acquired were additional phases of existing multi-tenant retail operating properties As result the total

number of properties in our portfolio was not affected

No debt was assumed in either acquisition but both properties were subsequently added as collateral to the credit facility

which has since been amended and restated

We did not acquire any properties during the year ended December 31 2010
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Statement of Cash Flows Comparison for the Years Ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities were $167085 $174607 and $184072 for the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 20i0 respectively which consist primarily of net income from property operations adjusted .for non-cash charges for

depreciation and amortization provision for impairment of investment properties sales of investment properties and marketable
securities and gain on extinguishment debt Companng 2012 to 2011 the $7 522 decrease in operating cash flows is partially

attributable to adecrease in total NOl of $8171 of which an increaseof $3580 was generated from continuing operations and
decrease of $11751 was generated fromdiscontinued operations In addition the decrease in operating cash flows is due to an
increase in payments of leasing fees of $32346 partially offset by decrease of $22763 in cash paid for interest and timing of

payments for property operating expenses

Cash Flowfrom Investing Activities

Cash flows provided by investing activities were 47 829 $107 471 and $154 400 respectively for the years ended December 31
2012 2011 and 2010 Dunng the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 we sold certain properties and received
condemnation and earnout proceeds which resulted in sales proceeds of $453 320 $195 948 and $144675 respectively and we
received proceeds from the sales of marketable securities of $35133 $359 and $8629 respectively Additionally during the year
ended December 31 2010 we received return of escrowed funds from an unconsolidated joint venture of $65240 During the

years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 $40772 $32509 and $34547 respectively were used for capital expenditures
andtenant improvethents $13821 $50030 and $3589 respectively were invested in our unconsolidated joint ventures $2806
$16555 and $651 respectively were used for acquisitions of leasehold interest acquisitions of additional phases of existing
properties and earnouts of existing properties and $565 $3288 and $3219 respectively were used for existing development
projects Amounts.retu ned from used fund restricted escrow accounis some of which are required under certain mortgage
arra.gements were $23916 $673 and $22967 respectively and distributions of investments in unconsolidated joint ventures
were $17403 $12563 and none respectively The 2011 increase in funds invested in our unconsolidated joint ventures is primarily
attributable to our pro rata contributions related to acquisitions made in 2011 by our RioCan joint venture

We will coatinue to execute our strategy to dispose of select non-retail properties and free standing triple net retail and non

strategic multi-tenant properties on an opportunistic basis however it is uncertain given current market conditions when and
whether we will be successful in disposing of these assets and whether such sales could recover our original cost Additionally
tenant improvement costs associated with re leasing vacant space could continue to be significant

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash flows used in
financing activitieswere $636854 $276282 and $321747 respectively for the years ended December 31

20122011 and 2010 We used $900274 $198155 and $280668 respectively in cash flow related to the net activity fromprincipal

payments on
mortgaes

and notes payable the payment of loan fees and deposits net repayment of other financings settlement
of the co-venture obligation and net proceeds from our credit facility We paid $128391 $7 1754 and $50654 respectively in

distributions net of distributions reinvested through the DRP to our shareholders for the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 2010 In 2012 we received $272081 in proceeds net of the underwriting discount from the issuance of our Class common
stock and paid$ 1253 to shareholders holding fractional shares in connection with that issuance We also received $130747 in

proceeds net of the underwriting discount from the issuance of preferred stock in 2012 During the
years ended December 31

20122011 and 2010 we also used generated $754 $2476 and $10017 respectively through the net repayment borrowing
of margin debt

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

Effective April 27 2007 we formed joint venture MS Inland with large state pension fund As of December 31 2012 the

joint venture had origiially acquired seven properties which we contributed for approximately $336 000 and had assumed from
us mortgages on these properties totaling approximately $188000 at the time Of acquisition On February 23 2012 the joint

venture sold one multi-tenant retail property to our RioCan joint venture for $35366 Proceeds from the sale were used to pay off
the outstanding mortgage principal balance of $20625

On May 20 2010 we entered into definitive
agreements to form joint venture RioCan with wholly-owned subsidiary of

RioCan Real Estate Investment Trust As of December 3l2012our RioCan joint venture had acquired nine multi-tenant retail

properties from us for aggregate consideration of $286065 including earnout proceeds and had assumed from us mortgages
payable on these properties totaling approximately $157888 Separately as of December 31 2012 our RioCan joint venture had
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acquired five additional multi-tenant properties from other parties one of which was acquired from our MS Inland joint venture

on February 23 2012 as previously discussed

In addition as of December 31 2012 we held investments in two other unconsolidated joint ventures that are further discussed

in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements

The table below summanzes the outstanding debt of our unconsolidated joint ventures as of December 31 2012 none of which

has been guaranteed by us

Aggregate Weighted Years to Maturity/

Ownership Principal Average Weighted Average
Joint Venture Interest Amount Interest Rate Years to Maturity

RioCan 200% 312 895 17%
years

MS Inland 20 0% 143 450 79% years

Hampton Retail Colorado 95.9% 12796 6.15% 1.7 years

Aggregate principal amount excludes mortgage premium of $943 and discount of $994 net of accumulated amortization As

of December 31 2012 our RioCan joint venture has two mortgages payable that are maturing in 2013 with an aggregate

principal balance of$35336 and aweighted average interestrate of5.76% Thejointventure plans on addressingthese maturities

by refinancing these mortgages with secured debt

As of December 31 2012 our MS Inland joint venture has no mortgages payable that are maturing in 2013

Aggregate principal amount excludes mortgage premium of $2033 net of accumulated amortization The weighted average
interest rate increases to 6.90% on September 2013

Other than described above we have no off-balance-sheet arrangements as of December 31 2012 that are reasonably likely to

have .a current or future material effect on our financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Contractual Obligations

The table below presents our obligations and commitments to make future payments under debt obligations and lease agreements

as of December 31 2012 and does not reflect the impact of any debt activity that occurred after December 31 2012

Payment due by period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than

year years years years Total

Long-term debt

Fixed rate 236194 630554 .$. .624299 1012115 2503162
Variable rate 90419 90419

Interest 148487 258583 171862 229558 808490

Operating lease obligations 6624 14424 14477 545402 580927

3913O5 993980 810638 1787075 3982998

The Contractual Obligations table does not include mortgage discount of $1492 net of accumulated amortization which was

outstanding as of December 31 2012 The table also excludes accelerated principal payments that may be reqiired as result of

covenants or conditions included in certain loan agreements due to the uncertainty in the timing and amount of these payments As

of December 31 2012 we were making accelerated principal payments on one mortgage payable with an outstanding principal

balance of $59 906 The mortgage payable is scheduled to mature on December 2034 however if we are not able to cure this

arrangement it will be fully amortized and repaid on December 2019 Dunng the year ended December 31 2012 we made
accelerated principal payments of $7 291 with respect to this mortgage payable Interest payments related to the variable rate debt

were calculated using the corresponding interest rates as of December 31 2012

.The remaining borrowings outstanding through December 31 2013 include principal amortization and maturities of mortgages

payable This includes eight mortgage loans that mature in 2013 The $26865 mortgage payable that had matured as of December 31
2012 is also included in the remaining borrowings outstanding We plan on addressing our 2013 mortgages payable maturities by

using proceeds from our unsecured credit facility and through asset sales and other capital markets transactions

Included in the fixed rate and variable rate debt is $300000 and $80000 respectively of borrowings under our unsecured credit

facility due in 2016 and 2015 respectively each with one-year extension option that we may exercise as long as there is no existing

default we are in compliance with all covenants and we pay an extension fee

45



We lease land under non-cancellable leases at certain oftheproperties expiring in various years from 2023 to 2105 The property

attached to the land will revert back to the lessor at the end of the lease We lease office space under non-cancellable leases expiring

in various years from 2013 to 2023

Contracts and Commitments

For the year ended December 31 2012 we self-funded group medical benefits plan for our employees As of December 31

2012 we had recorded liability of $399 representing
claims incurred but not paid and estimated claims incurred but not reported

Effective January 2013 we established group medical benefits plan for our employees through third party provider

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions These

estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities

at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses duringthe reporting periods

For example significant estimates and assumptions have been made with respect to useful lives of assets capitalization of

development and leasing costs fair value measurements provision for impairment including estimates of holding periods

capitalization rates and discount rates where applicable provision for incometaxes recoverable amounts ofreceivables deferred

taxes and initial valuations and related amortization periods of deferred costs and intangibles particularly with respect to property

acquisitions Actual results could differ from those estimates

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The following disclosure pertains to accounting policies and estimates we believe are most critical to the portrayal of our financial

condition and results of operations which require our most difficult subjective or complex judgments These.judgments often

result from the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain GAAP requires information in

financial statements about accounting principles methods used and disclosures pertaining to significant estimates This discussion

addresses ourjudgment pertaining to trends events or uncertainties known which were taken into consideration upon the application

of those policies and the likelihood that materially different amounts would be reported upon taking into consideration different

conditions and assumptions

Acquisition of Investment Properly

We allocate the purchase price of each acquired investment property based upon the estimated acquisition date fair value of the

individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed which generally include land building and other improvements in place lease

value acquired above market and below market lease intangibles any assumed financing that is determined to be above or below

market the value of customer relationships and goodwill if any Transaction costs are expensed as incurred and presented within

General and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss

To augment our estimates ofthe fair value ofassets acquired and liabilities assumed in some circumstances we engage independent

real estate appraisal firms to provide market information and evaluations however we are ultimately responsible for such estimates

For tangible assets acquired including land building and other improvements we consider available comparable market and

industry information in estimating acquisition date fair value We allocate portion of the purchase price to the estimated acquired

inplace lease value based on estimated lease execution costs for similar leases as well as lost rental payments during an assumed

lease-up period We also evaluate each acquired lease as compared to current market rates If an acquired lease is determined to

be above or below market we allocate portion of the purchase price to such above or below market leases based upon the present

value of the difference between the contractual lease payments and estimated market rent payments over the remaining lease term

Renewal periods are included within the lease term in the calculation of above and below market lease values if based upon factors

known at the acquisition date market participants
would consider it probable that the lessee would exercise such options The

discount rate used in the present value calculation of above and below market lease intangibles requires our evaluation of subjective

factors such as market knowledge economics demographics location visibility age
and physical condition of the property

For all acquisition accounting fair value estimates we are required to consider various factors including but not limited to

geographic location size and location of leased space within the acquired investment property tenant profile and credit risk of

tenants
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Our investment properties including developments in progress are reviewed for potential impairment at the end of each reporting

period or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable At-the end of each

reporting period we separately determine whether impairment indicators exist for each property Examples of situations considered

to be impairment indicators for both operating properties and developments in progress include but are not limited to

substantial decline or continued low occupancy rate

continued difficulty in leasing space

significant financially troubled tenants

change in plan to sell property prior to the end of its useful- life or holding period

cost accumulation or delay in project completion date significantly above and beyond the original acquisition

development estimate
--

significant decrease in market price not- in line with general market trends and

any other quantitative or qualitative events or factors deemed significant by our management or board of directors

If the presence of one or more impairment indicators as described above is identified at the end of reporting period or throughout

the year with respect to property the asset is tested for recoverability by comparing its carrying value to the estimated future

undiscounted cash flows An investment property is considered to be impaired when the estimated future undiscounted cash flows

are less than its current carrying value When performing test for recoverability or estimating the fair value of an ithpaired

investment property we make certain complex or subjective assumptions which include but are not limited to

projected operating cash flows considering factors such as vacancy rates rental rates lease terms tenant financial strength

demographics holding period and property location

projected capital expenditures and lease origination costs

estimated dates of construction completion and grand opening for developments in progress

projected cash flows from the eventual disposition of an operating property or development in progress using property-

specific capitalization rate

comparable selling prices and

property-specific discount rate for fair value estimates as necessary

Our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures are reviewed for potential impairment in additiçn to impairment evaluations of

the individual assets underlying these investments each reporting period or whenever events or changes in circumstances warrant

such an evaluation To determine whether any identified impairment is other-than-temporary we consider whether we have the

ability and intent to hold the investment until the carrying value -is fully recovered

To the extent an impairment has occurred we will record an impairment charge calculated as the excess of the carrying value of

the asset over its estimated fair value

Cost Capitalization Depreciation andAmortization Policies

Our policy is to review all expenses paid and capitalize any items which are deemed to be an upgrade or tenant improvement

These costs are included in the investment properties classification as an addition to buildings and improvements

Depreciation expense is computed using the straight-line method Buildings and improvements are depreciated based upon
estimated useful lives of 30 years for buildings and associated improvements and 15 years for site improvements and most other

capital improvements Tenant improvements and other leasing costs are amortized on straight-line basis over the life of the

related lease as component of depreciation and amortization expense Acquired lease intangibles such as in place lease value

customer relationship value if any above market lease intangibles and below market lease intangibles are amortized on straight

line basis over the life of the related lease inclusive of renewal periods if market participants would consider it probable that the

lessee would exercise such options as an adjustment to net rental income
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We capitalize direct and certain indirect project costs incurred during the development period such as construction insurance

architectural legal interest and other financing costs and real estate taxes At such time as the development is considered

substantially complete the capitalization of certain indirect costs such as real estate taxes and interest and financing costs ceases

and all project-related costs included in developments in progress are reclassified to land and building and -other improvements

upon consideration of project-specific factors projects -classification changes from development- to operating-when it is

substantially completed and held available for occupancy but no later- than one -year-from the completion of major construction

activity property is considered stabilized upon reaching 90% occupancy but no later than one year
from the date it was classified

as operating

Loss on Lease Terminations

In situations in which lease or leases associated with significant tenant have been or are expected to be terminated early we

evaluate the remaining useful lives of depreciable or amortizable assets in-the asset group related to the lease that will be terminated

i.e tenant improvements above and below market lease intangibles in-place lease value and leasing commissions Based upon

consideration of the facts and circumstances of the termination we may write-off the applicable asset grou or accelerate the

depreciation and amortization associated with the asset group If we conclude that write-off of the asset group is appropriate

such charges are reported in the consolidated statements ofoperations and other comprehensive loss as Loss on lease terminations

Investment Properties Held For Sale

In determining whethçr to classifr an investment property as held for sale we consider whether management has committed

to plan to sell the investment property ii the investment property is available for immediate sale in its present condition iii we

have initiated program to locate buyer iv we believe that the sale of the -investment property is probable we have received

significant non-refundable deposit for the purchase of the investment property vi we are actively -marketing the investment

property for sale at pnce that is reasonable in relation to its current value and vii actions required for us to complete the plan

indicate that it is unlikely that any significant changes will be made

If all of the above criteria are met we classifj the investment property as held for sale When these criteria are met we suspend

depreciation including depreciation
for tenant improvements and building improvements and amortization of acquired in-place

lease value and any above market or below market lease intangibles and we record- the investment property held for sale at the

lower of cost or net realizable value The assets and liabilities associated with those investment properties that are held for sale

are classified separately on the consolidated balance sheets for the most Fecent reporting period Additionally if the operations

and cash flow of the property
have been or will be upon consummation of such sale eliminated from ongoing operations and we

dont have significant continuing involvement in the operations of the property then the operations for-the periods presented are

classified in the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss as discontinued operations for all periods

presented

Partially-Owned Entities

If we determine that we are an owner in avariable interest entity VIE and we hold controlling financial interest then we will

consolidate the entity as theprimary beneficiary We assess our interests invariable interest entities on an ongoing basis to determine

whether or not we are aprimary beneficiary Such assessments include-an evaluation ofwho controls -the entity even in circumstances

in which we have greater than 50% ownership interest as well a_s who has an obligation to absorb losses or right to receive

benefits that could potentially be significant to the entity If our interest does not incorporate these elements we will not consolidate

the entity

Partially-owned non-variable interest joint ventures in which we have controlling financial interest are consolidated In

determining if we have controlling financial interest factors such as ownership interest authority to make decisions kick-out

rights and substantive participating rights are considered Partially-owned joint ventures in which we do not have controlling

financial interest but have the ability to exercise significant influence will not be consolidated but rather accounted for pursuant

to the equity method of accounting

Derivative and Hedging Activities

All derivatives are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets at their fair values within Other liabilities On the date that we

enter into derivative we may designate the derivative as hedge against the vanability of cash flows that are to be paid in

connection with recognized liability Subsequent changes in the fair value of derivative designated as cash flow hedge that

is determined to be highly effective are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income until earnings are affected by the

variability of cash flows of the hedged transactions As of December 31 2012 the balance in accumulated other comprehensive
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loss relating to derivatives was $1254 Any hedge ineffectiveness or changes in the fair value for any derivative not designated

as hedge is reported in net loss We do not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes

Revenue Recognition

We commence revenue recognition on our leases based on number of factors In most cases revenue recognition under lease

begins when the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical use of the leased asset Generally this occurs on the lease

commencement date The determination of who is the owner for accounting purposes of the tenant improvements determines the

nature of the leased asset and when revenue recognition under lease begins If we are the owner for accounting purposes of the

tenant improvements then the leased asset is the finished space and revenue recognition bŒginswhen the lessee takes possession
of the finished space typically when the improvements are substantially complete If we conclude we are not the owner for

accounting purposes of the tenant improvements the lessee is the owner then the leased asset is the unimproved space and any
tenant improvement allowances funded under the lease are treated as lease incentives which are amortized as reduction to the

revenue recognized over the term of the lease In these circumstances we commence revenue recognition when the lessee takes

possession of the unimproved space for the lessee to construct their own improvements We consider number of factors to evaluate

whether we or the lessee are the owner of the tenant improvements for accountingpurposes These factors include

whether the lease stipulates how and on what tenant improvement allowance may be spent

whether the tenant or landlord retains legal title to the improvements

the uniqueness of the improvements

the expected economic life of thetenant improvements relative to the length of the lease

who constructs or directs the construction of the improvements and

whether the tenant or landlord is obligated to fund cost overruns

The determination of who owns the tenant improvements for accounting purposes is subject to significant judgment. In making
that determination we consider all of the above factors No one factor however necessarily establishes its determination

Rental income is recognized on straight-line basis over the term of each lease The difference between rental income earned on

a.straight-line basis and the cash rent due under the provisions of the lease is recorded as deferred rent receivable and is included

as component of Accounts and notes receivable in the consolidated balance sheets

Reimbursements from tenants for recoverable real estate taxes and operating expenses are accrued as revenue in the period the

applicable expenditures are incurred We make certain assumptions and judgments in estimating the reimbursments at the end
of each reporting period

We record lease termination income upon execution of signed termination letter agreement when all of the conditions of the

agreement have been fulfilled the tenant is no longer occupying the property and collectibility is reasonably assured Upon early
lease termination we provide for losses related to recognized tenant specific intangibles and other assets or adjust the remaining
useful life of the assets if determined to be appropriate

Our policy for
percentage rental income is to defer recognition of contingent rental income i.e purchase/excess rent until the

specified target i.e breakpoint that triggers the contingent rental income is achieved

Profits from sales of real estate are not recognized under the full accrual method unless sale is consummated the buyers initial

and continuing investments are adequate to demonstrate commitment .to pay for the property our receivable if applicable is

not subject to future subordination we have transferred to the buyer the usual risks and rewards of ownership and we do not have

substantial continuing involvement with the property

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Receivable balances outstanding include base rents tenant reimbursements and receivables attributable to the straight-lining of

rental commitments An allowance for the uncollectible portion ofaccrued rents and accounts receivable is determined on tenant-

specific basis through an analysis of balances outstanding historical bad debt levels tenant creditworthiness and current economic

trends Additionally estimates of the expected recovery ofpre-petition and post-petition claims with respect to tenants in bankruptcy

are considered in assessing the collectibility of the related receivables As these factors change the allowance is subject to revision

and may impact our results of operations
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Income Taxes

We have elected to be taxed as REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code As REIT we generally
will not be subject

to U.S federal income tax on the taxable income we currently distribute to our shareholders

Additionally GAAP prescribes recognition threshold and measurement attributable for the financial statementrecognition of

tax position taken or expected to be taken in tax return We recorda benefit for uncertain income tax positions if the result of

tax position meets more likely than not recognition threshold

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 12012 guidance on how to measure fair value and on what disclosures to provide about fair value measurements

has been converged with international standards The adoption required additional disclosures regarding fair value measurements

see Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements

Effective June 30 2012 parent company that ceases to have controlling financial interest in subsidiary that is in-substance

real estate because that subsidiary has defaulted on its non-recourse debt is required to apply real estate sales guidance to determine

whether to derecognize the in-substance real estate The adoption did not have any effect on our financial statements

Subsequent Events

Subsequent to December 31 2012 we

drew $125000 on our senior unsecured revolving line of credit and used the proceeds to repay notes payable with an

aggregate
balance of $125000 and weighted average interest rate of 12.80% and the associated prepayment premium

of $6250

repaid $35000 on our senior unsecured revolving line of credit using available cash

closed on the sale ofMervyns Ridgecrest 59000 square
foot single-user retail property located in RidgecrestCalifornia

for sales price of $500 and no significant anticipated gain or loss on sale due to impairment charges recognized prior

to December 31 2012

closed on the sale of Mervyns Highland an 80500 square foot single-user retaii property
located in Highland California

for sales price of $2133 and no significant anticipated gain or loss on sale due to impairment charges recognized prior

to December 31 2012

closed on the sale of American Express
DePere 132300 square foot single user office property located in DePere

Wisconsin for sales price of $17233 and anticipated gain on sale of approximately $1914

closed on the sale of parcel of land on which approximately 46700 square
feet of GLA was previously demolished

at Darien Towne CenteiT located in Darien Illinois for sales price of $7600 and anticipated gain on sale of approximately

$2 996 and

repaid $27200 mortgage payable with stated interest rate of 5.45%

On February 13 2013 our board of direôtors declared the initial cash dividend for our 7.00% Series cumulative redeemable

preferred stock The dividend of $0.486 per preferred share will be paid on April 2013 to preferred shareholders of record at

the close of business on March 21 2013

On February 13 2013 our board of directors declared the distributiOn for thfirst quarter of 2013 of $0.1 65625 per share on all

classes of our outstanding common shares which will be paid on April 10 2013 to common shareholders of record at the close

of business on March 29 2013

Inflation

Many of our leases contain provisions designed to mitigate the adverse impact of inflation Such provisions include clauses enabling

us tO receive payment of additional rent calculated as percentage of tenants gross sales above predetermined thresholds which

generally increase as prices rise andlor escalation clauses which generally increase rental rates during the terms of the leases

Such escalation clauses often include increases based upon changes in the consumer price index or similar inflation indices In

addition many of our leases are for terms of less than 10 years which permits us to seek to increase rents to market rates upon

renewal Most of our leases require the tenant to pay an allocable share of operating expenses including common area maintenance
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costs real estate taxes and insurance thereby reducing our exposure to increases in costs and operating expenses resulting from

inflation

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We may be exposed to interest rate changes primanly as result of long-term debt used to maintain liquidity and fund capital

expenditures and expansion of our real estate investment portfolio and operations Our interest rate risk management objectives

are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower our overall borrowing costs To achieve

our objectives we borrow primarily at fixed rates or variable rates with the lowest margins available and in some cases with the

ability to convert variable rates to fixed rates

With regard to variable rate financing we assess interest rate cash flow risk by continually identifying and monitoring changes in

interest rate exposures that may adversely impact expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities We maintain

risk management.control systems to monitor interest rate cash flow risk.attnihutable to both our outstanding or forecasted debt

obligations as well as our potential offsetting hedge positions The risk management control systems involve thç use of analytical

techniques including cash flow sensitivity analysis to estimate the expected impact of changes in interest rates on our future cash

flows

We may use additional denvative financial instruments to hedge exposures to changes in interest rates on loans secured by our

properties To the extent we do we are exposed to market and credit risk Market risk is the adverse effect on the value of financial

instrument that results froma change in interest rates The market risk associated with iiiterestrate contracts is managed by

establishing and monitoring parameters that limit the types and degree of market risk that may be undertaken Credit risk is the

failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative contract When the fair.value of derivative contract is

positive the counterparty owes us which creates credit risk for us When the fair value of derivative contract is negative we
owe the counterparty and therefore ive generally are not exposed to the credit risk of the countØrparty It is our policy to enter

into these transactions with the same party providing the financing with the right of offset Alternatively we will minimize the

credit risk in derivative instmment by entering into transactions with high-quality counterparties

As of December 31 2012 we had $376055 of variable rate debt based on LIBOR that was swapped to fixed rate debt through

interest rate swaps Our interest rate swaps are sumniärized in the following table

Fair Value at

Notional December31
Amount Termination Date 2012

Unsecuredterm loan 300000 February 24 2016 989

The Sbops.at Legacy 61100 .Deceniber 15 2013 -1405
Heritage Tôwne Crossing 8550 September 30 2016 307

Newnan crossing II 6405 May 2013 .- 82

376055 2783

decrease of in market interest rates would lesUlt in hypothetical increase in our het liability associated with our derivatives

of approximately $4555

The combined canying amount of our mortgages payable notes payable and unsecured credit facility is approximately $192517

lower than the fair value as of December 31 2012

Debt Maturities

Our interest rate risk is monitored using variety of techniques The .folloig table shows
tie scheduled maturities and required

principal payments of our mortgages payable notes payable and unsecured credit facility as of December 31 2012 for each of

the next five years and thereafter and the weighted average
interest rates by year to evaluate the expected cash flows and sensitivity

to interest rate changes The table does not reflect the impact of any 2013 debt activity
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Maturing debt

Fixed rate debt

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total Fair Value

Mortgages payable 236194 178199 452355 38239 286060 887115 2078162 2258431

Notes payable
125000 125000 133033

Unsecured credit facility term loan 300 000 300 000 302 299

Total fixedrate debt 236194 178199 452355 338239 286060 1012115 2503162 2693763

Variable rate debt

Mortgages payable 10419 10419 10419

Unsecured credit facility line of credit 80000 80000 80424

Total variable rate debt 10419 80000 90419 90 843

Totalmaturingdebte $236194 $188618 $532355 $338239 $286060 $1012115 $2593581 2784606

Weighted average interest rate on debt

Fixed rate debt 5.76% 7.19% 5.81% 3.18% 5.73% 7.22% 6.11%

Variable rate debt 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Total 5.76% 6.93% 5.31% 3.18% 5.73% 7.22% 5.98%

The debt maturity table does not include mortgage discount of $1 492 net of accumulated amortization which was outstanding as of

December31 2012

Includes $76055 of variable rate mortgage debt that was sapped to fixed rate

On February 2013 we repaid the entire balance of the 1W JV senior and junior mezzanine notes and incurred 5% prepayment fee

In July 2012 we entered into an interest rate swap transaction to convert the varible rate portion of $300000 of LIBOR-based debt to

fixed rate through February 24 201-6 the maturity thte of our unsecured term-loan The swap effectively converts one-month floating rate

LIBOR to fixed rate of 0.53 875% over the term of the swap

As of December 31 2012 the weighted average years to maturity of consolidatçd indebtedness was 5.2 years

The maturity table excludes accelerated principal payments that may be required as result of covenants or conditions included

in certain loan agreements due to the uncertainty in the timing and amount of these payments As of December 31 2012 we were

making accelerated pnncipal payments on one mortgage payable with an outstanding pnncipal balance of $59 906 which is

reflected in the year corresponding to the loan maturity date The mortgage payable is scheduled to mature on December 2034

however if we are nOt able to cure this arrangement this mortgage payable will be fully amortized and repaid on December

2019 During the year ended December 312012 we made accelerated principal payments of $7291 with respect to this mortgage

payable $26865 mortgage payable that had matured in 201 and which remains outstanding -as of December 31 2012 is

included in the 2013 column

We had $90419 of variable rate debt excluding $376055 variable rate debt that was swapped to fixed rate debtwith interest

rates varying based upon LIBOR with weighted average interest rate of 2.50% at December 312012 An increae.in the variable

interest rate on this debt constitutes market risk If interest rates increase by 1% based on debt outstanding as of December 31

2012 interest expense-would increase byapproximately S904 on an annualized basis --

The table incorporates only those interest rate exposures that existed as of December 31 2012 It does not consider those interest

rate exposures or positions that could arise after that date The information presented herein is merely an estimate and has-limited

predictive value As result the ultimate realized gain or loss with respect to interest rate fluctuations will depend on the interest

rate exposures
that anse dunng the penod our hedging strategies at that time and future changes in the level of interest rates
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Retail Properties of America Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Retail Properties of America Inc formerly Inland Western

Retail Real Estate Trust Inc and subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated

statements of operations and other comprehensive loss equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31 2012 Our audits also included the financial statement schedules listed in the Index These financial statements and

financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

the financial statements and financial statement schedules based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects
the financial position of Retail

Properties of America Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the results of their operations and their cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2012 in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion such financial statement schedules when considered in relation to

the basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole present fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Acounting Oversight Board United States the

Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2012 based on the criteria established in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated

February 20 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting

Is Deloitte Touche LLP

Chicago Illinois

February 20 2013
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC
Consolidated Balance Sheets

in thousands except par value amounts

Assets

Investment properties

Land

Building and other improvements

Developments in progress

Less accumulated depreciation

Net investment properties

Cash and cash equivalents

Investment in marketable securities net

Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures

Accounts and notes receivable net of allowances of $6452 and $8231 respectively

Acquired lease intangibles net

Assets associated with investment properties held for sale

Other assets net

Total assets

Liabilities and Equity

Liabilities

Mortgages and notes payable net

Credit facility

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Distributions payable

Acquired below market lease intangibles net

Other financings

Co-venture obligation

Liabilities associated with investment properties held for sale

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Redeemable noncontrolling interests

Commitments and contingencies Note 19

1209523 1334363

4703859 5057252

49496 49940

5962878 6441555

1275787 1180767
4687091 5260

138069 136009

30385

56872 81168

85431 94922

125706 174404

8922

135336 164218

5237427 5941894

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

2212089

380000

73983

38200

74648

2926218

555000

83012

31448

81321

8477

52431

60

82694 66944

2861674 3804851

525

Equity

Preferred stock $0001 par value 10000 shares authorized

7.00% Series cumulative redeemable preferred stock 5400 and shares issued and

outstanding at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively liquidation preference $135000

Class common stock $0.001 par value 475000 shares authorized 133606 and 48382
sharet issued and outstanding at December31 2012 and 2011 respectively 133 48

Class B-l common stock $0001 par value 55000 shares authorized and48382 shares
issued and outstanding at December31 2012 and 2011 respectively 48

Class B-2 common stock $0001 par value 55000 shares authorized 48518 and 48382
shares issued and outstanding at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively 49 49

Class B-3 common stock $0001 par value 55000 shares authorized 48519 and 48383
shares issued and outstanding at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively 49 49

Additional paid-in capital 4835370 4427977
Accumulated distributions in excess of earnings 2460093 2312877
Accumulated othercomprehensive loss income 1254 19730

Total shareholders equity 2374259 2l35024
Noncontrolling interests

1494 1494
Total equity 2375753 2136518
Total liabilities and equity 5237427 5941894

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OFAMERICA INC

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Loss

in thousands except per share amornits

Revenues

Rental income

Tenant recovery income

Other property income

Insurance captive income

Total revenues

Expenses

Property operating expenses

Real estate taxes

Depreciation and amortization

Provision for impairment of investment properties

Loss on lease terminations

Insurance captive expenses

General and administrative expenses

Totaf expenses

Operating income

Dividend income

Interest income

Gain on extinguishment of debt

Equity in loss income of unconsolidated joint ventures net

Interest expense

Co-venture obligation expense

Recognized gain on marketable securities net

Other income expense net

Loss from continuing operations

Discontinued operatjpns

Loss net

Gain on sales of investment properties net

Income loss from discontinued operations

Gain on sales of investment properties net

Net loss

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net loss attributable to the Company

Preferred stock dividends

Net loss available to common shareholders

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Net unrealized gain on derivative instruments

Net unrealized gain loss on marketable securities

Reversal of unrealized gain to recognized gain on marketable securities

Comprehensive loss

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive loss available to common shareholders

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

450629 449401

106696 106939

9698 10095

567023 566435
____________

101113

80829

223485

11030

13125

3392

26878 20605 18119

424381 431372 451093

142642 135063 144474

1880 2538 3472

72 663 740

3879 15345

6307 6437 2025

179237 216423 239469

3300 7167 7167

25840 277 4007

296 2032 4370

14235 74109 96288

28884

24509

4375
5906

72578

31
447 72609

263

710 72609

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

466070

111329

15172

2996

595567

95812

76193

217303

1323

6872

99114

76580

218833

7650

8590

24196

30141

5945

7843

447

Loss earnings per common share basic and diluted

Continuing operations
0.03 0.35

Discontinued operations

0.03 0.03

Net loss per common share available to common shareholders 0.38

447 72578

22225

23806

1581

94107

1136
95843

95843

0.50

0.50

94707

1247

13742

4007
83725

il36
84861

108

4748

25840

21431

21431

1211

3486
277

75130-

31
75161

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding basic and diluted 220464 192456 193497
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OFAMERICA INC
Consolidated Statements of Equity

in thousands except per share amounts

Balance at January 12010

Net loss income excluding net income of $31

attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests

Other comprehensive income

Contributions from noncontrolling interests

Deconsolidation of variable interest
entity

Distributions declared to common shareholders

Distribution reinvestment program DRP

Shares returned from
litigation settlement

Exercise of stock
options

Stock based compensation expense

Balance at December 31 2010

Net loss excluding net income of $31 attributable to

redeemable noncontrolling interests

Distribution upon dissolution of partnership

Other comprehensive loss

Contributions from noncontrolling interests

Distributions declared to common shareholders

DRP

Issuance of restricted common stock

Stock based compensation expense

Balance at December 31 2011

332 332

120647

44296

Class Class Accumulated Accumulated
Preferred Stock Common Stock Common Stock

Additional Distributions Other Total

Paid-in in Excess of Comprehensive Shareholders Noncontroffing Total
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income Loss Equity Interests Equity

48174 48 144523 145 $4350773 1920716 11300 2441550 4169 2445719

95843 95843 1105 94738

10982 10982 10982

151 151

4262 4262

94579 94579 94579

460 1380 32729 32731 32731

900 2700

13
13 13

48 48 48

47734 47 143204 144 $4383567 2111138 22282 2294902 1163 2296065

72609 72609 72609

8483 8483 8484

2552 2552 2552

120647 120647

644 1933 44293 44296

10

117 117 117

48382 48 145147 146 $4427977 2312877 19730 2135024 1494 2136518

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OFAMERICA INC
Consolidated Statements of Equity

Continued

in thousands except per share amounts

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Distributions declared to common shareholders

Issuance of common stock net of offering costs

Redemption of fractional shares of common stock

Issuance of preferred stock net of offering costs

DRP

Issuance of restricted common stock

Conversion of Class B-i common stock to Class

common stock

Stock based compensation expense

Balance at December 31 2012

Class Class
Accumulated Accumulated

Preferred Stock Common Stock Common Stock
Additional Distributions Other Total

____________________ ____________________ ____________________ Paid-in in Excess of Comprehensive Shareholders Noncontrolling Total

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income Loss Equity Interests Equity

447 447 447

20984 20984 20984

146769 146769 i46769

36570 37 266454 266491 266491

39 118 1253 1253 1253

5400 130289 130294 130294

167 502 11626 11626 11626

24

48518 48 48518 48

277 277 277

5400 133606 133 97037 98 $4835370 2460093 1254 2374259 1494 2375753

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

in thousands

Year Ended December 31

Cashflows from operating activities

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile netloss to net cash provided by operating activities

including discontinued operations

Depreciation and amortization

PrOvision for impairment of investment properties

Gain on sales of investment properties net

Gain on extinguishment of debt

Loss on lease terminations

Amortization of loan fees mortgage debt premium and discount on debt assumed net

Equity in loss income of unconsolidated joint ventures net

Distributions on investments in unconsolidated joint ventures

Recognized gain on sale of marketable securities

Payment of leasing fees and inducements

Changes in accounts receivable net

Changes in accounts payable and accrued expenses net

changes in other operating assets and liabilities net

Other net
______________ ______________

Net cash provided by operating activities
______________ ______________

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities

Changes in restricted escrows net

Purchase of investment properties

Capital expenditures and tenant improvements

Proceeds from sales of investment properties

Investment in developments in progress

Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures

Distributions of investments in unconsolidated joint ventures

Return of escrowed funds from unconsolidated joint venture

Other net
______________ ______________

Net cash provided by investing activities
______________ ______________

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayments of proceeds from margin debt related to marketable securities

Proceeds from mortgages and notes payable

Principal payments on mortgages and notes payable

Proceeds from credit facility

Repayments of credit facility

Payment of loan fees and deposits net

Settlement of co-venture obligation

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

Redemption of fractional shares of common stock

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock

Distributions paid net of DRP

Repayment of other financings

Other net
_______________ _______________

Net cash used in financing activities
______________ ______________

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash decrease due to deconsolidation of variable interest entity
______________ ______________

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

2012 2011 2010

447 72 578 94 707

229805 238020

25842 39981

37984 30415

3879 16705

6912 8714

6834

6307 6437

6168 2218

25840 277

43132 10786

3378 4915

9037 813

8701 6618
296 5680

167085 174607

248089

23057

23421

13826

11701

2025

5721

4007

6172
8336

13313

9662
23

184072

8629

22967

651
34547

144675

3219

3589

65240

829

154400

10017

737890

1050997

90000

42653

11498

50654

3410

442

321747

16725

125904

12416

130213

continued

35133

23916

2806

40772
453320

565

13821

17403

21

471829

7541

319691

988483

355000

530000

6482

50000

272081

1253

130747

128391

2223

636854

2060

136009

.59

673

16555
32509

195948

3288

50030
12563

310

107471

2476

91579

678071

574764

174111

12316

71754

3897

276282

5796

130213

138069 136009
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OFAMERICA INC
Consolidated Statementsof Cash Flows

inthousands

Supplemental cash flow disclosure including non-cash activities

Cash paid for interest net of interest capitalized

Distributions payable

Distributions reinvested

Accrued
capital expenditures and tenant improvements

Developments in progress placed in service

Forgiveness of mortgage debt

Shares of Class B-i common stock converted to Class commori stock

Shares of common stock returned as result of litigation settlement

Purchase of investment properties after credits at closing

Land building and other improvements net

Acquired lease intangibles and other assets

Acquired below market lease intangibles and other liabilities

Proceeds from sales of investment properties

Land building and other improvements net

Accounts receivable acquired lease intangibles and other assets

Accounts payable acquired below market lease intangibles and other liabilities

Assumption of mortgage debt

Forgiveness of mortgage debt

Deferred gains

Gain on extinguishment of debt

Gain on sales of investment properties net

Deconsolidation of variable interest entity

Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures

Other assets net

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Other liabilities

Noncontrolling interests

Cash decrease due to deconsolidation of variable interest entity

389465 217700 259308

52064 10142 4697

2305 5805 3713

60000 97888

23570 31756

318 2505

991

37984 30415 23421

453320 195948 14475

7230

6386
124

7186

4262

.$ 12416

concluded

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

205124 227887 248576

38200 31448 26851

11626 44296 32731

6399 4878

929 25651 28312

27449 15798 50831

48518

3600

2806 12546 651

4547
538

2806 16555 651
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Organization and Basis of Presentation

Retail Properties of America Inc the Company was formed to acquire and manage diversified portfolio of real estate primarily

multi-tenant shopping centers The Company was initially formed on March 2003 as Inland Western Retail Real Estate Trust

Inc On March 2012 the Company changed its name to Retail Properties ofAmerica Inc

All share amounts and dollar amounts in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto are stated in thousands with the

exception of per share amounts and per square foot amounts unaudited

On March 20 2012 the Company effectuated ten-to-one reverse stock split of its then outstanding common stock Immediately

following the reverse stock split the Company redesignated all of its common stock as Class common stock

On March 21 2012 the Company paid stock dividend pursuant to which each then outstanding share of its Class common

stock received

one share of Class B-i common stock plus

one share of Class B-2 common stock plus

one share of Class B-3 common stock

These transactions are referred to as the Recapitalization Class B-i common stock Class B-2 common stock and Class B-3

common stock are collectively referred to as the Companys Class common stock while Class and Class common stock

are collectively referred to as the Companys common stock The Company listed its Class common stock ofi the New York

Stock Exchange NYSE on April 52012 under the symbol RPAI the Listing The Companys Class common stock is identical

to the Companys Class common stock except that the Company does not intend to list its Class common stock on national

securities exchange and ii shares of the Companys Class common stock will convert automatically into shares oftlie COmpanys
Class common stock at specified times Subject to the provisions of the Companys charter shares of Class B-i Class B-2 and

Class B-3 common stock will convert automatically into shares of the Companys class commonstock six months following

the Listing 12 months following the Listing and 18 months following the Listing respectively On the 18 month anniversary of

the Listing all shares of the COmpanys Class common stock will have converted into the Companys Class common stOck

On October 2012 all 48518 shares of Class B-i common stock automatically converted to shares of Class common stock

Each share of Class common stock and Class common stock participates in distributions equaIly All common stock shareand

per share data included in these consolidated financial statements give retroactive effect to the Recapitalization In addition upon

Listing the Companys distribution reinvestment program DRP and share repurchase program SRP were terminated

The Company elected to be taxed as real estate investment trust REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended

or the Code The Company believes it has qualified for taxation as REIT and as such the Company generally will not be subject

to federal income tax on taxable income that is distnbuted to shareholders If the Company fails to qualify as REIT in any

taxable year the Company will be subject to U.S federal income tax on its taxable income at regular corporate tax rates

Even if the Company qualifies for taxation as REIT the Company may be subject to certain state and lOcal taxes on its incOme

property or net worth and U.S federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed inCome The Company has One wholly-owned

subsidiary that has elected to be treated as taxable REIT subsidiary IRS for U.S federal income tax purposes TRS is taxed

on its taxable income at regular corporate taxrates The income tax expense incurred as result of the IRS did ot have material

impact on the Companys accompanying consolidated financial statements Through merger consumnrnted on November 15

2007 the Company acquired four qualified REIT subsidiaries Their income is consolidated with REIT income for federal and

state income tax purposes

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States GAAP
requires management to make estimatesand assumptions These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets

and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statemOnts and the

reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods For example significant estimates and assumptiOns have

been made with respect to useful lives ofassets capitalization ofdevelopment and leasing costs value measurements provision

for impairment including estimates of holding periods capitalization rates and discount rates where applicable provision for

income taxes recoverable amounts of receivables deferred taxes and initial valuations and related amortization periods of deferred

costs and intangibles particularly with respect to property acquisitions Actual results could differ from those estimates
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

NotestoCŁnsolidated Financial Statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company as well as all wholly-owned subsidiaries

and consolidated joint venture investments Wholly-owned subsidiaries generally consist of limited liability companies LLCs
limited partnerships LPs and statutory trusts

The Companys property ownership as of December 31 2012 is summarized below

Consolidated Unconsolidated

Wholly-owned Joint Ventures Joint Ventures

Operating properties 242 22

Development properties

The Company has 50% ownership interest in one LLC

The Company has ownership interests ranging from 20% to 96% in three LLCs or LPs

Excludes three wholly-owned properties classified as held for sale as of December31 2012

The Company consolidates certain property holding entities and other subsidiaries in which it owns less than 100% equity interest

if it is deemed to be the primary beneficiary in variable interest entity VIE an entity in which the contractual ownership or

pecuniary interests change with changes in the fair value of the entitys net assets as defined by the Financial Accounting Standards

Board FASB The Company also consolidates entities that are not VIEs in which it has financial and operating control

Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation Investments in real estate joint ventures in which

the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence but does not have financial or operating control are accounted for

pursuant to the equity method of accounting Accordingly the Companys share of the income or loss of these unconsolidated

joint ventures is included in consolidated net loss in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other

comprehensive loss

As of December 31 2012 the Company is the controlling member in one less-than-whollowned consolidated entity

Noncontrolling interest is the portion of equity in subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly toa parent As controlling

member the Company has an obligation to cause the property-owning entity to distribute proceeds of liquidation to the

noncontrólling interest holder only if the net proceeds received by the entity from the sale of assets warrant distribution based

on the terms of the underlying prganizational agreement

The Company evaluates the classification and presetitation of the noncontrolling interests associated with its consolidated joint

venture investments on an ongoing basis as facts and circumstances deem necessary Such determinations are based on numerous

factors including evaluations of the terms in applicable agreements specifically the redemption provisions The amount at which

these interests would be redeemed is based on formula contained in each respective agreement and as of December 2012

and 2011 was determined to approximate the carrying value of these interests No adjustment to the carrying value of the

noncontrolling interesth in the Companys consolidated joint venture investments was made during the years ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 In the cOnsolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive los revenues expenses and net

income or loss from such less-than-wholly-owned subsidiaries are reported at the consolidated amounts including both the amounts

available to common shareholders and noncontrolling interests Consolidated statements of equity are included in the annual

financial statements including beginning balances activity for the period and ending balances for total shareholders equity

noncontrolling interests and total equity Noncontrolling interests are adjusted for additional contributions from and distributions

to noncontrolling interest holders as well as the noncontrolling interest holders share of the net income or loss of each respective

entity as applicable

On April 29 2011 the Company dissolved partnership with partner in three of its development joint ventures resulting in

increases to the Companys ownership interests to 100% in Parkway Towne Crossing 100% in three fully occupied outlots at

Wheatland Towne Crossing and 50% in Lake Mead Crossing The remaining property of Wheatland Towne Crossing excluding

the three outlots which the Company subsequently sold in separate transactions prior to December 31 2011 was conveyed to the

Companys partner who simultaneously repaid the related $5730 construction loan Such conveyance of property resulted in

$14235 decrease in Developments in progress during 2011 Concurrently with this transaction the Company also acquired

36.7% ownership interest in Lake Mead Crossing frçm another partner in that joint venture increasing the Companys total

ownership interest in the property to 86.7% The Company accounted for this transaction including the conveyance of property

as nonmonetary distribution of $8483 reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as an increase to

Accumulated distributions in excess of earnings
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On September 302011 the Company paid $300 to partner in one of its consolidated developmentjoint ventures to simultaneously

settle the outstanding development fee liability of the joint venture and fully redeem the partners ownership interest in such joint

venture The transaction resulted in an increase in the Companys ownership interest in South Billings Center from 40.0% as of

December31 2010 to 100%

On February 2012 the Company .paid nominal amount to the partner in its Lake Mead Crossing consolidated joint venture to

fully redeem the partners ownership jnterest in such joint venture The transaction resulted in an increase in the Companys

ownership interest in Lake Mead Crossing from 86.7% as of December 31 2011 to 100%

On February 15 2012 the Company fully redeemed the noncontrolling interests held by its partner in consolidated limited

partnership joint venture Such redemption reflected in the following table was settled by transferring restricted cash as well as

the Companys interest in the Britomart unconsolidated joint venture to the noncontrolling interest holder and also resulted in an

$8477 decrease in Other financings in the accompamying consolidated balance sheets See Note 13 for further discussion

Below is table reflecting the activity of redeemable noicontrol1ing interests for the years
ended December 31 2012 2011 and

2010

2012 2011 2010

Balance at January-i
-525 527 527

Redeemable noncontrolling interest income 31 31

Distributions 31 31

Redemptions 525

Balance at December 31 525 527

The Company is party to an agreement with an LLC formed as an insurance association captive the Captive which is wholly-

owned bythe Company and three other parties The Captive was formed to insure/reimburse the members deductible obligations

for property and general liability insurance claims subjct to certain limitations The Company entered into the Captive to stabilize

insurance costs manage certain exposures and recoup expenses through the function of the captive program It has been determined

that the Captive is VIE and becausethe Company does not receive the most benefit nor the highest risk of loss it is not considered

to be the primary beneficiary As result the Captive is not consolidated but is recorded pursuant to the equity method of accounting

Prior to December 2010 the Company was deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the Captive Therefore the Captive was

consolidated by the Company through November 302010 Prior to December 2010 the other members interests are reflected

as Noncontrolling Interests in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss The

Companys risk of loss is limited to its investment and the Company is not required to fund additional capital to the Captive As

of December 31 2012 and 2011 the Companys interest in the Captive is reflected in Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures

in the accompanyingconsolidated balance sheets see Note 13 The Companys share of the net loss income of the Captive for

the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 is reflected in Equity jn loss of unconsolidated joint ventures net in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

InvesimeniProperties Investment properties are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation Ordinary repairs and maintenance

are expensed as incurred Expenditures for significant betterments and improvements are capitalized

The Company allocates the purchase price of each acquired investment property based upon the estimated acquisition date fair

value of the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed which generally include land building and other improvements

in-place lease value acquired above market and below market lease intangibles any assumed financing that is assumed to be

above or below market the value of customer relationships and goodwill if any Transaction costs are expensed as incurred and

presented within General and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other

comprehensive loss

To augment the Companys estimates of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in some circumstances the

Company engages independent real estate appraisal
firms to provide market information and evaluations however the Company

is ultimately responsible for such estimates For tangible assets acqUired including land building and other improvements the

Company considers available comparable market and industry information in estimating acquisition date fair value The Company

allocates portion of the purchase price to the estimated acquired in-place lease value based on estimated lease execution costs

for similar leases as well as lost rental payments during an assumed lease-up period The Company also evaluates each acquired
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lease as compared to current market rates If an acquired lease is determined to be above or below market the Company allocates

portion of the purchase price to such above or below market leases based upon the present value of the difference between the

contractual lease payments and estimated market rent payments over the remaining lease term Renewal periods are included

within the lease term in the calculation of above and below market lease values if based upon factors known at the acquisition

date market participants would consider it probable that the lessee would exercise such options The discount rate used in the

present value calculation of above and below market lease intangibles requires the Compnnys evaluation of subjective factors

such as market knowledge economics demographics location visibility age and physical condition of the property

All acquisition accounting fair value estimates require the Company to consider various factors including but not limited to

geographic location size and location of leased space within the acquired investment property tenant profile and credit risk of

tenants

The portion of the purchase price allocated to acquired in-place lease value is amortized On straight-line basisover-the life of

the related lease as component of depreciation and amortization expense The Company incurred amortization expense pertaining

to acquired in-place lease value of $35119 $38873 and $42366 including $1003 $1372 and $1451 respectively reflected as

discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

The portion of the purchase price allocated to acquired above market and below market lease intangibles is amortized on straight-

line basis over the life of the related lease as an adjustment to rental income Amortization pertaining to the above market lease

value of $3242 $4816 and $5654 including $14 reflected as discontinued operations for the year ended December 31 2010
for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively was recorded as reduction to rental income Amortization

pertaining to the below market lease value of $4733 $6533 and $7623 including $76 $106 and $133 respectively reflected

as discontinued operations for the
years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively was recorded as an increase to

rental income

The following table presents the amortization during the next five years and thereafter relatçd to the acquired inplace lae yalue

and acquired above and below market lease intangibles for properties owned at December 31 2012

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter

Amortization of

Acquired above market lease intangibles 2802 238.1 1946 1500 1105 3324
Acquired below market lease intangibles 3891 3593 3455 3332 3255 7.l22

Net rental income increase 1089 1212 1509 .$ 1832 2150 .53798

Acquired in-place lease value 31243 22161 14272 11737 8873 24362

Depreciation expense is computed using the straight-line method Buildings and improvements are depreciated based i.tpon

estimated useful lives of 30 years for buildings and associated improvements and 15
years

for site improvements and most other

capital improvements Tenant improvements and leasing fees are amortized on straight-line basis over the life of the related lease

as component of depreciation and amortization expense

Impairment The Companys investment properties including developments in
progress are reviewed for potential impairment

at the end of each reporting period or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be

recoverable At the end of each reporting period the Company separately determines whether impairment indicators exist for each

property Examples of situations considered to be impairment indicators for both operating prOperties and developments in
progress

include but are not limited to

substantial decline or continued low occupancy rate

continued difficulty in leasing space

significant financially troubled tenants

change in plan to sell property prior to the end of its useful lifç or holding period

cost accumulation or delay in project compltion date significantly above and beyond the original acquisition

development estimate

64



RETAIL PROPERTIES OFAMERICA INC

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

significant decrease in market price not in line with general market trends and

any other quantitative or qualitative events or factors deemed significant by the Companys management or board of

directors

If the
presence

of one or more impairment indicators as described above is identified at the end ofa reporting period or throughout

the year with respect to property the asset is tested for recoverability by comparing its carrying value to the estimated future

undiscounted cash flows An investment property is considered to be impaired when the estimated future undiscounted cash flows

are less than its current carrying value When performing test for recoverability or estimating the fair value of an impaired

investment property the Company makes certain complex or subjective assumptions which include but are notlimited to

projected operating cash flows considering factors such as vacancy rates rental rates lease terms tenant financial strength

demographics holding period and property location

pfojected capital expenditures and lease origination costs

estimated dates of construction completion and grand opening.for developments in progress

projected cash flows from the eventual disposition of an operating property or development in progress using property

specific capitalization rate

comparable selling prices and

property-specific discount rate for fair value estimates as necessary

The Companys investments in unconsolidated joint ventures are reviewed for potential impairment in addition to impairment

evaluations of the individual assets underlying .these investments each reporting period or whenever evenl .or changes in

circumstances warrant such an evaluation To determine whether any identified impairment is other-than-temporary the Company

considers whether it has the ability and intent to hold the investment until the carrying value is fully recovered

To the extent impairment has occurred the Company will record an impairment charge calculated as the excess of the carrying

value of the asset over its estimated fair value for impairment of investment properties or investments in unconsolidated joint

ventures.

Below is summary of impairment charges recorded during the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Impairment of consolidated properties 25842 39981 23057

Impairment of investment in unconsolidated joint ventures 1527 3956

Included in Provision for impairment of investment properties in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and

other comprehensive loss except for $24519 $32331 and $12027 which is included in discontinued operations in 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively

Included in Equity in loss income of unconsolidated joint ventures net in the accompanying consolidated statements of

operations and other comprehensive loss and represents the Companys proportionate share ofproperty-level impairment charges

recorded at its unconsolidated joint ventures

The Companys assessment of impairment at December 31 2012 was based on the most current information available to the

Cbmpaæy If the conditions mentioned above deterioratefurther or if the Companys plans regarding the Companys assets change

subsequent tests for impairment could result in additional impairment charges in the future The Company can provide no assurance

that material impairment charges with respect to the Companys investment properties and investments in unconsolidated joint

ventures will not occur in 2013 or future periods Based upon current market conditions certain of the Companys properties may
have fair values less than their carrying amounts However based on the Companys plans with respect to those properties the

Company believes that the carrying amounts are recoverable and therefore under applicable GAAP guidance no additional

impairment charges were recorded Accordingly the Company will continue to monitor circumstances and events in future periods

to determine whether additional impairment charges are warranted
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Development Projects The Company capitalizes direct and certain indirect project costs incurred during the development period

such as construction insurance architectural legal interest and other financing costs and real estate taxes At such time as the

development is considered substantially complete the capitalization of certain indirect costs such as real estate taxes and interest

and financing costs ceases and all project-related costs included in developments in progress are reclassified to land and building

and other improvements Development payables of $157 and $237 at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively consist of costs

incurred and not yet paid pertaining to such development projects and are included in Accounts payable and accrued expenses

in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets During the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 the Company

capitalized interest cost of none $197 and $286 respectively

Loss on Lease Terminations In situations in which lease or leases associated with significant tenant have been or are expected

to be terminated early the Company evaluates the remaining useful lives of depreciable or amortizable assets in the asset group

related to the lease that will be terminated i.e tenant improvements above and below market lease intangibles in-place lease

value and leasing commissions Based upon consideration of the facts and circumstances of the termination the Company may

write-off the applicable asset group or accelerate the depreciation and amortization associated with the asset group If the Company

concludes that write-off of the asset group is appropriate such charges are reported in the consolidated statements of operations

and other comprehensive loss as Loss on lease terminations The Company recorded loss on lease terminations of $6912 $8714

and $13826 including $40 $124 and $701 respectively reflected as discontinued operations for the years ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Investment Properties Held For Sale In determining whether to classify an investment property as held for sale the Company

considers whether management has committed to plan to sell the investment property ii the investment property is available

for immediate sale in its present condition iiithe Company has initiated program to locate buyer iv the Company believes

that the sale of the investment property is probable the Company has received significant non-refundable deposit for the

purchase of the investment property vi the Company is actively marketing the investment property for sale at price that is

reasonable in relation to its current value and vii actions required for the Company to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely

that any significant changes will be made

If all of the above criteria are met the Company classifies the investment property as held for sale When these criteria are met

the Company suspends depreciation including depreciation for tenant improvements and building improvements and amortization

of acquired in-place lease value and any above market or below market lease intangibles The assets and liabilities associated with

those investment properties that are classified as held for sale are presented separately on the consolidated balance sheets for the

most recent reporting period Additionally ifthe operations and cash flows of the property have been or will be upon consummation

of such sale eliminated from ongoing operations and the Company does not have significant continuing involvement in the

operations of the property then the operations for the periods presented are classified in the consolidated statements of operations

and other comprehensive loss as discontinued operations for all periods presented There were three properties classified as held

for sale at December 31 2012 and no properties classified as held for sale at December 31 2011 Refer to Note for further

discussion

Partially-Owned Entities If the Company determines that it holds an equity interest in VIE that is deemed to be controlling

financial interest it will consolidate the entity as the pnmary beneficiary The Company assesses its interests in vanable interest

entities on an ongoing basis to determine whether or not it is primary beneficiary Such assessments include an evaluation of

who controls the entity even in circumstances in which it has greater than 50% ownership interest as well as who has an obligation

to absorb losses or right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the entity If the Companys interest does not

incorporate the above elements it will not consolidate the entity Refer to Note for more information

Partially-owned non-variable interest joint ventures in which the Company has controlling financial interest are consolidated

In determining if the Company has controlling financial interest factors such as ownership interest authority to make decisions

kick out rights and substantive participating rights are considered Partially-ownedjoint ventures in which the Company does not

have controlling financial interest but has the ability to exercise significant influence will not be consolidated but rather

accounted for pursuant to the equity method of accounting

Cash and Cash Equivalents The Company considers all demand deposits money market accounts and investments in certificates

of deposit and repurchase agreements purchased with maturity of three months or less at the date ofpurchase to be cash equivalents

The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents at vanous financial institutions The combined account balances at one or

more institutions periodically exceed the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation FDIC insurance coverage
and as result

there is concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage The Company believes

that the risk is not significant as the Company does not anticipate the financial institutions non-performance
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Marketable Securities Investments in marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale and accordingly are carried at

fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported as separate component of shareholders equity Declines in the value of these

investments in marketable securities that the company determines are other-than-temporary are recorded as recognized loss on

marketable securities on the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss

To determine whether an impairment is other-than-temporary the Company considers whether it has the ability and intent to hold

the investment until market price recovery
and considers whether evidence indicating the cost of the investment is recoverable

outweighs evidence to the contrary among other things Evidence considered in this assessment includes the nature of the

investment the reasons for the impairment i.e credit or market related the severity and duration of the impairment changes in

value subsequent to the end of the reporting period and forecasted performance of the investee All available information is

considered in making this determination with no one factor being determinative

Restricted Cash and Escrows Restricted cash and escrows consist of lenders escrows and funds restricted through lender or

other agreements and are included as component of Other assets net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets As of

December31 2012 and 2011 the Company had $63 539 and $91 533 respectively in restricted cash and escrows

Dºriative Instruments and HedgingActivities All derivatives are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at their fair values

within Other liabilities On the date that the Company enters into derivative it may designate the derivative as hedge against

the variability of cash flows that are to be paid in connection with recognized liability Subsequent changes in the fair value of

derivative designated as cash flow hedge that is determined to be highly effective are recorded in Accumulated other

comprehensive income until earnings are affected by the variability of cash flows of the hedged transactions As of December 31

2012 the balance in accumulated other comprehensive loss relating to derivatives was $1 254 Any hedge ineffectiveness or

changes in the fair value for any derivative not designated as hedge is reported in Other income expense net in the consolidated

statements of operations and other comprehensive loss The Company uses derivatives to manage differences in the amount timing

and duration of the Company known or expected cash payments principally related to certain of the Company borrowings The

Company does not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes

ConditionalAssetRetireinent Obligations The Company evaluates the potential impact ofconditional asset retirement obligations

oiits consolidated financial statements The term conditional asset retirement obligation refers to legal obligation to prforman

asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on future event that may or may not be

within the control of the entity Thus the timing and/or method of settlement may be conditional on future event Based upon

the Companys evaluation the accrual of liability for asset retirement obligations was not warranted as of December 31 2012

and 2011

Revenue Recognition The Company commences revenue recognition on its leases based on number of factors In most cases

revenue recogmtion under lease begins when the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical use of the leased asset

Generally this occurs on the lease commencement date The determination of who is the owner for accounting purposes of the

tenant improvements determines the nature of the leased asset and when revenue recognition undera lease begins If the Company

is the owner for accounting pCiposes ofthe tenant improvements then the leased asset is the finished
space

and revenue recognition

begins when the lessee takes possession of the finished space typically when the improvements are substantially complete If the

Company concludes it is not the owner for accounting purposes of the tenant improvements the lessee is the owner then the

leased asset is the unimproved space and any tenant improvement allowances funded under the lease are accounted for as lease

incentives which are amortized as reduction to the revenue recognized over the term of the lease In these circumstances the

Company commences revenue recognition when the lessee takes possession of the unimproved space
for the lessee to construct

their own improvements

The Company considers number of factors to evaluate whether it or the lessee is the owner of the tenant improvements for

accounting purposes These factors include

whether the lease stipulates how and on what tenant improvement allowance may be spent

whether the tenant or the Company retains legal title to the improvements

the uniqueness of the improvements

the expected economic life of the tenant improvements relative to the length of the lease

who constructs or directs the construction of the improvements and

67



RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

whether the tenant or the Company is obligated to fund cost overruns

The determination of who owns the tenant improvements for accounting purposes is subject to significant judgment In making

that determination the Company considers all ofthe above factors No one factor however necessarily establishes its determination

Rental income is recognized on straight-line basis over the term of each lease The difference between rental income earned- on

straight-line basis and the cash rent due under the provisions of the lease is recorded as deferred rent receivable and is included

as- component of Accounts and notes receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance-sheets

Reimbursements from tenants for recoverable real estate taxes and operating expenses are accrued as revenue in the penod the

applicable expenditures are incurred The Company makes certain assumptions and judgments in estimating the reimbursements

at the end of each reporting period

The Company records lease termination income in Other property income upon execution of termination letter agreement
when all of the conditions of such agreement have been fulfilled the tenant is no longer occupying the property and collectibility

is reasonably assured Upon early lease termination the Company provides for losses related to recognized tenant specific

intangibles and other assets or adjusts the remaining useful life of the assets if determined to be appropriate in accordance- with

its policy related to loss on lease terminations

The Company recorded percentage rental income in lieu of base rent or contingent percentage rental income of $5 356 $5 496

and $6269 including $39 $58 and $62 respectively reflected as discontinued operations for the years ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 respectively The Company policy is to defer recognition of
contingent rental income until the specified

target i.e breakpoint that triggers the contingent rental income is achieved

Profits from sales of real estate are not recognized under the full accrual method by the Company unless sale is consummated

the buyer initial and continuing investments are adequate to demonstrate commitment to pay for the property the Companys
receivable if applicable is not subject to future subordination the Company has transferred to the buyer the usual risks and rewards

of ownership and the Company does not have substantial continuing involvement with the property During the year -ended

December 312012 the Company sold 31 investment properties Refer to Note for further discussion Eleven and eight investment

properties were sold during the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively excluding investment properties partially

sold to the Companys unconsolidated joint ventures

Allowance for DoubifulAccounts Receivable balances outstanding include base rents tenant reimbursements and receivables

attributable to the straight-lining of rental commitments An allowance for the uncollectible portion of accrued rents and accounts

receivable is determined on tenant-specific basis through an analysis of balances outstanding historical bad debt levels tenant

creditworthiness and current economic trends Additionally estimates of the expected recovery of pre-petition and post-petition

claims with respect to tenants in bankruptcy are considered in assessing the collectibility of the related receivables The allowancç

for doubtful accountsalso includes allowances for notes receivable Managements estimate of the collectibility of accrued rents

accounts receivable and notes receivable is based on the best information available to management at the time of evaluation

Rental Expense Rental
expense associated with land and office space that the Company leases under non-cancellable operating

leases is recorded on straight line basis over the term of each lease The difference between rental
expenses incurred on straight-

line basis and rent payments due under the provisions of the lease agreement is recorded as deferred liability and is included as

component of Other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets See Note for additional information pertaining

to these leases
--

Loan Fees Loan fees are generally amortized using the effective interest method or other methods which approximate the

effective interest method over the life of the related loan as component of interest expense Debt prepayment penalties and

certain fees associated with exchanges or modifications of debt are expensed as incurred as component of interest expense

Income Taxes The Company has elected to be taxed as REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code As REIT the

Company generally will not be subject to U.S federal income tax on the taxable income the Company currently distributes to its

shareholders

Additionally GAAP prescribes recognition threshold and measurement attributable for the financial statement recognition of

tax position taken or expected to be taken in tax return The Company records -a benefit for uncertain income tax positions if

the result of tax position meets more likely than not recognition threshold
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SegmentReporiing The Company assesses and measures the operating results of its properties based on net property operations

The Company internally evaluates the operating performance of its portfolio of properties and does not differentiate properties by

geography size or type. Each of the Companys investment properties is considered separate operating segment as each property

earns revenue and incurs expenses individual operating results are reviewed and discrete financial information is available

However the Company properties are aggregated into one reportable segment as the Company evaluates the collective

performance of the properties

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 2012 guidance on how to measure fair value and on what disclosures to provide about fair value measurements

has been converged with international standards The adoption required additional disclosures regarding fair value measurements

see Note 18

Effective June 30 2012 parent company that ceases to havea controlling financial interest in subsidiary that is in-substance

real estate because that subsidiary has defaulted on its non-recourse debt is required to apply real estate sales guidance to determine

whether to derecognize the in-substance real estate The adoption did not have mny effect on the Companys consolidated financial

statements

Acquisitions

On October 302012 the Company paid $2806 to an unaffiliated third party to acquire fully occupied 45000 square foot building

located at the Companys Hickory Ridge multi-tenant retail property that was subject to ground lease with the Company prior

to the transaction

During the year ended December 31 2011 the Company acquired two additional phases of existing wholly-owned multi-tenant

retail operating properties in separate transactions as follows

Square Purchase

Date Footage Property Type Property Name Price

July 2011 76 100 Multi tenant retail Greenwich Center II 720

July22 2011 44 000 Multi tenant retail Gateway Station III 085

120100 16805

No debt was assumed in either acquisition but both properties were subsequently added as collateral to the secured credit facility

which has since been amended andrestated See Note 10 for further discussion

Amount represents the purchase price prior to customary prorations at closing Separately the Company recognized acquisition

transaction costs of $48 related to these acquisitions

Discontinued Operations and Investment Properties Held for Sale

The Company employs business model that utilizes asset management as key component of monitoring its investment properties

to ensure that each property continues to meet expected investment returns and standards This strategy incorporates the sale of

non-core and non-strategic assets that no longer meet the Companys criteria
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The Company sold 31 properties during the year ended December 31 2012 as summarized below

Mortgage NetSales

Square Debt Proceeds/

Property Tpe Footage Consideration Extinguished Outflow Gain

Single-user retail 13800 5800 5702 915

Single-user office 501000 23570 23570 6847

Single-user retail 251

Multi-tenant retail 132600 19050 18048

Single-user retail 75200 8015 7999 521

75100 3250 3126

116100 22400 22353 5457

75 7750 7524

78000 4096 3918

818700 148000 117183 29684 2388

Single-useroffice 117600 5560 5254 ---

Single-user retail 60800 13000 12799 693

Single user retail 37 300 150 140 633

Single-user retail 79000 10800 10065

Multi-tenant retail 203400 36790 34465 4445

4420300 475631 254306 211381 30141

This property was transferred to the lender through deed-in-lieu of foreclosure transaction

The Company sold 13 former Mervyns properties located throughout California in single transaction on September 18 2012 No gain or

loss was recognized upon disposition as the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1100 based upon the negotiated sales price less

costs to sell Refer to Note 17 for further detail Proceeds from the sale along with restricted escrows of $19 644 held by the lender were

used to payoff in its entirety along s.Tth accrued interest the $116400 outstanding loan thÆtwassecured by the Companys entire portfolio

of 23 former Mervyns properties

The terms of the sale of threeproperties located near Dallas Texas were negotiated as single transaction No gain or loss was recognized

upon disposition as the Company recognized an impairment charge of $5528 based
upon

the negotiated sales price less costs to sell Refer

to Note 17 for further detail

No gain or loss recognized upon disposition as the Company recorded impairment charges based upon the negotiated sales price less costs

to sell Refer to Note 17 for further detail

The Company incurred approximately $29127 of lease-related expenditures during 2012 to extend the terms of the lease at the Aon Hewitt

West Campus prior to disposition

The terms of the disposition of Carrier Towne Crossing and Southwest Crossing were negotiated as single tratisaction

The Company also received net proceeds of $11203 and recorded gains of $7843 from condemnation awards earnouts and the

sale of parcels at certain operating properties The aggregate proceeds net of closing costs from the property sales and additional

transactions during the year ended December 31 2012 totaled $453320 with aggregate gains of $37984

During 2011 the Company sold 11 properties The dispositions and additional transactions including the partial sale of multi-

tenant retail property to the Companys RioCanjoint venture see Note 13 condemnation awards eamouts and the sale of parcel

at one of its operating properties resulted in sales proceeds net of closing costs to the Company of$ 195948 with aggregate gains

of $30415

During 2010 the Company sold eight properties which resulted in net sales proceeds of $21024 gain on sale of $23806 and

extinguishment of $106791 of debt In addition during 2010 the Company partially sold eight properties to its RioCan joint

venture which resulted in net sales proceeds of $48616 loss on sale of $385 and extinguishment of $97888 of debt

Date Property Name

February 12012 CVS Jacksonville

April10 2012 GMAC Insurance Bldg

September 18 2012 Various

August 17 2012 Cost Plus Distribution Center Single-user industrial

September 25 2012

September 28 2012

Various

Winco Ventura

1035800

1000400

October 112012

October 2012 Mervyns Bakersfield Single-user retail

Giant Eagle

100400

63000 16300 46555 8235

97253

Single-user retail

November 2012 Pros Ranch Market Single-user retail

November 15 2012 Mervyns McAllen Single-user retail

November 16 2012 Ann Hewin west Campus Single-user office

December 10 2012 American Exp-Phoenix

December 13 2012

December 19 2012

December 24 2012

Csrmax San Anionio

Mor Furniture

Mervyns Fontana

December 31 2012 Various
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As of December 31 2012 the Company had entered into contracts to sell Mervyns Ridgecrest 59000 square
foot single-user

retail property
located in Ridgecrest California Mervyns Highland an 80500 square

foot single-user retail property
located in

Highland California and Dicks Sporting Goods Fresno 77400 square
iftiot multi-tenant retail property located in Fresno

California These properties qualified
for held for sale accounting treatment upon meeting all applicable GAAP criteria on or prior

to December 31 2012 at which time depreciation and amortization were ceased As such the assets and liabilities associated with

these properties are separately classified as held for sale in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 2012 and the

operatioUs
for all periods presented are classified as discontinued opetations in the consolidated statements of operations and other

comprehensive loss No properties were classified as held for sale as of December 312011 The followingtable presents the assets

and liabilities associated with the held for sale properties

Assets

Land building and other improvements

Accumulated depreciation

Other assets

Assets associated with investment properties held for sale

Liabilities

Other liabilities

Liabilities associated with investment properties.held for sale

December 31
2012

8746

17
8729

193

8922

60

60

The Company does not allocate general corporate
interest expense to discontinued operations The results of operations for the

investment properties that are accounted for as discontinued operations are presented in the table below

Revenues

Rental income

Tenant recovery income

Other property income

Total revenues

Expenses

Property operating expenses

Real estate taxes

Depreciation and amortization

Provision for impairment of investment properties

Loss on lease terminations

General and administrative expenses

Gain on debt extinguishment

Interest expense

Other expense income net

Total expenses

Loss from discontinued operations net

Transactions with Previously-Related Parties

1360

16467 25447

172 449

______________
74830 75712

24196 28884 22225

Previously the Company considered the Inland Group Inc and its affiliates or the Group to be related parties Each of Daniel

Goodwin and Brenda Gujral is significant shareholder and/or principal of the Group or holds directorships and is an

executive officer of affiliates of the Group With respect to the Company Mr Goodwin was beneficial owner of more than 5%

of the Companys common stock Until the public sale of Class Acommon stock in April 2012 and as of the date of such sale Mr

Goodwinbeneficially owned more than 5% of each class of the Companys Class common stock In June 2012 majority of

the shares ofthe Companys Class Acommon stock and Class common stock beneficially owned by Mr Goodwin were transferred

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

27602 41958 48259

1108 3883 3781

364 105 1447

29074 45946 53487

4124

3750

19187

32331

124

35

2645

1248

12502

24519

40

12314

53270

7690

5693

24603

12027

701

71



RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

out of record holder accounts of certain of Mr Goodwins affihiates.According to the Schedule 13D filed on October 2012 Mr
Goodwin has not reported beneficial ownership of more than 5% of any of the Companys securities Ms Gujral ceased tobe
director of the Company on May 31 2012 Because no members of the Group can significantly influence the management or

operating policies of the Company and no members of the Group are principal owners of the Company the Company no longer
considers the Group to be related party

The Company had entered into transactions with the Group primarily through service agreements During 2012 the Company
provided written notice of termination of all of these agreements Transactions involving the Groupare set forth in the following
table

Year Ended December 31 Unpaid Amount as of December 31
Services 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011

Investment advisor 116 269 272 22

Loan servicing 141 186 282

Mortgage financing 88

Institutional investor relationship services 18

Legal 231 352 343 52 110

Computer services 1138 1160 1072 202 284
Office facilities management services 180 88 86 127 22

Other service agreements 561 581 581 15

Office rent and reimbursements 793 969 949 121 310

Total
3160 3605 3691 517 748

it The Company provided written notice of termination of these agreements all of which were effective during 2012 except the office

facilities management services agreement and the legal services agreement which will be effective during the first and second quarters of
2013 respectively

The office lease expired on November 30 2012 The Company executed lease for new corporate space with an external third party and
relocated during the fourth quarter of 2012

Amount excludes $2302 representing reimbursement of third-party costs

Amount excludes $898 representing reimbursement of third-party costs

Amount excludes $276 representing reimbursement of third-party costs

Marketable Securities

As of December31 2012 the Company held no marketable securities The following table summarizes the Companys investment
in marketable securities as of December 31 2011

Total

Common Preferred Available-for-Sale

Stock Stock SecuritIes

As of December31 2011

Fair value 11550 18835 30385

Amortizedcost basis 28997 38242 67239

Total other-than-temporary impairment recognized 23889 31308 55197
Adjusted cost basis 5108 6934 12042

Net gains in accumulated OCT 6615 11942 18557
Net losses in accumulated OCT 173 41 214

This amount represents the gross unrealized losses of one common stock security with fair value of $765 as of December 31

2011 This security had been in continuous unrealized loss position for less than 12 months as of December31 2011

This amount represents the gross unrealized losses of one preferred stock security with fair value of $130 as of December 31
2011 This security had been in continuous unrealized loss position for less than 12 months as of December 31 2011
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The following table summarizes activity related to the Companys marketable securities

Year Ended December 31

2012 201ii 2010

Net unrØalizedOCI gain loss 4748 3486 13742

Net gain on sales and redemptions of securities 25840 277 4007

Compensation Plans

The Companys Equity Compensation Plan Equity Plan subjeàt to certain conditions authorizes the issuance of stock options

restricted stock stock Æppreciatión rights and other similarawards to the Companys employees in connection with compensation

and incentive arrangements that may be established by the Companys board Of directors

The following represents summary of the Companys unvested restricted shares all of which were granted to the Companys

executives pursuant
to the Equity Plan as of and for the year ended December 31 2012

Balance at January 2011

Shares granted

Shares vested

Shares forfeited
_______________

Balance at December 31 2011

Shares granted

Shares vested

Shares forfeited
_______________

Balance at December 31 2012

Of the shares granted 50% vest on each of the third and fifth anniversaries of the grant date

During the years ended December 3120122011 and 2010 the Company recorded compensation expense
of $211 $46 and none

respectively related to unvested restricted shares Asof December 31 201 total unrecognized compensation expense related to

unvested restricted shares was $515 which is expected to be amortized over weighted average term of 2.9 years

The Companys Independent Director Stock Option Plan Option Plan as amended provides subject to certain conditions for

the grant to each independent director of options to acquire shares following their becoming director and for the grant of additional

optionsto acquire shares onthe date of each annual shareholders meeting As of December 312012 and 2011 options to purchase

84 and70 shares of common stock respectively had been granted ofwhich options to purchase one share had been exercised and

none had expired

The Company calculates the per share weighted average fair value of options granted on the date of the grant using.the Black

Scholes option pricing model utilizing certain assumptions regarding the expected dividend yield risk-free interest rate expected

life and expected volatility rate Thefair value and weighted average assumptions are as follows

Year Ended December31

2012 2911
___________

Grant date fair value per share option 0.92 3.20

Dividend yield
5.66% 3.56% 1.87%

Expected volatility
21.65% 30.00% 35.00%

Expected life in years

Risk-free interest rate

Compensation expense of $49 $63 and $48 related to these stock options was recorded during the years
ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Weighted Average

Unvested Grant Date Fair

Restricted Value per
Shares Restricted Share

17.13

14 17.13

32 17.38

46 17.30

2010

4.55

0.67% 1.14% 1.13%
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Leases

The majority of revenues fromthe Companys properties consist of rents received under long-term operating leases Some leases

provide for fixed base rent paid monthly in advance aiLd for the reimbursement by tenants to the Company for the tenants pro rata

share of certain operating expenses including real estate taxes special assessments insurance utilities common area maintenance

management fees and certain building repairs paid by the landlord and recoverable under the terms of the lease Under these leases

the landlord
pays

all
expenses and is reimbursed by the tenant for the tenants pro rata share of recoverable expenses paid Certain

other tenants are subject to net leases which provide that the tenant is responsible for fixed base rent as well as all costs and

expenses associated with occupancy Under net leases where all expenses are paid directly by the tenant rather than the landlord

such
expenses are not included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensiveloss Under

net leases where all expenses are paid byhelandlord subject to reimbursement by the tenant the expenses ae included in Property
operating expenses and reimbursements are included in Tenant recovery income in the accompanying consolidated statements

of operations and other comprehensive loss

In certain municipalities the Company is required to remit sales taxes to governmental authorities based upon the rental income
received from properties in those regions These taxes may be reimbursed by the tenant to the Company depending upon the terms

of the applicable tenant lease As with other recoverable expenses the presentation of the remittance and reimbursement of these

taxes is on gross basis whereby sales tax expensesare included in Property operating expenses and sales tax reimbursements

are included in Other property income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive
loss Such taxes remitted to governmental authorities which are reimbursed by tenants exclusive of amounts attributable to

discontinued operations were $1930 $1946 and $1 921 for the
years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Minimum lease payments to be received under operating leases excluding payments under master lease agreements and assuming
no expiring leases are renewed are as follows

Minimum

Lease

Payments

2013 432553

2014 378759

2015 324001

2016 276672

2017 223919

Thereafter 922607

Total 558511

The remaining lease terms
range

from less than one year to mOre than 68 years

In certain properties where there are large tenants othertenats may have co-tenancy provisions within their leases that provide

right of termination or reduced rent if certain large tenants or shadow tenants discontinue operations The Company doesnot

expect that such co-tenancy provisions will have material impact on its future operating results

The Company leases land under non-cancellable operating leases at certain of its properties expiring in various
years from 2023

to 21 05 The related ground lease rent expense is included in Property operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations and other comprehensive loss In addition the Conipany leases office
space for certain management

offices and its corporate office In the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss office

rent expense related to property management operations is included in Property operating expenses and office rent expense
related to corporate office operations is included in General and administrative

expenses

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Ground lease rent expense 10288 10094 10252

Office rent expense 846 833 757
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Minimum future rental payments to be paid under the ground leases and office leases are as follows

Minimum

Lease

Payments

2013 6624

2014 7323

2015 7101

2016 7165

2017 7312

Thereafter 545402

Total 580927

Mortgages and Notes Payable

The following table summarizes the Companys mortgages and notes payable

December 31 December 31

2012 2011

Fixed rate mortgage loans 2078162 2691323

Variable rate construction loans 10419 79599

Mortgages payable 2088581 2770922

Premium net of accumulated amortization 10858

Discount net of accumulated amortization 1492 2003

Mortgages payable net 2087089 2779777

Notes payable
125.000 138900

Margin payable
7541

Mortgages and notes payable net 2212089 2926218

Includes $76055 and $76269 of variable rate mortgage debt that was swapped to fixed rate as of December31

2012 and 2011 respectively

Mortgages Payable

Mortgages payable outstanding as of December 31 2012 were $2088581 excluding mortgage discount of $1492 net of

accumulated amortization and had weighted ayerage
interest rate of 6.17% Of this amount $2078162 had fixed rates ranging

from 3.50% to 8.00% 9.78% for the Companys matured mortgage payable and weighted average fixed rate of 6.19% at

December 31 2012 The weighted average interest rate for the fixed rate mortgages payable excludes the impact of the discount

amortization The remaining $10419 of mortgages payable represented variable rate construction loan with an interest rate of

2.50% based on London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR at December 31 2012 Properties with net carrying value of $3242425

at December 31 2012 and related tenant leases are pledged as collateral for the mortgage loans and consolidated joint venture

property with net carrying value of $26097 at December 31 2012 and related tenant leases are pledged as collateral for the

construction loan As of December 31 2012 the Companys outstanding mortgage indebtedness had weighted average years to

maturity of 5.5 years

During the year ended December 31 2012 the Company obtained mortgages payable proceeds of $319691 of which $3.1 8186

represents mortgages payable originaied on 11 properties and $1505 relates to draws on construction loans made mortgages

payable repayments of $939594 excluding principal amortization of $34989 and received forgiveness of debt of $27449 The

mortgages payable originated during the year ended December 31 2012 have fixed interest rates ranging from 3.50% to 5.25%

weighted average interest rate of 4.48% and weighted average years to maturity at origination of 9.7 years The fixed and

variable interest rates of the loans repaid during the year ended December 312012 ranged from 2.50% to 7.50% and had weighted

average interest rate of 5.54%

Mortgages payable outstanding as of December 31 2011 were $2779777 and had weighted average
interest rate of 6.13% Of

this amount $2700178 had fixed rates ranging from 4.6 1% to 8.00% 9.78% for matured mortgages payable and weighted

average fixed rate of6.20% at December 312011 The weighted average
interest rate for the fixed rate mortgages payable excludes

the impact of premium and discount amortization The remaining $79599 of mortgages payable represented variable rate

construction loans with weighted average
interest rate of 3.77% at December 31 2011 Properties with net carrying value of
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$4086595 at December 31 2011 and related tenant leases are pledged as collateral for the mortgage loans Properties with net

carrying value of $126585 at December 31 2011 and related tenant leases are pledged as collateral for the construction loans As

of December 31 2011 the Companys outstanding mortgage indebtedness had weighted average years to maturity of 6.1 years

The majority of the Companys mortgages payable require monthly payments of principal and interest as well as reserves for real

estate taxes and certain other costs Although the mortgage loans obtained by the Company are generally non-recourse occasionally

when it is deemed necessary the Company may guarantee all or portion of the debt on full-recourse basis As of December 31

2012 the Company had guaranteed $16431 of the outstanding mortgage and construction loans with maturity dates ranging from

May 2013 through September 30 2016 see Note 19 At times the Company has borrowed funds financed as part of cross-

collateralized package with cross-default provisions in order to enhance the financial benefits In those circumstances one or

more of the properties may secure the debt of another of the Companys properties Individual decisions regarding interest rates

loan-to-value debt yield fixed versus variable rate financing term and related matters are often based on the condition of the

financial markets at the time the debt is issued which may vary from time to time

As of December 31 2012 the Company had $26865 mortgage payable University Square that had matured and had not been

repaid or refinanced In the second quarter of2O 10 the Company ceased making the monthly debt service payment on this matured

mortgage payable the non-payment of which amounts to $2627 annually and does not result in noncompliance under any of the

Companys other mortgages payable or unsecured credit agreements The Company has attempted to negotiate and has made offers

to the lender to determine an appropriate course of action under the non-recourse loan agreement however no assurance can be

provided that negotiations will result in favorable outcome As of December 31 2012 the Company had accrued $7396 of

interest related to this mortgage payable

Some of the mortgage payable agreements include periodic reporting requirements and/or debt service
coverage ratios which allow

the lender to control property cash flow if the Company fails to meet such requirements Management believes the Company was

in compliance with such provisions as of December 31 2012

Notes Payable

The following table summarizes the Companys notes payable

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

1W JV Senior Mezzanine Note 85000 85000

1W JV Junior Mezzanine Note 40000 40000

Mezzanine Note 13900

Notes payable 125000 138900

Notes payable outstanding as of December 31 2012 and 2011 were $125 000 and $138900 respectively and had weighted

average interest rate of 12 80% and 12 62% respectively The December 31 2012 balance represents notes payable proceeds from

third party lender related to the debt refinancing transaction for 1W JV 2009 LLC 1W JV which is wholly-owned entity as

of December 31 2012 The notes had fixed interest ratçs of 12 24% and 14 00% were scheduled to mature on December 2019

and were secured by 100% of the Companys equity interest in the 1W JV investment properties On February 12013 the Company
repaid the entire balance of the 1W JY senior and junior mezzanine notes and incurred 5% prepayment fee

During the
year ended December 31 2010 the Company borrowed $13900 from third party in the form of mezzanine note

and used the proceeds as partial paydown of mortgage payable as required by the lender The mezzanine note bore interest at

11 00% and was scheduled to mature on December 16 2013 On July 2012 the Company repaid the entire balance of this

mezzanine note

Margin Payable

The Company purchased portion of its securities through margin account As of December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company
had recorded payable of none and $7541 respectively for securities purchased on margin Interest

expense on this debt in the

amount of $29 $51 and $96 was recognized within Interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

and other comprehensive loss for the
years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively During the years ended

December 312012 and 2011 the Company did not borrow on its margin account but paid down $7541 and $2476 respectively
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Debt Maturities

The following table shows the scheduled maturities and required principal payments of the Companys mortgages payable notes

payable and unsecured credit facility as described in Note 10 as of December 31 2012 for each of the next five years and

thereafter and does not reflect the impact of any 2013 debt activity

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total

236194 178199 452355 38239 286060 887115 $2078162

125000 125000

Unsecured credit facility tØrmloahd 300000 .- 300000

Total fixed rate debt 236194 178199 452355 338239 2806O 1012115 2503162

Variable rate debt

Mortgages payable 10419 10419

Unsecured credit facility line of credit 80000 80000

Total variable rate debt 10419 80000 90419

Total maturing debt 236194 188618 532355 33$239 286060 1012115 $2593581

Weighted average interest rate on debt

Fixed rate debt

Variable rate debt
_____________ _____________ ____________ _____________ _____________

Total
_____________ ____________ _____________ _____________

The debt maturity table does not include mortgage discount of $1492 net of accumulated amortization which was outstanding as of

December3l2012

Includes $76055 of variable rate mortgage debt that was swapped to fixed rate.

On February 12013 the Company repaid the entire balance of the 1W JV senior and junior mezzanine notes and incurred 5% prepayment

fee

In July 2012 the Company entered into an interest rate swaptransaction to convert the variable rate prntion of $300000 of LIBOR based

debt to fixed rate through February 242016 the maturity date of the Companys unsecured term loan The swap effectively converts one-

month floating rate LIBOR to fixed rate of 0.53875% over thç term of the swap

As of December 31 2012 the weighted average years to maturity of consolidated indebtedness was 5.2 years

The maturity table excludes accelerated principal payments that may be required as result of covenants or conditions included

in certain loan agreements due to the uncertainty in the timing and amount of these payments As of Decembet 31 2012 the

Company was making accelerated principal payments on one mortgage payable with an outstanding.principal balance of $59906

which is reflected in the year corresponding to the loan maturity date The mortgage payable is scheduled to mature on December

2034 however if the Company is not able to cure this arrangement it will be fully amortized and repaid on December 2019

During the year ended December 31 2012 the mpany made accelerated principal pÆymeætsof $7291 with respect to this

mortgage payable $26865 mortgage payable that had matured in 2010 and which remains outstanding as of December 31

2012 is included in the 2013 column The COmpany plans on addressing its mortgages payable maturities by using proceeds from

its unsecured credit facility and through asset sales and other capital markets transactions

10 Credit Facility

On February 24 2012 the Company amended and restated its secured credit agreement with KeyBank National Association and

other financial institutions provide fOr senior unsecured credit facility in the aggregate amount of $650000 The amended and

restated credit facility consists of $350000 seniOr unsecured revolving line of credit and $300000 unsecured term loan The

Company has the ability to increase available borrowings up to $850000 in certain circumstances The senior unsecured revolving

line of credit matures on February 24 2015 and the unsecured term loan matures on February 24 2016 The Company has one

year extension option on both the unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured term loan which it may exercise as long as

there is no existing default it is in compliance with all covenants and it pays an extension fee equal to 0.25% of the commitment

amount being extended

Maturing debt

Fixed rate debt

Mortgages payable

Notes payable

5.76% 7.19% 5.81% 3.18% 5.73% 7.22%

2.50% 2.50%

5.76% 6.93% 5.31% 3.18% 5.73% 7.22%

6.11%

2.50%

5.98%
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In July 2012 the Company entered into an interest rate swap transaction with one of the financial institutions associated with the

unsecured credit facility to convert the variable rate portion of $300000 of LIBOR-based debt to fixed rate through February

242016 the maturity date of the Companys unsecured term lOan The swap was determined to be effective on July 31 2012 and

effectively converts one-month floating rate LIBOR to fixed rate of 0.53875% over the term of the swap See Note 11 for further

details

As of December 31 2012 the terms of the agreement stipulate

monthly interest-only payments on the outstanding balance at rate of LIBOR plus margin ranging from 1.75% to

2.50% depending on leverage levels In the event the Company becomes investment grade rated by two of the three

major rating agencies Fitch Moodys and Standard Poors the pricing on the credit facility will be determined based

on an investment grade pricing matrix with the interest rate equal to LIBOR plus margin ranging from 1.15% to 1.95%

depending on the Companys credit rating

quarterly unused fees ranging from 0.25% to 0.35% depending on the undrawn amount however in the event the

Company becomes investment grade rated by two of the three major rating agencies the unused fee will be replaced by

facility fee ranging from 0.20% to 0.45% depending on the Companys investment grade rating

the requirement for pool of unencumbered assets to support the facility subject to certain covenants and minimum

requirements related to the value debt service coverage occupancy and number of properties included in the collateral

pool

maximum advance rate of 60% of the implied value of the unencumbered pool assets determined by applying 7.5%

capitalization rate to adjusted net operating income for those properties and

$20000 of recourse cross-default permissions and $100000 of non-recourse cross-default permissions subject to certain

carve-outs including $26865 of non-recourse indebtedness that was in default as of December 312012 and allowances

for maturity defaults under non-recourse indebtedness for up to 90 days subject to extension at the discretion of the lenders

This full recourse credit agreement requires compliance with certain cOvenants including leverage ratio fixed charge coverage

maximum secured debt covenant minimum net worth requirement distribution limitation and investment restrictions as

well as limitations on the Companys ability to incur recourse indebtedness It also contains customary default provisions including

the failure to timely pay debt service payable thereunder the failure to comply with the Companys financial and operating covenants

and the failure to pay when the consolidated indebtedness becomes due In the event the lenders declare default as defined in

the credit agreement this could result in an acceleration of all outstanding borrOwings on the line of credit As Of December 31

2012 management believes the Company was in compliance with all of the covenants arid default provisions under the credit

agreement and the Companys current business plan which is based on managements expectations of operating performance

indicates that it will be able to operate in compliance with these covenants and provisions for the next twelve months and beyond

As of December 31 2012 the interest rates of the revolving line of credit and unsecured term loan were 2.50% and 2.79%

respectively Upon closing the amended credit agreement the Company borrowed the full amount of the term loan As of

December 312012 the Company had full availability under the revolving line of credit of which it had borrowed $80000 leaving

S270000 available

The Cornpaiiy previously had $585000 secured credit facility that consisted of $435000 senior secured revolving line of credit

and $150000 secured tern loan The secured credit facility bore interest at rate of LIBOR plus margin of2.75% to 4.00%

As of December 31 2011 the outstanding balance on the credit facility was $555000

11 Derivative Instruments

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives

The Company is exposed to certain risks arising from both its business operations and economic conditions The Company

principally manages its exposures to wide variety of business and operational risks through management of its core business

activities The Company manages economic risk including interest rate liquidity and credit risk piimarily by managing the amount

sources and duration of its .debt funding and to limited extent the use of derivative instruments

The Company has entered into derivative instruments to manage exposures that arise from business activities that result in the

payment of future known and uncertain cash amounts the value of which are determined by interest rates The Companys derivative
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instruments described below are used to manage differences in the amount timing and duration of the Companys known or

expected cash payments principally related to certain of the Companys borrowings

Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk

The Companys objective in using interest rate derivatives is to manage its exposure to interest rate movements and add stability

to interest expense To accomplish this objective the Company uses interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate risk management

strategy Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable rate amounts from counterparty in

exchange for the Company making fixed rate payments over the life of the agreement without exchange of the underlying notional

amount

The Company utilizes four interest rate swaps to hedge the variable cash flows associated with variable rate debt The effective

portion ofchanges in the fair value ofderivatives that are designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges is recorded in Accumulated

other comprehensive income and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction

affects earnings The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of the derivatives is recognized directly in earnings

In July 2012 the Company entered into an interest rate swap with notional amount of $300000 that terminates on February 24

2016 the maturity date of the Companys unsecured term loan see Note 10 The swap was determined to be effective on July

31 2012 and effectively converts one-month floating rate LIBOR into fixed rate of 0.53875% on $300000 of the Companys

LIBOR-based debt over the term of the swap As of December 31 2012 the fair value of the Companys $300000 interest rate

swap was liability of $989 which is included in Other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets

Amounts reported in Accumulated other comprehensive loss income related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest

expense as interest payments are made on the Companys variable rate debt Over the next 12 months the Company estimates that

an additional $1856 will be reclassified as an increase to interest expense

The Company had the following outstandi interest rate derivatives that were designatedas cash flow hedges of interest rate risk

Number of Instruments Notional

December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31

Interest Rate Derivatives 2012 2011 2012 2011

Interest Rate Swap 376055 76269

The table below presentsthe estimated fair value of the Companys derivative financial instruments as well as their classification

in the consolidated balance sheets The valuation techniques utilized are described in Note 18 to the consolidated financial

statements

Liability Derivatives

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

Balance Sheet Fair Balance Sheet Fair

Location Value Location Value

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges

Interest rate swaps
Other Liabilities 2783 Other Liabilities 2891

The table below presents the effect of the Companys derivative financial instruments in the consolidated statements of operations

and other comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011

Amount of Loss

Location of Loss Recognized in Income on

Recognized In Derivative

Location of Loss Amount of Loss Income on Derivative Ineffective Portion and

Derivatives in Amount of Loss Reclassified from Reclassified from Ineffective Portion Amount Excluded from

Cash Flow Recognized in OCI Accumulated OCI Accumulated OCI and Amount Effectiveness Testing and

Hedging on Derivative into Income into Income Excluded from Missed Forecasted

Relationships Effective Portion Effective Portion Effective Portion Effectiveness Testing Transactions

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Interest rate swaps 1458 1346 Interest Expense 1566 2557 Other Expense 623 314
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Credit-risk-related Contingent Features

Derivative financial investments expose the Company to credit risk in the event of non-performance by the counterparties under

the terms of the interest rate hedge agreements The Company believes it minimizes credit risk by transacting with major

creditworthy financial institutions As part of the Companys ongoing control procedures it monitors the credit ratings of

coUnterparties and the exposure to any single entity which minimizes credit risk concentration The Company believes the potential

impact of realized losses from counterparty non-performance is not significant

The Company has agreements with each of its derivative counterparties that contain provision whereby if the Company defaults

on the related indebtedness including default where repayment of the indebtedness has not been accelerated by the lender then

the Company could also be declared in default on its corresponding derivative obligation The Company was not in default with

respect to these agreements at December 31 2012

The Companys agreements with each of its derivative counterparties also contain aprovision whereby if the Company consolidates

with merges with or into or transfers all or substantially all of its assets to another entity and the creditworthiness of the resulting

surviving or transferee entity is materially weaker than the Companys the counterparty has the right to terminate the derivative

obligations As of December 31 2012 the termination value of derivatives in liability position which includes accrued interest

of $148 but excludes any adjustment for non-performance risk which the Company has deemed not significant was $2952 As

of December 31 2012 the Company has not posted any collateral related to these agreements If the Company had breached any

of these provisions at December 31 2012 it could have been required to settle its obligations under the agreements at their

termination value of $2952

12 Co-venture Obligation

On December 2009 the Company transferred 23% noncontrolling interest in 1W JY to Inland Equity Investors LLC Inland

Equity related party at the time of transfer in exchange for $50000 The organizational documents of 1W JV permitted the

Company to call Inland Equitys interest in 1W JV for the greater of either afair rnarketvalueof Inland Equitys interest or

$50000 plus an additional distribution of $5000 and any unpaid preferred return or promote On April 262012 the Company

paid $55397 representing the agreed upon repurchase price and accrued but unpaid preferred return to Inland Equity to repurchase

their 23% interest in 1W JV resulting in the Company owning 100% of 1W JV

Since the outside ownership interest in 1W JV was subject to call arrangement the original transaction did not qualif as sale

and was accounted for as financing arrangement Accordingly the amount due to Inland Equity was reflected as financing in

Co-venture obligation and Accounts payable and accrued expenses as of December 312011 in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets

Pursuant to the terms of the 1W JV agreement Inland Equity earned preferred return of 6% annually paid monthly and cumulative

on any unpaid balance Inland Equity earned an additional 5% annually paid quarterly if the portfolio net income was above

target amount as specified in the agreement Expense was recorded in the amount due to Inland Equity as provided by the LLC

agreement and is included in Co-venture obligation expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and

other comprehensive loss

13 Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

Investment Summary

The following table summanzes the Company investments in unconsolidated joint ventures

Ownership Interest Investment at

Date of December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
Joint Venture Investment 2012 2011 2012 2011

MS Inland Fund LLC 4/27/2007 20.0% 20.0% 8334 9246

Hampton Retail Colorado 8/31/2007 95 9% 95 9% 124 1124

RC Inland L.P 9/30/2010 20.0% 20.0% 39468 53
Oak Property and Casualty LLC 10/1/2006 25.0% 25.0% 8946 8759

Britomart 12/15/2011 N/A 15.0% 8239

56872 81168
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The MS Inland Fund LLC MS Inland jomt venture was formed with large state pension fund the Company is the managing member

of the venture and earns fees for providing property management acquisition and leasing services

The ownership percentage in Hampton Retail ColoradoL.L.C or Hampton is based upon the Companys pro rata capital contributions

to date Subject to the maximum capital contributions specified within the organizational documents the Companys ownership percentage

could increase to 96.3%

The joint venture RioCan was formed with wholly-owned subsidiary of RioCan Real Estate Investment Trust REIT based in Canada

subsidiary of the Company is the general partner ofthej oint venture and earns fees for providing property management asset management

and other customary services

Oak Property Casualty LLC Oak Property andCasualty or the Captive is accounted for as an equity method investment by the Company

pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Oak Property and Casualty organizational documents Refer to Note for further information

In non-cash transaction on December 152011 the Company through consolidated joint venture contributed an $8239 note receivable

to two joint ventures under common control collectively referred to as Britomart in return for 15% noncontrolling ownership interest

Neither the Company nor its consolidated joint venture had any management responsibilities with respect to Britomart which as of

December 31 2011 owned one vacant land parcel and one single-tenant office building in Auckland New Zealand

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the organizational documents the noncontrolling interest holder ownership interests in the

consolidated joint venture were redeemed in full effective February 15 2012 Such redemption was settled on February 15 2012 by

transferring to the noncontrolling interest holder $525 in restricted cash and the Companys entire interest in Britomart This resulted in

$525 decrease in Redeemable noncontrolling interests and an $8477 decrease in Other financings in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets as well as gain of $241 recognized within Other income expense net in the accompanying consolidated statements of

operations and other comprehensive loss

The Company has the ability to exercise significant influence but does not have the financial or operating control over these

investments and as result the Company accounts for these investments pursuant to the equity method of accounti.ng Under the

equity method of accounting the net equity investment of the Company is reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets and the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss includes the Companys share

of net income or loss from each unconsolidated joint venture Distributions from these investments that are related to income from

operations are included as operating activities and distributions that are related to capital transactions are included in investing

activities in the Companys consolidated statements of cash flows

Combined condensed financial information of these joint ventures at 100% is summarized as follows

As of December 31 2012

Combined

Other Joint Condensed

RioCan Hampton Ventures Total

Real estate assets 434704 14326 270386 719416

Less accumulated depreciation 19287 2286 44554 66127

Real estate net 415417 12040 225832 653289

Other assets net 148511 1285 49658 199454

Total assets 563928 13325 275490 852743

Mortgage debt 312844 14828 143450 471122

Other liabilities net 50076 300 22960 73336

Total liabilities 362920 15128 166410 544458

Total equity 201008 1803 109080 308285

Total liabilities and equity 563928 13325 275490 852743
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As of December 312011

Combined

Other Joint Condensed

RioCan Hampton Ventures Total

Real estate assets 403943 21521 461711 887175

Less accumulated depreciation 6406 2203 41294 49903

Real estate net 397537 19318 420417 837272

Other assets net 213172 1524 60518 275214

Total assets 610709 20842 480935 1112486

Mortgage debt 292135 21216 284760 598111

Other liabilities net 51095 430 24380 75905

Total liabilities 343230 21646 309140 674016

Total equity 267479 804 171795 438470

Total liabilities and equity 610709 20842 480935 1112486

Year ended December 31 2012

Combined

Other Joint Condensed

RioCan Hampton Ventures Total

Revenues

Property related income 59955 623 27 115 88693

Other income
______________ ______________

7884 7884

Total revenues 59955 1623 34999 96577

Expenses

Propertyoperatingexpenses 8927 251 4439 13617

Real estate taxes 10388 205 4711 15304

Depreciation and amortization 38776 575 10394 49745

Loss on lease terminations 2408 326 2734

General and administrative expenses 1093 18 248 1359

Interest expense net 13223 319 7853 20757

Other expense net 787 6625 7412

Total expenses 75602 730 34596 110928

Loss income from continuing operations 15647 893 403 14351

Loss income from discontinued operations 1892 2399 507

Net loss income 15647 999 2802 13844
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Year ended December 31 2011

Expenses

Property operating expenses

Real estate taxes

Depreciation and amortization

Loss on lease terminations

General and administrative expenses

Interest expense net

Other income expense net

Total expenses

Loss income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations

7952

9355

31081

1480 2028

95 438 1522

120 8806 15786

2064 2062

1098 32236 69786

598

4486 985 5471

Net loss 8561 3888 844 13293

Revenues

Property related income

Other income

Total revenues

Expenses

Property operating expenses

Real estate taxes

Depreciation and amortization

Loss on lease terminations

General and administrative expenses

Interest expense

Other income expense net

Total expenses

Loss income from continuing operations

304

179

10636

2213
28247

250 565

4849

5356

12910

447

1123

11730

2204

34211

2144

Loss from discontinued operations

Net loss

346 1173 827

1829 596 1738 2971

Revenues

Property related income

Other income

Total revenues

Combined
Other Joint Condensed

RioCan Hampton Ventures Total

27891 1696 27473

4904

27891 1696 32377

57060

4904

61964

377

176

570

3783

5218

10447

3792

3961

20064

548

989

7100

36452

8561 141 7822

Year ended December 31 2010

Combined
Other Joint Condensed

Ventures TotalRioCan Hampton
____________

2739 1646 27100

582

2739 1646 27682

363 245 4241

416 233 4707

1947 570 10393

31485

582

32067

143

888 56

812 282

10

4568 1396

1829
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The following tables summarize the Companys share of net income loss as well as net cash distributions from contributions

to each unconsolidated joint venture

6420 6641 1748 9750 35249 67372 2963 1819 1371

During the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 Hampton determined that the carrying value of certain of its assets was not recoverable

and accordingly recorded impairment charges in the amounts of $1593 and $4128 of which the Companys share was $1527 and $3956

respectively No impairmetit charges were recorded during the year ended December 31 2010 The joint ventures estimates Of fair value

relating to these impairment assessments were based upon bona fide purchase offers

As previously discussed the Company transferred its entire interest in Britomart in non-cash transaction to the noncontrolling interest

holder in consolidated joint venture of the Company on February 15 2012

In addition to the Companys share of net income loss for each unconsolidated joint venture amortization of basis differences

resulting from the Companys previous contributions of investment properties to its unconsolidated joint ventures is recorded

within Equity in loss of unconsolidated joint ventures net in the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive

loss Such basis differences res.ilted from the differences between the historical cost net book values and fair values ofthe contributed

properties and are amortized over the depreciable lives of the joint ventures property assets The Company recorded amortization

of $113 $204 and $277 related tO this difference during the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Property Acquisitions and Dispositions

The following table summarizes the acquisition activity during the year ended December 31 2012 for the Companys

unconsolidated joint ventures

Square
Purchase Pro Rata Equity

Joint Venture Date Footage Property Type Property Name Price Contribution

RioCan February 23 2012 134900 Multi-tenant retail Southlake Corners 35366 2738

Amount represents the Companys contribution of its proportionate share of the acquisition price net of customary prorations and net of

mortgage proceeds

The RioCan joint venture acquired Southlake Corners from the MS Inland joint venture The Company did not recognize its proportionate

share of the gain realizedby MS Inland upon disposition through Equity in loss of unconsolidated joint ventures due to its continuing

involvement in the property The Company received cash distribution in the amount of $2723 from the MS Inlandjoint venture representing

its share of the sales price net of mortgage debt repayment

During the
year

ended December 312012 Hampton sold single-user retail property and multi-tenant retail property aggregating

86700 square
feet for combined sales price of $5450 No gain or loss was recognized at disposition as impairment charges of

$1593 were recognized during the year ended December 31 2012 Proceeds from the sales were used to pay down $5035 of the

joint ventures outstanding debt As of December 31 2012 there were two properties remaining in the Hampton joint venture

The Companys investments in unconsolidated joint ventures are reviewed for potential impairment in addition to impairment

evaluations of the individual assets underlying these investments whenever events or changes in circumstances warrant such an

evaluation To determine whether impairment if any is other-than-temporary the Company considers whether it has the ability

and intent to hold the investment until the carrying value is fully recovered As result of such evaluations no impairment charges

were recorded during the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Joint Venture

MS Inland

Hampton

RioCan

Oak Property and Casualty

Britomart

The Companys Share of

Net Income Loss for the Years

Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

18 463 1339

890 3649 819

2467 1412 365

3081 1117 45

Net Cash Distributions from

Contributions to Joint Ventures for

the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

1992 497 68838

68 756 1384

10958 32344 82

3268 2646

Fees Earned by the Company for the

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

851 862 1155

91

2109 954 125
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14 Preferred Stock

On December 20 2012 the Company issued 5400 shares of 7.00% Series cumulative redeemable preferred stock at price of

$25.00 per share in an underwritten public offering pursuant to an effective registration statement The Company retained aggregate

net proceeds of $130289 after the underwnting discount and offenng costs Dividends on the Senes preferred stock are

cumulative and payable quarterly in arrears at the rate of 00% per annum based on the $25 00 per share offering price or $1 75

per annum On or after five years
from the date of issuance or sooner under limited circumstances the Company may at its

option redeem the Series preferred stock in whole or in part at any time or from time to time for cash at redemption price

of $25.00 per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividerids to but excluding the redemption date The Series preferred stock

have no maturity date and will remain outstanding itidefinitely unless redeemed by the Company

The Company temporarily used the net proceeds from the offering to repay outstanding borrowings on its senior unsecured

revolving line of credit On February 2013 the Company drew on its senior unsecured revolving line of credit to repay the 1W

JV seniorand junior mezzanine notes which required 5% prepayment fee See Notes and 21 for further discussion

15 Earnings per Share

In connection with the Apnl 12 2011 issuance of restricted common stock to certain executive officers for each reporting period

after the grant date earnings loss per common share available to common shareholders EPS is calculated pursuant to the two-

class method which specifies that all outstanding unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to

distnbutions are considered participating
securities and should be included in the computation of EPS

The Company presents both basic and diluted EPS amounts Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net distributed and undistnbuted

earnings available to common shareholders excluding participating securities by the weighted average number of common shares

outstanding Diluted EPS includes the components of basic EPS and in addition reflects the impact of other potentially dilutive

shares outstanding during the penod using the two class method

Shares of the Companys coon stock related to the restricted common stock issuance are not included in thedenominator of

basic EPS until contingencies are resolved aiidthe shares are released Such shares are not included in the denominator of diluted

EPS until contingencies are resolved and the shares are released since such inclusion would be anti-dilutive

The following is reconciliation between weighted average shares used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations excluding

amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests

Year Ended December 31

2012 20 2010

Numerator

Loss from continuing operations

Gain on sales of investment properties net

Net income from continuing operations attributable to

noncontrolling interests

Preferred stock dividends
____________ ____________ ____________

Loss from continuing operations available to common

shareholders

Income loss from discontinued operations
____________

Net loss available to common shareholders

Distributions paid on unvested restricted shares
____________ ____________ ____________

Net loss available to common shareholders excluding amounts

attributable to unvested restricted shares
_____________ _____________

Denominator

Denominator for loss per common share basic

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

Effect of dilutive securities stock options
_____________ _____________ _____________

Denominator for loss per common share diluted

Weighted average number of common and common

equivalent shares outstanding
____________ ____________ ____________

14235

7843

74109

5906

96288

31 1136

263

6655 68234

5945 4375

710 72609

25

735 72613

97424

1581

95843

95843

220464 192456 193497

______

220464 192456 193497
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Excluded from this weighted average amount are 46 shares of restricted common stock which equate to 40 shares on weighted

average basis for the year ended December 31 2012 These shares will continue to be excluded from the computation of basic

EPS until contingencies are resolved and the shares are released.

Excluded from this weighted average amount are 14 shares of restricted common stock which equate to 10 shares on weighted

average basis for the year ended December 31 2011 These shares will continue to be excluded from the computation of basic

EPS until contingencies are resolved and the shares are released

Outstanding options to purchase shares of common stock the effect of which would be anti-dilutive were 83 69 and 55 shares

as of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively at weighted ayerage exercise price of $19.31 $20.83 and $21.70

respectively These shares were not included in the computation of
ciijute4 EPS because either loss from continuing operations

was reported for the respective periods or the options were out of the money or both

16 Income Taxes

The Company has elected to be taxed as REIT under the Code To qualify as REIT the Company must meet number of

organizational and operational requirements including requirement to aimually distribute at least 90% of its REIT taxable income

to the Companys shareholders determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains

The Company intends to continue to adhere to these requirements and to maintain its REIT status As REIT the Company is

entitled to deduction for some or all of the distributions it pays to shareholders Accordingly the Company generally will not be

subject to federal income taxes on the taxable income dtstnbuted to its shareholders The Company is generally subject to

federal income taxes on any taxable income that is not currently distributed tQ its shareholders If the Company fails to qualify

as REIT in any taxable year it will be subject to U.S federal income taxes and may not be able to qualify as REIT until the

fifth subsequent taxable year

REIT qualification reduces but does not eliminate the amount of state and local taxes the Company pays In addition the Company
consolidated financial statements include the operations of one wholly owned subsidiary that has jointly elected to be treated as

IRS and is subject to U.S federal state and local income taxes at regular corporate tax rates The Company recorded $150 of

income tax expense related to the TRS for the year ended December 31 2012 No income tax expense related to the TRS was

recorded for the years ended December 31 2011 and 20.10 As REIT the Company mayalso be subject to certain U.S federal

excise taxes if it engages in certain types of transactions

Deferred income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized

for the estimated future consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts .of existing

assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect

for the year in which these temporary differences are expected to reverse Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent

that it is more likely than not that they will be realized based on consideration of available evidence including future reversal of

existing taxable temporary differences future projected taxable income and tax planning strategies In assessing the realizability

of deferred tax assets the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets

will not be realized The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income

during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible The Company has considered various factors including

future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences projected future taxable income and tax-planning strategies in making
this assessment The Company believes any deferred tax asset will not be realized in future periods and therefore has recorded

valuation allowance for the entire balance resulting in no effect on the consolidated financial statements
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The Companys deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 2012 and .2011 were as follows

Deferred tax assets

Impairment of assets

Capital loss earryforward

Net operating loss carryforward

Other __________ __________
Gross deferred tax assets

Less valuation allowance

Total deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Other ____________ ____________

Net deferred tax assets ______________

The Companys deferred tax assets and liabilities result from the activities of the TRS As of December 31 2012 the TRS had

federal net operating loss NOL of $14850 which will be available to offset future taxable income The TRS did.not have any

net capital losses in excess of capital gains as of December 31 2012 If not used the NOL will begin to expire in 2029

Differences between net loss per the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss and the Companys

taxable income loss primarily relate to impairment charges recorded on investment properties other-than-temporary impairment

on investments in marketable securities the timing of revenue recognition and investment property depreciation and amortization

The following table reconciles the Companys net loss to taxable income before the dividends paid deduction for the
years

ended

December 31 20122011 and 2010

2012 2011 2010

Net loss attributable to the Company 447 72609 95843

Bookltax differences 3807 95869 68240

Adjust for negative taxable income 27603

Taxable income subject to 90% dividend requirement 3360 23260

The Companys dividends paid deduction is summarized below

2012 2011 2010

Cash distributions paid
140017 .116050 83385

Less non-dividend distributions 136657 92782 83385

Total dividends paid deduction attributable to earnings and profits 3360 23268

summary of the tax characterization of the distributions paid per share for the years ended December 31 2Q12 2011 and 2010

follows

2010

0.43

____________ ____________
0.43

$0.02 included in ordinary dividends is considered qualified dividend

The Company records benefit for uncertain income tax positions
if the result of tax position meets more likely than not

recognition threshold As result of this provision liabilities of none and $237 are recorded as of December 31 2012 and 2011

respectively The Company expects no significant increases or decreases in unrecognized tax benefits due to changes in tax positions

within one year of December 31 2012 Returns for the calendar years
2009 through 2012 remain subject to examination by federal

and various state tax jurisdictions

2012 2011

5502

5612

.142

11256

7852

3404

3404

4886

2008

3937

92

10923

8900

2023

2023

Ordinary dividends

Nontaxable distributions

Total distribution per
share

2012 2011

0.02 0.12

0.64

0.66

0.48

0.60
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17 Provision for Impairment of Investment Properties

The Company identified certain indicators of impairment for certain of its properties such as low occupancy rate difficulty in

leasing space and related cost of re-leasing reduced anticipated holding periods or financially troubled tenants The Company
performed cash flow analyses during the year ended December 31 2012 and determined that the carrying value exceeded the

projected undiscounted cash flows based upon the estimated holding period for certain assetswith identified impairment indicators

Therefore the Company recorded impairment charges related to these properties consisting of the excess canying value of the

assets over the estimated fair value within the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss

The investment property impairment charges recorded by the Company during the year ended December 312012 are summarized

below

Property Name

Towson Circle

Discontinued Operations

Various

Various

Mervyns McAllen

Mervyns BÆkersfiØtd

Pros Ranch Market

American Express Phoenix

Mervyns Fontana

Mervyns Ridgecrest

Dicks Sporting Goods Fresno

Mervyns Highland

Property Type Impairment Date

Multi-tenant retail Jiine252012

September 182012

September 25 2012

September 302012

September30 2012

Variousd

Various

December 24 2012

Various

Various

Various

Provision for

Approximate Impairment of

Square Investment

Footage Properties

n/aa 1323

1000400

132600 5528

78000 2950

7100 37

75500 2749k

117600

79
59000

4902

352

62

The Company sold parcel of land to an unaffiliated third party for which the allocatedcarrying value was $1323 greater than the

sales price Such disposition did not qua1if for discontinued operations accounting treatment

Dunng September 2012 the Company recorded an impairment charge in conjunction with the sale of 13 former Mervyns properties

located throughout California based upon the sales price less costs to sell

During September 2012 the Company recorded an impairment charge in conjunction with the sale of three multt tenant retail

properties located near Dallas Texas based upon the sales price less costs to sell

Impairment charges were recorded at various dates during the yearended December 31 2012 initially based upon the terms of bona

fide purchase offers subsequent revisions pursuant to contract negotiations or final disposition price as applicable

Single-userretail

Multi-tenant retail

Singieuser retail

Single-user retail

Single-user retail

Single-user office

Single-user retail

Single-user retail

Single-user retail

Single-user retail

77400

80500

2982

2297

24519

Total 25842

Estimated fair value of impaired properties 161039
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The investment property impairment charges recorded by the Company during the year ended December 31 2011 are summarized

below

Impairment chargerecorded based upon bona fide purchase offer received for an outlot at the property

During 2011 this asset was impaired upon execution of the purchase and sale agreement based upon the negotiated purchase price

such impairment charge was revised upon closing of the disposition Impairment charges for this asset of $3400 and $20400 were

previously recorded during the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

An impairment charge of $2700 was previously recorded during the year ended December 31 2009

The investment property impairment charges recorded by the Company during the year ended December31 2010 are summarized

be1ow

Approximate

Square

Property Name Property Type Impairment Date Footage

University Square Multi tenant retail June 30 2010 287 000

Riverpark Phase JIB Multi-tenant retail June 30 2010 61000

Suntree Square Multi-tenant retail September 30 2010 96000

Coppell Town Center Multi-tenant retail September 30 2010 91000

Discontinued Operations

Wild Oats Market

Circuit City Headquarters

MŁsaFiestâ

Provision for

Impairment of

Investment

Properties

6281

1576

1322

1851

11 030

49000 821

383000 7806

195000 3400

12027

Total 23057

Estimated fair value of impaired properties 72696

Property acquired by the RioCan joint venture Impairment charge based on estimated net realizable value inclusive of projected

fair value of contingent earnout proceeds

The Compaæy can provide no assurance that material impairment charges with respect to the Companys investment properties

will not occur in future-periods

Property Name

Lake Mead Crossing

Discontinued Operations

GMAC Insurance Building

Mesa Fiesta

North Ranch Pavilions

Property Type Impairment Date

Multitenant retail December 31 2011

SinglØ-usØr office

Multi-tenant retail

Multi-tenant retail

Provision for

Impairment of

Investment

Properties

7650

Approximate

Square

Footage

236000

501000

195000

63000

March3l2011

Various

December22 2011

30373

1322

636

32331

Total 39981

Estimated fair value of impaired properties 37466

Single-user retail

Single-user retail

Multi-tenant retail

May2820l0

June 30 2010

December3l20l0
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18 Fair Value Measurements

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying value and estimated fair value of the Companys financial instruments

December 312012 December 31 2011

Carrying Carrying

Value Fair Value Value Fair Value

Financial assets

Investment in marketable securities net 30385 30385

Financial liabilities

Mortgages and notes payable net 2212089 2401883 2926218 3109577

Credit facility 380000 382723 555000 555000

Other financings 8477 8477

Co-venture obligation 52431 55000

Derivative
liability 2783 2783 2891 2891

The carrying values shown in the table are included in the consolidated balance sheets under the indicated captions except for

derivative liability which is included in Other liabilities

The fair value of the financial instruments shown in the above table as of December 31 2012 and 2011 represent the Companys

best estimates of the amounts that would be received to sell those assets or that would be paid to transfer those liabilities in

transaction between market participants at those respective dates Those fair value measurements maximize the use of observable

inputs However in situations where there is little if any market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date the fair

value measurement reflects the Companys own judgments about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing

the asset or liability Those judgments are developed by the Company based on the best information available in those circumstances

GAAP specifies hierarchy of valuation techn.iques based upon whether the inputs to those valuation techniques reflect assumptions

other market participants would use based upon market data obtained from independent sources observable inputs The fair value

hierarchy is summarized as follows

Level Inputs Unadjusted quoted market prices for identical assets and liabilities in an active market which the

Company has the ability to access

Level Inputs Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets which are observable either directly or indirectly

Level Inputs Inputs based on prices or valuation techniques that are both unobservable and significant to the overall

fair value measurements

The guidance requires the use of observable market data when available in making fair value measurements When inputs used

to measure fair value fall within different levels of the hierarchy the level within which the fair value measurement is categorized

is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the Companys financial instruments which are measured at fair valueon recurring basis by the

level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fall Methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value

of these instruments are described after the table

Level Level Level Total

December 31 2012

Derivative liability 2783 2783

December 31 2011

Investment in marketable securities net 30385 30385

Derivative
liability

2891 2891
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Investment in marketable securities net Marketable securities classified as available-for-sale are measured using quoted market

prices at the reporting date multiplied by the quantity held

Derivative liability The fair value of the derivative liability is determined usinga discounted cash flow analysis on the expected

future cash flows of each derivative This analysis utilizes observable market data including forward yield curves and implied

volatilities to determine the markets expectation of the future cash flows of the variable component The fixed and variable

components of the derivative are then discounted using calculated discount factors developed based on the LIBOR swap rate and

are aggregated to arrive at single valuation for the period The Company also incorporates credit valuation adjustments to

appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the respective counterpartys nonperformance risk in the fair value

measurements Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within

Level of the fair value hierarchy the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize Level inputs such as

estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterparties However as of December 31

2012 and 2011 the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation

of its derivative positions and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation As

result the Company has determined that its derivative valuations in their entirety are classified within Level of the fair value

hierarchy In adjusting the fair value of its derivative contracts for the effect of nonperformance risk the Company has considered

any applicable credit enhancements The Companys derivative instruments are further described in Note 11

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

As discussed in Note 17 the Company recorded impairment charges to write the carrying value down to estimated fair value for

certain investment properties after determining that the carrying value exceeded the projected undiscounted cash flows based upon

the estimated holding period for such assets Estimated fair value is determined by the Company utilizingdiscounted cash flow

models third-party broker valuation estimates appraisals bona fTde purchase offers or the expected sales price from anexecuted

sales agreement Capitalization and discount rates utilized within discounted cash flow models are based upon observable rates

that the Company believed to be within reasonable range of current market rates for the property

Investment properties measured at fair value on nonrecurring basis at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively aggregated by

the level within the fair value hierarchy in which those measurements fall are as follows

Provision for

Impairment of

Investment

Level Level Level Total Properties

December 31 2012

lnvestmentproperties-heldforsaleb 9133 9133 6901

December 31 2011

Investment properties 21439 21439 38023

Excludes impairment charges recorded on investment properties sold prior to December31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Includes impairment charges recorded on three investment properties classified as held for sale as of December 31 2012 such charges

calculated as the expected sales prices from executed sales agreements less estimated selling costs were determined to be Level inputs

The estimated transaction costs totaling $197 are not reflected as reduction to the fair value disclosed in the table above

Includes impairment charges recorded on one investment property and one outlot during the year ended December 31 2011 based upon

discounted cash flow model and bona fide purchase offer respectively Neither asset was disposed of priorto December 31 2011

however the investment property was transferred to the lender through deed-in-lieu of foreclosure transaction on April 10 2012 The

inputs to the Companys estimates of fair value were determined to be Level inputs
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Fair Value.Disclosures

The following table presents the Companys financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value for disclosure purposes

by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which they fall Methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of these

instruments are described after the table

Level Level Level Total

December 312012

Mortgages and notes payable net 2401883 2401883

Credit facility 382723 382723

December 31 2011

Mortgages and notes payable net 3109577 3109577

Credit
facility 555000 555000

Other financings 8477 8477

Co-venture obligation 55000 55000

Mortgages and notes payable net The Company estimates the fair value of its mortgages and notes payable by discounting the

future cash flows of each instrument at rates currently offered to the Company for similardebt instruments of comparable maturities

by the Companys lenders The rates used are not directly observable in the marketplace and judgment is used in determining the

appropriate rate for each of the Companys individual mortgages and notes payable based upon the specific terms of the agreement

including the term to maturity the quality and nature of the underlying property and its leverage ratio The rates used range from

1.3% to 4.0% at December 31 2012 The fair value of the Companys matured mortgage payable was determined to be equal to

the carrying value of the property because there is no market for similardebt instrument and the propertys carrying value was

determined to be the best estimate of fair value as of December 31 2012

Credit facility As of December 31 2011 the carrying value of the Companys credit facility approximated fair value due to the

periodic variable rate pricing and the loan pricing spreads based on the Companys leverage ratio and the lack of significant changes

in credit markets since the February 2011 amendment As of December31 2012 the Company estimated the fair value of its credit

facility by discounting the future cash flows related to the fixed rate credit spreads at rates currently offered to the Company for

comparable facilities by the Companys lenders The rates used are not directly observable in the marketplace and judgment was

used in determining the appropriate rate The Company used discount rate of 2.0% at December 31 2012

Otherfinancings Other financiægs on the consolidated balance sheets represent the equity interest of the noncontrolling member

in certain consolidated entities where the organizational agreement contained put/call arrangements which granted the right to the

outside owners and the Company to require each entity to redeem the ownership interest in future periods for fixed amounts The

Company believed the fair value of other financings as of December 31 2011 was the amount at which it would settle which

approximated its carrying value As discussed in Note no amounts are recorded to other financings as of December 31 2012

following the redemption of the interests held by the Companys partner in consolidated joint venture on February 15 2012

Co-venture obligation The Company estimated the fair value of its co-venture obligation based on the amount at which it believed

the obligation would settle and the estimated timing of such payment On Apnl 262012 the Company paid $55 397 representing

the agreed upon repurchase price and accrued but unpaid preferred return to Inland Equity to repurchase the remaining interest in

1W JV resulting in the Company owning 100% of 1W iv

There were no transfers of assets or liabilities between the levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year ended December 31

2012

19 Commitments and Contingencies

Although the mortgage loans obtained by the Company are generally non-recourse occasionally when it is deemed necessary

the Company may guarantee all or portion of the debt on full-recourse basis As of December 31 2012 the Company has

guaranteed $16431 of its outstanding mortgage and construction loans with maturity dates ranging from May 2013 through

September 30 2016

For the year ended December 31 2012 the Company self-funded group medical benefits plan for its employees As of

December 31 2012 the Company had recorded liability of $399 representing claims incurred but not paid and estimated claims
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incurred but not reported Effective January 2013 the Company estab1isheda group medical benefits plan for its employees

through third party provider

20 Litigation

In 2012 certain shareholders of the Company filed putative class action lawsuits against the Company and certain of its officers

and directors which are currently pending in the Distnct Court in the Northern District of Illinois The lawsuits allege among
other things that the Company directors and officers breached their fiduciary duties to the shareholders and as result unjustly

enriched the Company and the individual defendants The lawsuits further allege that the breaches of fiduciary duty led certain

shareholders to acquire additional stock and caused the shareholders to suffer loss in share value all measured in some manner

by reference to the Companys 2012 offering price when it listed its shares on the NYSE The lawsuits seek unspecified damages

and other relief Based on its initial review of the complaints the Company believes the lawsuits to be without merit and intends

to defend the actions vigorously While the resolution ofthese matters cannot be predicted with certainty management believes

based on currently available information that the final outcomes of these matters will not have material effect on the financial

statements of the Company

The Company is subject from time to time to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business

While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty management believes based on currently available

information that the final oUtcomeof such matters will not have material effect on the financial statements of the Company

21 Subsequent Events

Subsequent to December 31 2012 the Company

drew $125000 on its senior unsecured revolving line of credit and used the proceeds to repay notes payable with an

aggregate balance of $125000 and weighted average
interest rate of 12.80% and the associated prepayment premium

of $6250

repaid $35000 on its senior unsecured revolving line of credit using available cash

closed on the sale ofMervyns Ridgecrest 59000 square foot single-user retail property located in Ridgecrest California

for sales price of $500 and no significant anticipated gain or loss on sale due to impairment charges recognized prior

toDecember3l2012

closed on the sale of Mervyns Highland an 80500 square foot single-user retail property located in Highland California

for sales price of $2 133 and no sigmficant anticipated gain or loss on sale due to impairment charges recognized pnor

to December 31 2012

closed on the sale of American Express DePere 132300 square foot single-user office property located in DePere

Wisconsin for sales price of $17233 and anticipated gain on sale of approximately $1914

closed on the sale of parcel of land on which approximately 46700 square feet of GLA was previously demolished at

Darien Towne Center located in Darien Illinois for sales price of $7600 and anticipated gain on sale of approximately

$2996 and

repaid $27200 mortgage payable with stated interest rate of 5.45%

On February 13 2013 the Companys board of directors declared the initial cash dividend for the Companys 7.00% Series

cumulative redeemable preferred stock The dividend of $0.486 per preferred share will be paid on April 2013 to preferred

shareholders of record at the close of business on March 21 2013

On February 13 2013 the Companys board of directors declared the distribution for the first quarter of 2013 of $0.1 65625 per

share on all classes of the Companys outstanding common shares which will be paid on April 10 2013 to common shareholders

of record at the close of business on March 29 2013
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22 Quarterly FinancialInformation unaudited

2012

Dec31 Sep30 Jun30 Mar31

Total revenue as previously reported 143533 145292 148125 153394

Reclassified to discontinued operations 4273 8839 10209

Adjusted total revenues 143533 141019 139286 143185

Net income loss 14117 15952 17676 16288

Net income loss available to common shareholders 13854 15952 17676 16288

Net income loss per common share available to

common shareholders basic and diluted 0.06 0.07 0.08 0.08

Weighted average number of common shares

outstanding basic and diluted 230597 230597 226543 194119

2011

Dec31 Sep30 Jun30 Mar31

Total revenue as previously reported 153352 146045 147361 152323

Reclassified to discontinued operations 10467 4772 8135 9272

Adjusted total revenues 142885 141273 139226 143051

Net loss 13829 5016 13716 40017

Net loss available to common shareholders 13837 5023 13724 40025

Net loss per common share available to common

shareholders basic and diluted 0.07 0.03 0.07 0.21

Weighted average number of common shares

outstanding basic and diluted 193444 192779 192114 191488

Represents revenue that has been reclassified to discontinued operations since previously reported amounts in Form l0-Q or 10-K
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Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

For the Years Ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

in thousands

Balance at Charged to

beginning costs and Balance at

of year expenses Write-offs end of year

Year ended December31 2012

Allowance for doubtful accounts 8231 969 2748 6452

Tax valuation allowance 8900 1048 7852

Year ended December 31 2011

Allowance for doubtful accounts 9138 6527 7434 8231

Tax valuation allowance 6823 2077 8900

Year ended December 31 2010

Allowance for doubtful accounts 31019 3103 24984 9138

Beginning balance includes $5 for allowance for doubtful accounts related to an investment property held for sale in 2009

Includes $16909 related to note receivable that was fully written off in 2010
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Schedule III

Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost

Buildings and

Land Improvements

1300 5319

Gross amount carried at end of period

Buildings and

Land and Improvements

5384

Total

6684

Accumulated

Depreciation

1579

Date

Constructed

2003

Date

Acquired

12/04

3752 4982 1157 2004 07/04

2946 4286 882 2004 07/04

3960 5010 1186 2004 07/04

3963 7178 1150 2004 07/04

5778 6823 1834 2003 04/04

15379 16779 4306 2000 12/04

44053 57053 11317 1974 1986 05/05

Property Name Encumbrance

3133

Adjustments
to Basis

65

Improvements

1300
23rd Street Plaza

Panama City FL

Academy Sports 3197 1230 3752 1230

Houma LA

Academy Sports 2619 1340 2943 1340

Midland TX

Academy Sports 3181 1050 3954 1050

Port Arthur TX

Academy Sports 4166 3215 3963 3215

San Antonio TX

Alisons Corner 2599 1045 5700 78 1045

San Antonio TX

American Express 1400 15370 1400

DePere WI

Aon Hewitt East Campus 13000 44053 13000

Lincolnshire IL

Arvada Connection and Arvada

Marketplace 22000 8125 39366 718 8125

Arvada CO

Ashland Roosevelt 9558 21052 305

Chicago IL

Azalea Square 12261 6375 21304 1614 6375

Summerville SC

Azalea Square III 3280 10348 63 3280

Summerville SC

BangorParkadea 11600 13539 5669 11600

Bangor ME

Battle Ridge Pavilion 4350 11366 17 4350

Marietta GA

Beachway Plaza 6025 5460 10397 349 5460

Bradenton FL

Bed Bath Beyond Plaza 9244 18367 64

Miami FL

Bed Bath Beyond Plaza 4530 11901 4530

Westbury NY

21357 21357 5954 2002 05/05

22918 29293 6887 2004 10/04

10411 13691 2003 2007 10/07

19208 30808 4375 2005 03/06

11349 15699 2783 1999 05/06

10746 16206 2970 1984/2004 06/05

18431 18431 5560 2004 10/04
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Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Property Name Encumbrance

17808

Land

7460

Buildings and

Improvements

25583

Adjustments
to Basis

133

Land and

Improvements

7460

Buildings and

Improvements

25716

Total

33176

Accumulated

Depreciation

8239

Date

Constructed

1996-1999

Date

Acquired

04/04BestontheBoulevard

Las Vegas NV

Bison Hollow 7610 5550 12324 57 5550 12381 17931 3465 2004 04/05

Traverse City MI

Bluebonnet Parc 4450 16407 148 4450 16555 21005 5484 2002 04/04

Baton Rouge LA

Boston Commons 8616 3750 9690 200 3750 9890 13640 2772 1993 05/05

Springfield IVIA

Boulevard at The Capital Ctr 114703 30974 83729 83729 13181 2004 09/04

Largo MD
Boulevard Plaza 2433 4170 12038 2835 4170 14873 19043 4048 1994 04/05

Pawtucket RI

The Brickyard 44000 45300 26657 4346 45300 31003 76303 8768 1977/2004 04/05

Chicago IL

Broadway Shopping Center 10263 5500 14002 2512 5500 16514 22014 4235 1960/1999- 09/05

Bangor ME 2000

Browns Lane 5060 2600 12005 913 2600 12918 15518 3598 1985 04/05

Middletown RI

CentralTexasMarketplace 45386 13000 47559 4321 13000 51880 64880 11262 2004 12/06

Waco TX

Centre at Laurel 27200 19000 8406 16798 19000 25204 44204 6085 2005 02/06

Laurel MD

Century III Plaza 7100 33212 1485 7100 34697 41797 9251 1996 06/05

West Muffin PA

Chantilly Crossing 16470 8500 16060 2085 8500 18145 26645 4893 2004 05/05

Chantilly VA

CinemarkSevenBridges 5060 3450 11728 3450 11728 15178 3181 2000 03/05

Woodridge IL

Citizens Property Insurance 2150 7601 2150 7607 9757 1952 2005 08/05

Jacksonville FL

Clearlake Shores 6104 1775 7026 1158 1775 8184 9959 2268 2003-2004 04/05

Clear Lake TX

Colony Square 16700 22775 380 16700 23155 39855 5487 1997 05/06

Sugar Land TX
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Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Buildings and Accumulated

Buildings and Adjustments Land and Improvements Total Depreciation Date Date

Property Name Encumbrance Land Improvements to Basis Improvements Constructed Acquired

The Columns 12650 5830 19439 77 5830 19516 25346 5956 2004 8/04

Jackson TN 10/04

TheCommonsatTemecula 25665 12000 35887 1222 12000 37109 49109 9858 1999 04/05

Temecula CA
Coram Plaza 14402 10200 26178 2168 10200 28346 38546 8240 2004 12/04

Coram NY

ComerstonePlaza 4845 2920 10359 160 2920 10199 13119 2850 2004-2005 05/05

Cocoa Beach FL

Corwest Plaza 14893 6900 23851 63 6900 23914 30814 7978 1999-2003 01/04

New Britian CT

Cottage Plaza 10996 3000 19158 164 3000 19322 22322 5543 2004-2005 02/05

Pawtucket RI

Cranbeny Square 11288 3000 18736 798 3000 19534 22534 6053 1996-1997 07/04

Cranberry Township PA

Crockett Square 5812 4140 7534 52 4139 7587 11726 1922 2005 02/06

Morristown TN

Crossroads Plaza CVS 4373 1040 3780 212 1040 3992 5032 1064 1987 05/05

North Attelborough MA

CrownTheatera 7318 954 60 7258 954 8212 474 2000 07/05

Hartford CT

CuyahogaFallsMarketCenter 3746 3350 11083 151 3350 11234 14584 3114 1998 04/05

Cuyahoga Falls OH

CVS Pharmacy 1699 910 2891 910 2891 3801 795 1999 06/05

Burteson TX

CVS Pharmacy Eckerd 2287 975 2400 975 2402 3377 801 2003 12/03

Edmond OK
CVS Pharmacy 1194 750 1958 750 1958 2708 544 1999 05/05

Lawton OK

CVS Pharmacy 1825 250 2777 250 2777 3027 788 2001 03/05

Montevallo AL

CVS Pharmacy 1971 600 2659 600 2659 3259 747 2004 05/05

Moore OK

CVS Pharmacy Eckerd 3600 932 4370 932 4370 5302 1470 2003 12/03

Norman OK
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Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Property Name Encumbrance

1903

Land

620

Buildings and

Improvements

3583

Adjustments
to Basis

Land and

Improvements

620

Buildings and

Improvements

3583

Total

4203

Accumulated

Depreciation

985

Date
Constructed

1999

Date

Acquired

06/05CVS Pharmacy

Oklahoma City OK

CVS Pharmacy 2699 1100 3254 1100 3254 4354 924 2004 03/05

Saginaw TX

CVS Pharmacy 1823 600 2469 600 2472 3072 740 2004 10/04

Sylacauga AL

DarienTowneCentera 7000 22468 1409 7000 23877 30877 7595 1994 12/03

Darien IL

Davis Towne Crossing 2697 1850 5681 841 1671 6701 8372 2010 2003-2004 06/04

North Richland Hills TX

Denton Crossing 27928 6000 43434 11232 6000 54666 60666 15870 2003-2004 10/04

Denton TX

Diebold Warehouse 11190 11192 11192 3077 2005 07/05

Green OH

Dorman Center II 21109 17025 29478 516 17025 29994 47019 9853 2003-2004 3/04 7/04

Spartanburg SC

DuckCreek 12291 4440 12076 5281 4440 17357 21797 4266 2005 11/05

Bettendorf IA

EastStoneCommons 22550 2900 28714 1243 2826 27545 30371 6523 2005 06/06

Kingsport TN

Eastwood Towne Center 22652 12000 65067 701 12000 64366 76366 20469 2002 05/04

Lansing MI

EdgemontTownCenter 6666 3500 10956 180 3500 10776 14276 3296 2003 11/04

Homewood AL

Edwards Multiplex 9731 35421 35421 35421 9957 1988 05/05

Fresno CA

EdwardsMultiplex 14061 11800 33098 11800 33098 44898 9303 1997 05/05

Ontario CA
Evans Towne Centre 4379 1700 6425 204 1700 6629 8329 1906 1995 12/04

Evans GA

Fairgrounds Plaza 13812 4800 13490 4354 5431 17213 22644 4802 2002-2004 01/05

Middletown NY
Fisher Scientific 510 12768 10 510 12778 13288 3352 2005 06/05

Kalamazoo MI
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Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Buildings and Accumulated

Buildings and Adjustments Land and Improvements Total Depreciation Date Date

Property Name Encumbrance Land Improvements to Basis Improvements Constructed Acquired

Five Forks 2100 5374 151 2100 5525 7625 1608 1999 12/04

Simpsonville SC

Five Forks 11a 440 1018 59 440 1077 1517 278 2004-2005 03/05

Simpsonville SC

ForksTownCenter 8545 2430 14836 711 2430 15547 17977 4779 2002 07/04

Easton PA

FourPeaksPlaza 9930 5000 20098 4411 5000 24509 29509 6641 2004 03/05

Fountain Hills AZ

FoxCreek Village 9244 3755 15563 1076 3755 14487 18242 4384 2003-2004 11/04

Longmont CO

Fullerton Metrocenter 28706 47403 1289 48692 48692 15035 1988 06/04

Fullerton CA

Galvez Shopping Center 4195 1250 4947 338 1250 5285 6535 1469 2004 06/05

Galveston TX

The Gateway 98283 28665 110945 21831 28665 132776 161441 34980 2001-2003 05/05

Salt Lake City UT

Gateway Pavilions 24814 9880 55195 9880 55196 65076 16023 2003-2004 12/04

Avondale AZ

Gateway Plaza 26371 2736 29107 29107 8680 2000 07/04

Southlake TX

Gateway Station 3031 1050 3911 1143 1050 5054 6104 1446 2003-2004 12/04

College Station TX

Gateway Station II III 3280 11557 28 3280 11585 14865 1850 2006-2007 05/07

College Station TX

Gateway Village 37600 8550 39298 4062 8550 43360 51910 13215 1996 07/04

Annapolis MD

GerryCentennialPlazaa 5370 12968 9020 5370 21988 27358 4056 2006 06/07

Oswego IL

Gloucester Town Center 9029 3900 17878 198 3900 18076 21976 5007 2003 05/05

Gloucester NJ

Golfsmitha 1250 2974 1250 2976 4226 746 1992/2004 11/05

Altamonte Springs FL

Governors Marketplace 30377 2803 33180 33180 9821 2001 08/04

Tallahassee FL
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Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Buildings and Accumulated

Buildings and Adjustments Land and Improvements Total Depreciation Date Date

Property Name Encumbrance Land Improvements to Basis Improvements Constructed Acquired

Grapevine Crossing 11525 4100 16938 17 3894 17161 21055 4792 2001 04/05

Grapevine TX

Greens Corner 5449 3200 8663 86 3200 8749 11949 2558 1997 12/04

Cumming GA

Greensburg Commons 10250 2700 19080 194 2700 18886 21586 5402 1999 04/05

Greensburg IN

Greenwich Center 14475 5439 21594 9465 3791 13777 17568 1802 2002-2003 02/06

Phillipsburg NJ 2006

Gumee Town Center 15472 7000 35147 2814 7000 37961 44961 10789 2000 10/04

Gurnee IL

Hartford Insurance Building 1700 13709 1700 13715 15415 3688 2005 08/05

Maple Grove MN
HarvestTowne Center 4087 3155 5085 188 3155 5273 8428 1579 1996-1999 09/04

Knoxville TN

HenryTownCentera 10650 46814 578 10650 47392 58042 13839 2002 12/04

McDonough GA

HeritageTowneCrossing 8543 3065 10729 1197 3065 11926 14991 3804 2002 03/04

Euless TX

Hickory Ridge 19754 6860 33323 524 6860 33847 40707 9833 1999 01/04

Hickory NC

HighRidgeCrossing 5060 3075 9148 273 3075 8875 11950 2557 2004 03/05

High Ridge MO

Holliday Towne Center 7979 2200 11609 367 2200 11242 13442 3343 2003 02/05

Duncansville PA

Home Depot Center 16758 16758 16758 4608 1996 06/05

Pittsburgh PA

HomeDepotPlaza 10750 9700 17137 576 9700 17713 27413 4831 1992 06/05

Orange CT

HQBuilding 9303 5200 10010 4165 5200 14175 19375 3307 Redev 2004 12/05

San Antonio TX

Humblewood Shopping Center 6598 2200 12823 51 2200 12772 14972 3312 Renov 2005 11/05

Humble TX

Irmo Station 5157 2600 9247 214 2600 9461 12061 2745 1980 1985 12/04

Irmo SC
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Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Buildings and Accumulated

Buildings and Adjustments Land and Improvements Total Depreciation Date Date

Property Name Encumbrance Land Improvements to Basis Improvements Constructed Acquired

Jefferson Commons 55016 23097 52762 15 23097 52777 75874 9551 2005 02/08

Newport News VA

KingPhilipsCrossing 10567 3710 19144 368 3710 18776 22486 4900 2005 11/05

Seekonk MA

LaPlazaDelNorte 17125 16005 37744 954 16005 38698 54703 12440 1996/1999 01/04

San Antonio TX

LakeMaryPointe 1693 2075 4009 79 2065 4098 6163 1228 1999 10/04

Lake Mary FL

Lake Mead Crossing 17796 50272 8225 14505 45338 59843 6759 2011 10/06

Las Vegas NV

Lake Worth Towne Crossing 6200 30910 4311 6200 35221 41421 8241 2005 06/06

Lake Worth TX

Lakepointe Towne Center 4750 23904 875 4750 24779 29529 6852 2004 05/05

Lewisville TX

Lakewood Towne Center 11200 70796 2975 11200 67821 79021 21289 1998/2002- 06/04

Lakewood WA 2003

Lincoln Plaza 40034 13000 46482 22013 13165 68330 81495 17088 2001-2004 09/05

Worcester MA

Low Country Village 11a 2910 16614 513 2486 16525 19011 4922 2004 2005 06/04

Bluffion SC 09/05

Lowes/Bed Bath Beyond 13345 7423 799 7415 799 8214 391 2005 08/05

Butler NJ

MacArthur Crossing 7090 4710 16265 1632 4710 17897 22607 5561 1995-1996 02/04

Los Colinas TX

Magnolia Square 6520 2635 15040 779 2635 14261 16896 4141 2004 02/05

Houma LA

Manchester Meadows 14700 39738 57 14700 39681 54381 12224 1994-1995 08/04

Town and Country MO
Mansfield Towne Crossing 3300 12195 3480 3300 15675 18975 4607 2003-2004 11/04

Mansfield TX

Maple Tree Place 28000 67361 3584 28000 70945 98945 19610 2004-2005 05/05

Williston VT

The Market at Clifty Crossing 13430 1900 16668 959 1847 17680 19527 4538 1986/2004 11/05

Columbus IN
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Property Name

The Market at Polaris

Columbus OH

Massillon Commons

Massillon OH

McAllen Shopping Center

McAllen TX

Mervyns

Oceanside CA

Mervyns

Turlock CA

Mid-Hudson Center

Piughkeepsie NY

Midtown Center

Milwaukee WI

Mission Crossing

San Antonio TX

Mitchell Ranch Plaza

New Port Richey FL

Montecito Crossing

Las Vegas NV

Mountain View Plaza 11a

Kalispell MT

Newburgh Crossing

Newburgh NY

Newnan Crossing II

Newnan GA
Newton Crossroads

Covington GA

North Rivers Towne Center

Charleston SC

Northgate North

Seattle WA

Northpointe Plaza

Spokane WA

RETAIL PROPERTIES OFAMERICA INC

Schedule III

Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Encumbrance Land
Buildings and

Improvements

Adjustments
to Basis

6037

Land and

Improvements

11750

Buildings and

Improvements

46234

Total

57984

Accumulated

Depreciation

11785

Date

Constructed

2005

Date

Acquired

11/0511750 40197

7152 4090 12521 428 4090 12949 17039 3623 1986/2000 04/05

1586 850 2958 112 850 2846 3696 838 2004 12/04

6305 5384 25 6305 5409 11714 1441 1982 09/05

1925 4294 3315 975 1929 2904 337 1987 09/05

9900 29160 9900 29161 39061 7937 2000 07/05

30597 13220 41687 5041 13220 46728 59948 12659 1986-1987 01/05

11868 4000

5550

12616

26213

7167

300

4670

5550

19113

26513

23783

32063

4962

8086

Renov

2003-2005

2003

07/05

08/04

17277 9700

5180

4000

25414

18212

10246

9172

54

11300

5120

4000

32986

18326

10252

44286

23446

14252

8.485

4674

2724

2004-2005

2007

2003

2006

2005

10/05

01/08

10/05

11/06

10/05

15100

3350

33987

6927

4664

14

15100

3350

38651

6913

53751

10263

11671

2021

1999

2004

1997

12/03

02/04

12/04

3350 15968 19318 5127 2003-2004 04/04

27500 7540 49078 15722 7540 33356 40896 10699 1999-2003 06/04

23841 13800 37707 2581 13800 40288 54088 12472 1991-1993 05/04

6731

25404

3844

10315 3350 15720 248
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

Schedule III

Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Buildings and Accumulated

Buildings and Adjustments Land and Improvements Total Depreciation Date Date

Property Name Encumbrance Land Improvements to Basis Improvements Constructed Acquired

NorthwoodCtossinga 3770 13658 890 3770 14548 18318 3614 1979/2004 01/06

Nothport AL

Northwoods Center 8758 3415 9475 6362 3415 15837 19252 4483 2002-2004 12/04

Wesley Chapel FL

Orange Plaza Golfiand Plaza 4350 4834 2163 4350 6997 11347 1541 1995 05/05

Orange CT

The Orchard 11973 3200 17151 14 3200 17165 20365 4628 2004-2005 07/05

New Hartford NY 9/05

Pacheco Pass Phase 11a 13420 32784 1078 13400 31726 45126 7660 2004 2006 07/05

Gilroy CA 06/07

Page Field Commons 43355 1816 45171 45171 12539 1999 05/05

Fort Myers FL

Paradise ValleyMarketplace 9439 6590 20425 197 6590 20622 27212 6618 2002 04/04

Phoenix AZ

Parkway Towne Crossing 6142 20423 3881 6142 24304 30446 5222 2010 08/06

Frisco TX

Pavillion at Kings Grant IT 16.000 10.274 12392 11712 10274 24104 34378 5506 2002-2003 12/03

Concord NC 2005 06/06

Peoria Crossings II 24131 6995 32816 3862 8495 35178 43673 11027 2002-2003 03/04

Peoria AZ 2005 05/05

Phenix Crossing 4282 2600 6776 200 2600 6976 9576 2060 2004 12/04

Phenix City AL

Pine Ridge Plaza 5000 19802 2026 5000 21828 26828 6607 1998/2004 06/04

Lawrence KS

PlacentiaTownCenter 11385 11200 11751 286 11200 12037 23237 3533 1973/2000 12/04

Placentia CA

PlazaatMarysville 9343 6600 13728 302 6600 14030 20630 4263 1995 07/04

Marysville WA
Plaza at Riverlakes 8719 5100 10824 17 5100 10841 15941 3240 2001 10/04

Bakersfield CA

Plaza Santa Fe 11a 28588 2049 30637 30637 9244 2000-2002 06/04

Santa Fe NM
PleasantRun 14110 4200 29085 2502 4200 31587 35787 9188 2004 12/04

Cedar Hill TX
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

Schedule III

Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Buildings and Accumulated

Buildings and Adjustments Land and Improvements Total Depreciation Date Date

Property Name Encumbrance Land Improvements to Basis Improvements Constructed Acquired

Powell Center 5490 7448 5490 7443 12933 1572 2001 04/07

Lewis Center OH

Preston Trail Village 13165 7139 13670 1040 7139 14710 21849 2414 1978/2008 09/08

Dallas TX

Promenade at Red Cliff 8271 5340 12665 878 5340 13543 18883 4206 1997 02/04

St George UT

Quakertown 8026 2400 9246 2400 9247 11647 2488 2004-2005 09/05

Quakertown PA

Rasmussen College 850 4049 85 759 4055 4814 1102 2005 08/05

Brooklyn Park MN

Ravelheatera 3440 22111 2881 3440 24992 28432 6346 2005 12/05

Houston TX

Raytheon Facility
650 18353 650 18355 19005 4991 Rehab 2001 08/05

State College PA

Red Bug Village 1790 6178 134 1790 6312 8102 1719 2004 12/05

Winter Springs FL

Reisterstown Road Plaza 46250 15800 70372 10347 15800 80719 96519 23928 1986/2004 08/04

Baltimore MD

Ridge Tool Building 415 6799 415 6800 7215 1725 2005 09/05

Cambridge OH

Rite Aid Store Eckerd Sheridan Dr 2903 2000 2722 2000 2722 4722 715 1999 11/05

Amherst NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd Transit Rd 3243 2500 2764 2500 2766 5266 727 2003 11/05

Amherst NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 900 1215 900 1215 2115 338 1999-2000 05/05

Atlanta GA
Rite Aid Store Eckerd Main St 2855 1860 2786 19 1860 2805 4665 732 2004 11/05

Batavia NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd Main St 2547 1510 2627 1510 2627 4137 690 2001 11/05

Batavia NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd Ferry St 2198 900 2677 900 2677 3577 703 2000 11/05

Buffalo NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd Main St 2174 1340 2192 1340 2192 3532 576 1998 11/05

Buffalo NY
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

Schedule III

Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Buildings and Accumulated

Buildings and Adjustments Land and Improvements Total Depreciation Date Date
Property Name Encumbrance Land Improvements to Basis Improvements Constructed Acquired

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 3091 1968 2575 1968 2576 4544 677 2004 11/05

Canandaigua NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1718 750 2042 750 2042 2792 561 1999 06/05

Chattanooga TN

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 2117 2080 1393 2080 1393 3473 366 1999 11/05

Cheektowaga NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 3163 3000 3955 22 3000 3977 6977 1109 2005 05/05

Colesville MID

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1703 900 2377 900 2377 3277 768 2003-2004 06/04

Columbia SC

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1362 600 2033 600 2034 2634 640 2003-2004 06/04

Crossville TN

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1665 900 2475 900 2475 3375 647 1999 11/05

Grand Island NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1926 470 2657 470 2657 3127 698 1998 11/05

Greece NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1635 1.050 2.047 1.050 2048 09X 644 2003-2004 06/04

Greer SC

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1550 3954 1550 3960 5510 1076 2004 8/05

Hellertown PA

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 2409 2060 1873 2060 1873 3933 492 2002 11/05

Hudson NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 2877 1940 2736 1940 2736 4676 719 2002 11/05

Irondequoit NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1946 700 2960 700 2961 3661 932 2003-2004 06/04

Kill Devil Hills NC

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1786 1710 1207 1710 1207 2917 317 1999 11/05

Lancaster NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 975 4369 975 4375 5350 1189 2004 08/05

Lebanon PA

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 2716 1650 2788 1650 2788 4438 732 2002 11/05

Lockport NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1682 820 1935 820 1935 2755 508 2000 11/05

North Chili NY
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

Schedule III

Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Buildings and Accumulated

Buildings and Adjustments Land and Improvements Total Depreciation Date Date

Property Name Encumbrance Land Improvements to Basis Improvements Constructed Acquired

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 2452 1190 2809 1190 2809 3999 738 1999 11/05

Olean NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1000 4328 1000 4333 5333 1178 2004 08/05

Punxsutawney PA

Rite Aid Store Eckerd Culver Rd 2376 1590 2279 1590 2279 3869 599 2001 11/05

Rochester NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd Lake Ave 3210 2220 3025 2220 3027 5247 795 2001 11/05

Rochester NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 2370 800 3075 800 3075 3875 808 2000 11/05

Tonawanda NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd Harlem Rd 2770 2830 1683 2830 1683 4513 442 2003 11/05

West Seneca NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd Union Rd 2395 1610 2300 1610 2300 3910 604 2000 11/05

West Seneca NY

Rite Aid Store Eckerd 1372 810 1434 810 1434 2244 376 1997 11/05

Yorkshire NY

RiverparkPhasellA 6435 1800 8542 57 1800 8485 10285 1973 2006 09/06

Sugar Land TX

Rivery Town Crossing 8018 2900 6814 308 2900 7122 10022 1623 2005 10/06

Georgetown TX

Royal Oaks Village 11a 2200 11859 232 2200 11627 13827 3064 2004-2005 11/05

Houston TX

Saucon Valtey Square 8758 3200 12642 2030 3200 10612 13812 3297 1999 09/04

Bethlehem PA

Shaws Supennarketa 2700 11532 298 2700 11234 13934 3820 1995 12/03

New Britain CT

Shoppes at Lake Andrew II 14807 4000 22996 305 4000 23301 27301 6857 2003 12/04

Viera FL

Shoppes at Park West 5449 2240 9357 56 2240 9301 11541 2822 2004 11/04

Mt Pleasant SC

The Shoppes at Quarterfield 4932 2190 8840 98 2190 8938 11128 2909 1999 1/04

Severn MD

Shoppes at Stroud 5711 27878 2938 5111 25540 30651 4182 2007-2008 1/08

Stroudsburg PA
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OFAMERICA INC

Schedule III

Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Buildings and Accumulated

Buildings and Adjustments Land and Improvements Total Depreciation Date Date

Property Name Encumbrance Land Improvements to Basis Improvements II Constructed Acquired

ShoppesofNewHope 3695 1350 11045 227 1350 10818 12168 3377 2004 07/04

Dallas GA

Shoppes of Prominence Point III 3650 12652 337 3650 12989 16639 3892 2004 2005 06/04

Canton GA 09/05

ShoppesofWamerRobins 5268 1110 11258 23 1110 11235 12345 3088 2004 06/05

Warner Robins GA

Shops at 8350 59570 70 8350 59640 67990 16573 2005 06/05

Plymouth MA

TheShopsatBoardwalk 7625 5000 30540 1397 5000 29143 34143 9085 2003-2004 07/04

Kansas City MO

Shops at Forest Commons 4615 1050 6133 70 1050 6063 7113 1778 2002 12/04

Round Rock TX

TheShopsatLegacy 61100 8800 108940 11635 8800 120575 129375 24214 2002 06/07

Piano TX

ShopsatParkPiace 7996 9096 13175 513 9096 13688 22784 4821 2001 10/03

Piano TX

Southgate Plaza 4027 2200 9229 61 2161 9329 11490 2660 1998-2002 03/05

Heath OH

Southlake Town Square VII 146468 41490 187353 19006 41490 206359 247849 51123 1998-2007 12/04 5/07

Southlake TX 9/08 3/09

Stanley Works Mac Tools 1900 7624 1900 7624 9524 2112 2004 1/05

Westerville OH

Stateline Station 6500 23780 14597 3829 11854 15683 1994 2003-2004 03/05

Kansas City MO
Stilesboro Oaks 5216 2200 9426 14 2200 9440 11640 2752 1997 12/04

AcworthGA

StonebridgePlazaa 1000 5783 138 1000 5921 6921 1592 1997 08/05

McKinney TX

StonyCreeki 8758 6735 17564 103 6735 17461 24196 6113 2003 12/03

Noblesville IN

Stony Creek 11a 1900 5106 46 1900 5152 7052 1346 2005 11/05

Noblesville IN

Stop Shop 2650 11491 2650 11497 14147 3014 Renov 2005 11/05

Beckman NY
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

Schedule III

Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Property Name Encumbrance Land

2300

Buildings and

Improvements

8760

Adjustments
to Basis

660

Land and

Improvements

2300

Buildings and

Improvements

9420

Total

11720

Accumulated

Depreciation

2446

Date

Constructed

1999

Date

Acquired

11/05

Target South Center 5571

Austin TX
14 2004 11/05

TimHortonDonutShop
212 30 212 30

Canandaigua NY
1979/1994 07/04

Tollgate Marketplace 35000 8700 61247 1971 8700 63218 71918

Be Air MD
2004 12/05

Town Square Plaza 16815 9700 18264 1489 9700 19753 29453 5051

Pottstown PA
1998 07/04

Towson Circle 9050 17840 798 6874 19218 26092 5636

Towson MD
2005 01/06

Travelers Office Building 650 7001 822 1079 7394 8473 1823

Knoxville TN
2003 02/05

Trenton Crossing 16640 8180 19262 3165 8180 22427 30607 6259

McAllen TX
854 2003 05/05

University Square

University Heights OH

University Town Center

26865

4574

1770 48068

9557

42239

166

986 6613

9723

7599

9723 2891 2002 11/04

Tuscaloosa AL

Vail Ranch Plaza 11008 6200 16275 77 6200 16352 22552 4580 20042005 04/05

Temecula CA
2003-2004 02/05

The Village at Quail Springs 5352 3335 7766 121 3335 7887 11222 2255

Oklahoma City OK
2004 09/05

Village Shoppes at Gainesville 20000 4450 36592 438 4450 37030 41480 10083

Gainesville GA
2004 08/04

VillageShoppesatSimonton

Lawrenceville GA

3411 2200 10874 216 2200 10658 12858 3310

2000 04/05

Walgreens 3058 450 5074 450 5074 5524 1376

Northwoods MO
1999 04/05

Walgreens 2242 550 3580 550 3580 4130 1017

West Allis WI
2005 07/06

Walters Crossing 20626 14500 16914 683 14500 17597 32097 4362

Tampa FL
2003-2004 05/04

WataugaPavillion 14500 5185 27504 103 5185 27607 32792 8794

Watauga TX
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

Schedule III

Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2012

in thousands

Initial Cost Gross amount carried at end of period

Buildings and Accumulated
Buildings and Adjustments Land and Improvements Total Depreciation Date Date

Property Name Encumbrance Land Improvements to Basis Improvements Constructed Acquired
WestTownMarket 5329 1170 10488 78 1170 10566 11736 2868 2004 06/05

Fort Mill SC

Wilton Square 8200 35538 106 8200 35644 43844 9669 2000 07/05

Saratoga Springs NY

WinchesterCommons 5839 4400 7471 182 4400 7653 12053 2232 1999 11/04

Memphis TN

Zurich Towers 59906 7900 137096 13 7900 137109 145009 38477 1986 1990 11/04

Schaumburg IL

Total Operating Properties 2076670 1203877 4521987 160797 1195527 4691134 5886661 1274842

Development Properties

Bellevue Mall 3056 3056 3056
Nashville TN

Green Valley 10419 11829 13416 1580 10940 12725 23665 945

Henderson NV
South Billings

Billings MT

Total Development Properties 10419 14885 13416 1580 13996 12725 26721 945

Developments in Progress 20360 29136 20360 29136 49496

TotallnvestmentProperties 2087089 $1239122 4564539 159217 1229883 4732995 $5962878 1275787

This property is included in the pool of unencumbered assets under the Companys amended and restated senior unsecured credit facility

portion of this property is included in the pool of unencumbered assets under the Companys amended and restated senior unsecured credit facility

The lease at this property was assigned from Hewitt Associates to Aon Corporation in 2012

This property was former Blockbuster Video The property name was changed when the tenant vacated in 2012

portion exterior pads of this property was sold in 2012

portion of this property is included in Developments in Progress
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Notes

RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

The initial cost to the Company represents the original purchase price of the property including amounts incurred subsequent to acquisition which were contemplated

at the time the property was acquired

The aggregate cost of real estate owned at December 31 2012 for U.S federal income tax purposes was approximately $5997426 unaudited

Adjustments to basis include payments received under master lease agreements as well as additional tangible costs associated with the investment properties including

any eamout of tenant space

Reconciliation of real estate owned

Balance at January

Purchase of investment property

Sale of investment property

Property held for sale

Provision for asset impainnent

Payments received under master leases

Acquired in-place lease intangibles

Acquired above market lease intangibles

Acquired below market lease intangibles

Balance at December 31

Balance at January

Depreciation expense

Sale of investment property

Property held for sale

Provision for asset impairment

Write-offs due to early lease termination

Other disposals

Balance at December 31

2012

6441555

31486

501369

8746

23819

21
23625

3829

3662

5962878

2011 2010

6721242 6969951

25194 58

269214 255764

54848 32318

259 789

23154 45551

2572 3171

6286 8618

6441555 6721242

2011 2010

1034769 866169

202970 212832

35604 22653

13856 8071

7512 11568

1940

1180767 1034769

Reconciliation of accumulated depreciation

2012

1180767

195994

87218

17
7423
6316

1275787
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Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to us including our consolidated

subsidiaries is made known to the officers who certify our financial reports and to the members of senior management and the

Board of Directors

Based on management evaluation as of December 31 2012 our president and chief executive officer and our executive vice

president chief financial officer and treasurer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in

Rules 3a- 15e and Sd- 15e under the Exchange Act are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by

us in our reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time

periods specified in the SECs rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated toour management including our president

and chief executive officer and our executive vice president chief financial officer and treasurer to allow timely decisions regarding

required disclosure

Changes in Internal Controls

There were no changes to our internal controls over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended.December 31 2012 that

has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal controls over financial reporting

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term

is defined in Exchange Act Rule 3a- 15f Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our

chief executive officer and chief financial officer we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over

financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control Integrated

Framework our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2012

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2012 has been audited by Deloitte Touche

LLP an Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm as stated in their report which is included herein
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Retail Properties of America Inc

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Retail Properties of America Inc formerly Inland Western Retail

Real Estate Trust Inc and subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2012 based on the criteria established in Internal

Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The

Companys management is responsible for maintaining effeàtive internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment

of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal

Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to exprss an opinion on the mpanys internal control over financial

reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require thatwe plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control

over financial reporting was maintained in all matenal respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control

over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in

the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision of the companys principal

executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions and effected by the companys board of directors

management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation

of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting pnnciples company internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in

reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as hecessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with genrally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of management and directors of the company and 3provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition ofthe companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of collusion or improper

management override of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on timely basis

Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject

to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2012 based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in Æccordaæce with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedules as of and for the year endedDecember 312012 ofthe Company

and our report dated February 202013 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements and financial

statement schedules

Is Deloitte Touche LLP

Chicago Illinois

February 20 2013
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Item 9B Other Information

On February 19 2013 we entered into retention agreements with Steven Grimes Angela Aman Niall Byrne Shane

Garrison Dennis Holland and James Kleifges The terms of these agreements are identical and are described in Item 11

Executive Compensation Retention Agreements which description is incorporated herein by reference

The foregoing summary of the retention agreements does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety

by reference to the full text of such documents which are filed as Exhibits 10.9 10.14 to this Form 10-K and are incorporated

herein by reference

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Directors and Executive Officers

Our board of directors the Board currently consists Of eight directors The Board size was reduced from nine to eight following

the resignation of Brenda Gujral as director on May 31 2012 After an evaluation our Board determined that all of our

directors satisfy the definition of independent under the NYSEs listing standards except for Steven GrimŁs The election of

members of the Board is conducted on an annual basis Each individual elected to the Board serves one-year term and until his

or her successor is elected and qualifies Accordingly the term of office ofeach of our directorswill expire at the 2013 annual

meeting Our officers serve at the discretion of the Board

Certain information regarding our executive officers and directors is set forth below

Name Age Position

Steven Grimes 46 Director President and Chief Executive Officer

Angela Aman 33 Executive Vice President Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Niall Byrne 56 Executive Vice President and President of Property Management

Shane Garrison 43 Executive Vice President chief Operating Officer and Chief Investment Officer

Dennis Holland 60 Executive Vice President General Counsel and Secretary

James Kleifges 63 Executive Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

Gerald Gorski 69 Director and Chairman of the Board

Kenneth Beard 73 Director

Frank Catalano Jr 51 Director

Paul Gauvreau 73 Director

Richard Imperiale 53 Director

Kenneth Masick 67 Director

Barbara Murphy 75 Director

AsofFebruaryl52013

Determined by the Board to be an independent director within the meaning of the NYSE listing standards

The following are biographical summaries of the experience of our executive officers and directors

Steven Grimes serves as our President and Chief Executive Officer and as Director Mr Grimes has served as one of our

directors since March 2011 and as our President and Chief Executive Officer since October 13 2009 Previously Mr Grimes

served as our Chief Financial Officer since the internalization of our management on November 15 2007 through December 31
2011 Chief Operating Officer since our internalization through October 12 2009 and Treasurer from October 14 2008 through

December 31 2011 Prior to our internalization Mr Grimes served as Principal Financial Officer and Treasurer and the Chief

Financial Officer of Inland Western Retail Real Estate Advisory Services Inc which was our former business manager/advisor

since February 2004 Prior to joining our former business manager/advisor Mr Grimes served as Director with Cohen Financial

mortgage brokerage firm and as senior manager with Deloitte in their Chicago-based real estate practice Mr Grimes is also

an active member ofvarious real estate trade associations including NAREIT and the Real Estate Roundtable Mr Grimes received

his B.S in Accounting from Indiana University
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Angela Aman serves as Executive Vice President ChiefFinancial Officer and Treasurer of the Company Ms Aman joined the

Company as director of capital markets on August 2011 and served as Vice President Director of Capital Markets since

October 11 2012 She has served as our Executive Vice President Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer since January 12012

Prior to joining the Company Ms Aman was Portfolio Manager with RREEF the real estate investment management business

of Deutsche Bank for six years As part of their North American investment group she focused on retail and regional mall

companies Ms Aman started her career in investment banking at Deutsche Bank where she spent four years with real estate group

undØrwritiæg debt and equity offerings as-well as advising clients on mergersand acquisitions
and additional strategic transactions

Ms Aman received her in Economics from The Wharton School of The University of Pennsylvania

Nialli Byrne serves as our Executive Vice President and President of Property Management In this role Mr Byrne is responsible

for the oversight of all the property management functions for our portfolio Mr Byrne has served as our Executive Vice President

since October 122010 and as our President ofProperty Management since the internalization of our management on November -15

2007 Prior to that time he served as Senior VicePresident of RPA1 HOLDCO Management LLC k/a InlandHoldco Management

LLC which was property management company affiliated with our former business manager/advisor since 2005 In this role

Mr Byrne wasresponsible for the oversight ofall-of the property management leasing and marketing activities for our portfolio

and was involved in our development acquisitions and joint venture initiatives Previously from 2004 to 2005 Mr Byrne served

as Vice President of Asset Management of AmØricÆn Landmark Properties Ltd private real estate company -where he was

responsible for large commercial and residential portfolio of properties Priorto joining American Landmark Properties Ltd

Mr Byrne served as Senior Vice President/Director of Operations for Providence-Management Company LLC or PMC Chicago

from 2000 to 2004 At PMC Chicago he oversaw all aspects of property operations daily management and- asset management

functions for an 8000-tinit multi-family portfolio Prior to joining PMC Chicago -Mr.- Byrne also had over 15 years of real estate

experience with the Chicago based Habitat Company and with AmeriCan Express/Balcor and five years o-f public accounting

experience Mr Byrne reCeivedhis B.S in Accounting from DePaul University and is Certified Public Accountant

Shane GarrIson serves as our Executive Vice President Chief Investment Officer and Chief Operating Officer In- this role

Mr Garrison is responsible for several operating functions within the company including leasing property management asset

management which includes acquisitions and dispositions joint ventures and construction operations He also serves as an

Executive Committee member of ourjoint venture entity MS Inland Fund LLC and- as an Advisory Board member of our joint

venture entities RC Inland L.P and RC Inland REIT LP Mr Garrison has served as our Chief Operating Officer since January

2012 as our Executive Vice PrØsident since October 12 2010-and as our Chief Investment Officer since the internalization of our

management on November 15 2007 Prior to that time Mr Garrison served as Vice President of Asset Management of RPAI

HOLDCO Management LLC f/k/a Inland US Management LLC which was property management company affiliated with

our former busifless manager/advisor since 2004 In this prior role MrL Garrison underwrote over $1.2 billion of assets acquired

by us and went on to spearhead our development and joint venture initiatives Previously Mr Garrison had served as head of

asset management for ECI Properties small boutique owner of industrial and retail-properties and the general manager of the

Midwest region for Circuit City large electronics retailer Mr Garrison received his B.S in Business Administration from Illinois

State University and an MBA in Real Estate Finance from DePaul University

Dennis Holland serves as our ExŁctitive Vice President General Counsel and Secretary In this role Mr Holland manages our

legal department and involved in all aspects of our business including real estate acquisitions and financings sales securities

laws corporate governance matters leasing and tenant matters and litigation management Mr Holland has served as our Executive

Vice President since October 12 2010 and-as our General Couflsel and-Secretary since the internalization of ourmanagement on

November 15 2007 Prior to that time he served as Associate Counsel of The Inland Real Estate Group Inc an affiliate of our

fOrmer business manager/advisor since December 2003 Prior to December 2003 Mr Holland served as-Deputy General Counsel

of Heller Financial Inc and General Counsel of its-real estate group and in business role with GE Capital following its acquisition

of Heller Financial Mr Hoilandreceived-hisB.S in Economics from Bradley University in 1974 and J.D from the John Marshall

Law Schoolin 1979

James KlefgØs rves as our Executive ViCe President and ChiefAccounting Officer Mr Kleifges has servedas our-Exective

Vice President since October 12 2010 and as our Chief Accounting Officer since the internalization of our management on

November 15 2007 Prior to that time he served as Chief Accounting Officer of Inland Western Retail Real Estate Advisory

Services Inc our former business manager/advisor since March 2007 Mr Kleifges served as Vice President Chief Financial

Officer Treasurer and Assistant Secretary of Inland Retail Real Estate Trust Inc.a publicly held retail real estate investmenttrust

from January 2005 until the acquisition of-the company by third party in February 2007 in transaction valued in excess of $6

billion From August 2004 through -December 2004 Mr Kleifges was the Vice President Corporate Controller for the external

business manager/advisor of Inland Retail Real Estate Trust Inc- From April 1999 to January 2004 Mr Kleifges was Vice

President/Corporate Controller of Prime Group Realty Trust an office and industrial real estate investment trust based in Chicago

Illinois with assets in excess of$ billion Prior to joining
Prime Group Mr Kleifges held senior financial and operational positions

115



in various private and public real estate companies located in Chicago Illinois and Denver Colorado Mr Kleifges also was

Senior Manager with KPMG in Chicago Illinois completing careerin public accounting from June 1972 to December 1982

Mr Kleifges earned .his B.A in Accounting from St Marys University in Winona Minnesota and has been Certified Public

Accountant since 1974

Gerald Gorski serves as Director and Chairman of the Board Mr Gorski has been one of our directors since July 2003

and Chairman of the Board since October 12 2010 He has been Partner in the law firm of Gorski Good LLP Wheaton Illinois

since 1978 Mr Gorskis practice is focused on governmental law and he represents numerous units of local government in Illinois

Mr Gorski has served as Special Assistant States Attorney and Special Assistant Attorney General in Illinois He received B.A
from North Central College with majors in Political ScieiiceandEconomic and J.D from DePaul University Law School

Mr Gorski serves as theViceChairman of the Board of Commissioners for the DuPage Airport Authority FurtherMr Gorski has

also served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of the DuPage National Technology Park He has written numerous articles on

various legal issues facing Illinois municipalities and has been speaker at number of municipal law conferences

Kenneth Beard serves as Director Mr Beard has been one of our directors since our inception on March 2003 He is

President and Chief Executive Officer of KHB Group Inc and Midwest Mechanical Construction mechanical engineering and

construction companies From 1999 to 2002 he was President and Chief Executive Officer of Exelon Services subsidiary of

Exelon Corporatton that engaged in the design installation and servicing of heating ventilation and air conditioning facilities for

commercial and industrialcustomers and provided energy-related services From 1974 to 1999 Mr Beard was President and Chief

Executive Officer of Midwest Mechanical Inc heating ventilation and air conditioning construction and service company that

he founded in 1974 From 1964 to 1974 Mr Beard was employed by The Trane Company manufacturer of heating ventilating

and air conditioning equipment Mr Beard holds an MBA and BSCE frpm the University of Kentucky and is licensed mechanical

engineer He is past chairman of the foundation board of the Wellness House in Hinsdale Illinois cancer suppor organization

and serves on the Deans Advisory Council of the University of Kentucky School of Engineering Mr Beard is past member of

the Oak Brook Illinois Plan Commission 1981 to 1991 and past board member of Harris Bank Hinsdale Illinois 1985 to

2004

Frank Catalano Jr serves as Director Mr Catalano has been one of our directors since our inception on March 2003

Mr Catalanos experience includes mortgage banking Since February 2008 he has been with Gateway Funding Diversified

Mortgage Srvices L.P residential mortgage banking company as their Regional Vice President From 2002 until August 2007
he was Vice President of American Home Mortgage Company He also was President and Chief Executive Officer of CCS

Mortgage Inc from 1995 through 2000.Since 1999 Mr çatalano has also served as President of Catalano Associates

Catalano Associates is real estate company that engages in brokerage and property management services and the rehabilitation

and leasing of office buildings Mr Catalano is currently memberof the ElmhurstMemorial Healthcare Board of Governors and

formerly served as the chairman .of the board of the Elmhurst Chamber of Commerce Mr Catalano holds mortgage bankers

license

Paul Gauvreau serves as Director Mr Gauvreau has been one of our directors since our inception on March 2003 He is

the retired Chief Financial Officer Financial Vice President and Treasurer of Pittway Corporation NYSE listed manufacturer

and distributor of professional burglar and fire alarm systems and equipment from 1966 until its sale to Honeywell Inc in 2001

He was President of Pittways non-operating real estate and leasing subsidiaries through 2001 He also was financial consultant

to Honeywell Inc. Genesis Cable L.L.C andADJJSA Inc Additionally he was directorand audit committee member of Cylink

Corporation NASDAQ Stock Market listed manufacturer of voice and data security products from 1998 until its merger with

Safenet Inc in February 2003 Mr Gauvreau holds an MBA from the University of Chicago and BSC from Loyola University

of Chicago He is on the Board ofTrusteesand memberof the Finance Committee of Benedictine University Lisle Illinois and

member of the Board of Directors of the Childrens Brittle Bone Foundation Pleasant Prairie Wisconsin

RichardP Imperiale serves as Director Mr Imperiale has been one of our directors since January 2008 Mr Imperiale is President

and founder of Forward Uniplan Advisors Inc Milwaukee Wisconsin based investment advisory holding company that together

with its affiliates manages and advises over $500 mjllion in client accounts Forward Uniplan Advisors Inc was founded by

Mr Imperiale in 1984 and specializes in managing equity REITand specialty portfolios for clients Mr Imperiale started his career

as credit analystforthe FirstWisconsinNationalBank now U.S Bank In 1983 Mr Imperiale joined B.C Ziegler Company
Midwest regional brokerage firm where he was instrumental in the development of portfolio strategies for one of the first hedged

municipal bond mutual funds in the country Mr Imperiale is widely quoted in local and national media on matters pertaining to

investments and authored the book Real Estate Investment Trusts New Strategies For Poqfolio Management published by John

Wiley Sons 2002 He attended MarquetteUniversity Business School where he received B.S in Finance

Kenneth Masick serves as Director Mr Masick has been one of our directors since January 2008 He retired from Wolf

Company LLP certified public accountants in April 2009 having been there as partner since its formation in 1978 That firm
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one of the largestin the Chicago area specializes in audit tax and consulting services to privately owned businesses Mr Masick

was partnerin-charge of the flrms audit and accounting department and was responsible for the firms quality control His

accounting experience also includes feasibility studies and due diligence activities with acquisitions Mr Masick has been in public

accounting since his graduation from Southern Illinois University in 1967 Mr Masick alsoholds Series 2427 and 63 licenses

from Financial Industry Regulatory Authority He also was treasurer and director jfWolf Financial Management LLC securities

broker-dealer firm Mr Masick was director of Inland Retail Real Estate Trust Inc from December 1998 until it was acquired

in February 2007

BarbaraA Murphy serves as Director Ms Murphy has been one of our directors since July 12003 Ms Murphy was the former

Chªirwoman of the DuPage Republican Party and is the current Committeeman for The Milton Township Republican Central

Committee in Illinois After serving for twenty years she recently retired as aTrustee of Milton Township in Illinois Ms Murphy

is currently member of the Illinois Motor Vehicle Review Board and the Matrimonial Fee Arbitration Board and has previously

served on the DuPage Civic Center Authority 6ard the DuPage County Domestic Violence Task Force and the Illinbis ToIl

Highway Advisory Committee and as founding member of the Family Shelter Service Board Ms Murphy also previously served

as the Chairman for the Milton Township Republican Central Committee in Illinois and as the Republican Partys State Central

Committeewoman for the Sixth Congressional District Ms Murphy alsO has experience as the co-owner of small retail business

Director Quà1fications In concluding that each ofthe foregoing Directors should serve as Director the Nominating and Corporate

Gvemance Committee or NCG Committee and the Board focused on each Directors participation and performance on the

Board during his or her tenure as well as each Directors experience qualifications attributes and skil1 discussed in each of the

Directors individual biographies set forth elsewhere herein in particular with respect to each Director the NCG Committee and

the Board noted the following

Mr Gorskis experience as lawyer and focus on local government law not only gives the Board valuable perspective

on the numerous legal issues including land use law that we face but also on local political issues

Mr Beards experience in engineering and construction services as well as his expertise in corporate acquisition
and

finance enable him to provide insight relating to our joint venture development and other activities

Mr Catalanos experience in running firm engaged in the brokerage management rehabilitation and leasing of

commercial property coincides closely with our business

Mr Gauvreaus financial experience including his serving as the chief financial officer of NYSE-listed company and

on the audit committee of NASDAQ-listed company ualifies him to serve as chairman of our Audit Committee

Mr Grimess experience and positionas our Chief Executive Officer

Mr Imperiales experience in the brokerage and investment advisory industries allows him to provide useful oversight

and advice as we look to refinance debt and strengthen our balance sheet as well as to address issues with respect to our

securities portfolio

Mr Masicks experience as certified public accountant and experience in providing audit tax and consulting services

to privately-owned businesses provides financial expertise to the Board and the Audit Committee and

Ms Murphys public service and experience in operating her own business bring different perspective to evaluating

our relationships with public officials tenants and customers of our tenants

Board Structure Since our inception we have had separate individuals serving in the positions of Chief Executive Officer and

Chairman of the Board The Board believes this structure best serves us by allowing one person Chief Executive Officer to focus

his efforts on setting our strategic direction and providing day-to-day leadership while the other person Chairman of the Board

can focus on presiding at meetings of the Board and overall planning and relations with the Directors The Board believes that the

needs of corporation with the large number of properties and the wide spectrum of issues that we face are best met by allowing

these two different functions to be handled by two separate individuals

Executive Sessions Non-management directors meet in executive session without management present at regularly scheduled

meetings and at such other times that the non-management directors deem appropriate The independent directors also meet in

executive session at least once per year The Chairman of the Board acts as the presiding director for these executive sessions of

non-management directors provided that if the Chairman of the Board is not an independent director or is not present the Chair

of the NCG Committee shall act as the presiding director and if such chair is not present the directors present at the executive

session shall determine the director to preside at such executive session by majority vote
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Board Role in Risk Management General oversight of risk management is function undertaken by the entire Board All major

purchases and sales of property are reviewed and approved by the Board As part of this review and approval process the Board

considers among other things the risks posed by such activities and receives input on various aspects of those risks including

operational financial legal and regulatory and reputational risk from senior management including the ChiefInvestment Officer

Chief Operating Officer Chief Financial Officer Chief Accounting Officer and the General Counsel. In addition the Audit

Committee regularly receives reports from the ChiofFinancial Officer and ChiefAccounting Officer as well as from our independent

auditors and other outside professionals with respect to financial and operational controls and risk assessment and reports on

these matters to the Board

Compensation Policy and Risk The Compensation Committee has reviewed our compensation policies and practices and does

not believe such policies and practices are reasonably likely to have material adverse effect on us

Guidelines on Corporate Governance and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Our Board upon the recommendation of the NCG Committee has adopted guidelines on corporate governance establishing

common set of expectations to assist the board of directors in performing its responsibilities The corporate governance policies

and guidelines address number of topics including among other things director qualification standards director responsibilities

the responsibilities and composition of the committees of the Board director access to management and independent advisors

director compensation management succession and evaluations of the performance of the Board Our corporate governance

guidelines meet the requirements of the NYSEs listing standards and are publicly available on our website at www.rpai.com under

corporate governanc on the investor relations webpage Our Board also has adopted code of business conduŁt and ethics

which includes conflicts of interest policy that applies to all of our directors and executive officers The Code of Business Conduct

and Ethics meets the requirements of code of ethics as defined by the rules and regulations of the SEC and is publicly available

on our website at www.rpai.com under corporategovernance on the investor relations webpage Aprinted copy of our corporate

governance guidelines and our code of business conduct and ethics may also be obtained by any shareholder upon request We
intend to disclose on this website any amendment to or waiver of any provision of our code of business conduct and ethics

applicable to our directors and executive officers that would otherwise be required to be disclosed under the rules the SEC or

the NYSE

Corporate Governance Profile

We have structured our corporate governance in manner we believe closely aligns our interests with those of our shareholders

Notable features of our corporate governance structure include the following

the Board is not staggered with each of our directors subject to re-election annually

of the eight persons who currently serve on the Board seven have been affirmatively determined by the Board to be

independent for purposes of the NYSEs listing standards

at least one of our directors qualifies as an audit committee financial expert as defined bySEC rules

we have an independent Chairman of our Board

we have opted out of the Maryland business combination and control share acquisition statutes and provide that we may
not opt in without shareholder approval

we do not have shareholder rights plan and we provide that in the future we will not adopt shareholder rights plan

unless our shareholders approve in advance the adoption of plan or if adopted by Our Board we will submit the

shareholder rights plan to our shareholders fOr Eatiflcation vote within 12 months of the adoption or the plan will

terminate and

we intend to conduct an annual shareholders advisory vote on executive compensation in accordance with the

shareholders advisory vote on the frequency of executive compensation

Board Meetings in 2012

Our Board met 17 times during 2012 Each director who was director dunng 2012 attended more than 88% of the aggregate of

the total number of meetings of our Board held during the period for which he or she has been director and the total

number of meetings of all committees of our Board on which the director served during the periods he or she served We do not

have policy with regard to Board members attendance at annual shareholder meetings However each director who was director

at such time attended the 2012 Annual Meeting with the exception of Ms Murphy
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Committees of the Board

Our Board has established three standing committees the Audit Committee the Executive Compensation Committee and the NCG

Committee The composition of each of the Audit Committee the Executive Compensation Committee and the NCG Committee

complies with the listing requirements and other rules and regulations of the NYSE as amended or modified from time to time

All members of the committees described below are independent as such term is defined in the NYSEs listing standards and as

affirmatively determined by the Board

Board Committee Chairman Members

Audit Committee Paul Gauvreu Kenneth Beard

Kenneth Masick

Executive COmpensation Committee Frank Catalano Jr Richard Imperiale

Barbara Murphy

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Richard Imperiale Gerald Gorski

Ketmeth Masick

Brenda Gujral served as member of the Executive Compensation Committee until April 2012 and -as member of the

Board until May 31 2012 Ms Gujral was not independent as such term is defined in the NYSEs listing standards

Audit Committee

Our Board has established an Audit Committee comprised of Messrs Beard Gauvreau and Masick Mr Gauvreau serves as the

Chair of the Audit Committee and our Board has determined that he qualifies as an audit committee financial expert under the

applicable SEC rules The Audit Committee operates under awritten charter approved by the Board of Directors copy ofthe

charter is available on our website at www.rpai.com under corporate governance on the investor relations page

The Audit COmmittee is responsible for the engagement of our independent registered public accounting firm reviewing the plans

and results of the audit engagement with our independent registered public accounting firm approving services performed by and

the independence of our independent registered public accounting firm considering the range of audit and non-audit fees and

consulting with our independent registered public accounting firm regarding the adequacy of our internal accounting controls The

Audit Committee held five meetings during 2012

Executive Compensation Committee

Our Board has established an Executive Compensation Committee comprised of Mr Catalano Mr Impenale and Ms Murphy

Mr Catalano serves as the chair of the Executive Compensation Committee The Executive Compensation Committee operates

under written charter approved by the Board copy of the charter is available on our websitØ at www.rpai.com under corporate

governance on the investor relations webpage The Executive Compensation Committee held 11 meetings in 2012

The Executive Compensation Committee provides assistance to the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to the

compensation of our directors executive officers and other employees and develops and implements our compensation policies

The Executive Compensation- Committees responsibilities include among others reviewing and approving corporate goals

and objectives relating to the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer evaluating the performance of the Chief Executive

Officer in light of these goals and objectives and determining and approving the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer

based on such evaluation and ii determining and approving the compensation of all executive officers other than the Chief

Executive Officer

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Our Board has established an NCG Committee The NCG Committee is comprised of Messrs Gorski Imperiale and Masick

Mr Imperiale serves as the chair of the NCG Committee The NCG Committee operates under written charter approved by the

Board copy of the charter is available on our website at www.rpai.com under corporate governance on the investor relations

webpage TheNCG Committee held nine meetings in 2012

The NCG Committee identifies possible director nominees whether through recommendation from shareholder or otherwise

and makes an initial determination as to whether to conduct full evaluation of the candidates This initial determination is based

on the information provided to the NCG Committee when the candidate is recommended the NCG Committees own knowledge

of the prospective candidate and information if any obtained by the NCG Committee inquiries The preliminary determination
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is based primarily on the need for additional Board members to fill vacancies expand the size of the Board or obtain representation

in market areas without Board representation and the likelihood that the candidate can satisfy the evaluation factors described

below If the members of the NCG Committee determine that additional consideration is warranted the NCG Committee may

gather additional information about the candidates background and experience The members of the NCG Committee take into

account many factors inclüdiiig the nOminees ability to make independent analytical inquiries general understanding of marketing

finance accounting and other elements relevant to the success of public company in todays business environment understanding

of the Companys business on technical level and other community service business educational and professional background

Each director must also possess fundamental qualities of intelligence honesty goodjudgment high ethics and standards ofintegrity

fairness and responsibility In determining whether to recommend director for re-election the NCG Committee also considers

the directors past attendance at meetings and participation in and contributions to the activities of the Board

The members of the NCG Committee may consider all facts and circumstances that it deems appropriate or advisable including

among other things the skills of the prospective director candidate his or her depth and breadth of business experience or other

background characteristics his or her independence and the needs of the Board In connection with this evaluation the members

of the NCG Committee determine whether to interview the candidate If the members of the NCG Committee deôide that an

interview is warranted one or more of those members and others as appropriate interview the candidate in person or by telephone

After completing this evaluation and interview the full Board would nominate such candidates for election Other than

circumstances in which we may be legally required by contract or otherwise to provide third parties with the ability to nominate

directors the NCG Committee will evaluate all proposed director candidates that it considers or who have been properly

recommended to it by shareholder based on the same criteria and in substantially the same manner with no regard to the source

of the initial recommendation of the proposed director candidate

Communications with the Board

Shareholders or other interested parties may communicate with any directors of the Company or the Board as group by writing

to them at of Directors/Board of Directors of Retail Properties of America Inc.J do General Counsel Retail Properties

of America Inc 2021 Spring Road Suite 200 Oak Brook Illinois 60523 and the General Counsel will promptly forward all

correspondence to the addressees

Shareholders or other interested parties may cothmunicate with non-management directors of the Company as group by writing

to Non-Management Directors of Retail Properties ofAmerica Inc do General Counsel Retail Properties ofAmerica Inc 2021

Spring Road Suite 200 Oak Brook Illinois 60523 and the General Counsel will promptly forward all correspondence to the

addressees

All communications received as set forth in the preceding paragraph will be opened by the office of the General Counsel for the

sole purpose of determining the nature ofthe communications Communications that constitute advertising promotions of product

or service or patently offensive material will not be forwarded to the directors Other communications will be forwarded promptly

to the addressee or addressees as deemed appropnate

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a ofthe Exchange Act requires our executive officers and directors and persons who own more than 10% of registered

class of our equity securities to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC and the NYSE Officers directors

and greater than 10% beneficial owners are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16a forms they

file To our knowledge based solely on our review of the copies of such reports furnished to us and written representations that

no other reports were required during the fiscal year ended December 31 2012 all Section 16a filing requirements applicable

to our executive officers directors and greater than 10% beneficial owners were timely satisfied

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The following discussion and analysis is set forth with respect to the compensation and benefits for our fiscal year ended

December 31 2012 for our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and the other three officers included in the

Summary Compensation Table included below who we refer to collectively as the Named Executive Officers

Objectives of Our Executive compensation Programs

The primary objectives of our executive compensation programs are to attract retain and reward experienced highly motivated

executives who are capable of leading us effectively and contributing to our long-term growth and profitability ii to motivate
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and direct the performance of management with clearly-defined goals and measures of achievement and iiito-align the interests

of management with the interests of our shareholders We attempt to achieve our objectives through offering the opportunity to

earn combination of cash and equity-based compensation to provide appropriate incentives for our executives

Our Executive Compensation Programs

For 2012 our executive compensation programs primarily consisted of base salary and equity incentive compensation Overall

we designed our executive compensation programs to achieve the objectives described above In particular consistent with our

objectives of motivating the performance of management with clearly-defined goals and measures of achievement aiid aligning

the interests of management with the interests of our shareholders equity incentive compensation constitutes significant portion

of our total executive compensation We also structured our equity incentive compensation to be based on our actual performance

compared to pre-established performance goals although for 2012 we made additional grants of restricted stock to the Named

Executive Officers subject to vesting over five years in light of our significant achievements in 2012 that were not reflected in

those pre-established performance goals our historically below market compensation and our desire to strengthen managements

alignment with shareholders In determining the mix of the different elements of executive compensation the proportions -were

determined by the Executive Compensation Committee or the Committee primarily based on its understanding of prevailing

practices in the marketplace and our historical executive compensation practices For 2012 we generally kept the mix of the

different elements of executive compensation consistent with the mix that we had in 2011

Each of the primary elements of our executive compensation is discussed in detail below including description of the particular

element and how it fits into our overall executive compensation and discussion of the aniounts of compensation paid to the

Named Executive Officers for 2012 under each of these elements In the descriptions below we highlight particular compensation

objectives that are addressed by specific elements of our executive compensation program however it should be noted that we

have designed our compensation programs to complement each other and collectively serve all of our executive compensation

objectives described above Accordingly whether or not specifically mentioned below we believe that as part of our overall

executive compensation each element to greater or lesser extent serves each of our objectives

At our 2012 annual meeting an advisory resolution approving the compensation paid to our named executive officers for 2011

as disclosed in our proxy statement for the 2012 annual meeting including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis

compensation tables and narrative discussions was approved by our shareholders with more than 82% of the votes cast on the

proposal being voted in favor of the proposal to approve such resolution The Committee has considered the results of this vote

and as result of the high percentage of votes cast in favor of this proposal the Committee viewed these results as an indication

of shareholders overall satisfaction with the manner in which we compensated our named executive officers for 2011 Accordingly

the Committee did not implement changes to our executiye compensation programs as result of the shareholder advisory vote

Base Salary

We pay the Named Executive Officers base salary which we review and determine annually We believe that competitive base

salary is necessary element of any compensation program that is designed to attract andretain talented and experienced executives

We also believe that base salaries can motivate and reward executives for their overall performance

The following table sets forth the annual base salaries for the Named Executive Officers for 2012 and for those executives who

were also named executive officers in the prior year 2011

2012 2011 Percentage

Named Executive Officer Base Salary Base Salary Change

Steven Grimes 525000 525000

Angela -Aman 335000 N/A N/A

Niall Byrne 300000 275000 9.1%

Shane Garrison 385000 350000 10.0%

Dennis Holland 335000 325000 3.1%

In determining base salary for each Named Executive Officer for 2012 the Committee generally considered number of factors

on subjective basis including but not limited to the scope of the- officers responsibilities within the Company ii the

experience of the officer within our industry and at the Company iiiperformance of the Named -Executive Officer and his or

her contribution to the Company iv the Companys financial budget and general wage level throughout the Company for 2012

review of historical compensation information for the individual officer vi subjective determination of the compensation

needed to motivate and retain that individual vii the recommendations of the Chief Executive Officer including his decision to
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forego any increase in his base salary for 2012 and viii general industry and market conditions and their impact upon the ability

of the Company to achieve objective performance goals and the time commitment required of the Named Executive Officers For

2012 Ms Amans base salary was initially established at the rate of $285000 per year which was established principally by

reference to the base salary of our principal accounting officer and was subsequently increased to $385000 per year
based

principally on the Committees preliminary review of the executive compensation review prepared by Steven Hall Partners

LLC or SHP described in more detail below that was used in making compensation decisions for 2013 The percentage increase

to Mr Hollands base salary was slightly less than the increases to Mr Byrnes and Mr Garrisons base salary primarily based on

the Committees view that Mr Hollands 2011 base salary was higher relative to similarly situated executives at peer companies

than the base salaries of Messrs Byrne and Gamson

Equity Incentive Compensation

Our equity incentive compensation program is intended to reward our executives with long-term compensation for annual

performance The primary objectives of this program are to motivate and direct the performance of management with clearly-

defined goals and measures of achievement further align the interests of our executives with our shareholders over the longer

term and serve as retention tool for our executives Historically we have used restricted stock for our equity incentive compensation

program because we believe thatthese full value awards provide the best alignment with our shareholders by fully reflecting the

total return we provide to our shareholders including dividends or other distributions as well as potential future increases or

decreases in our stock price

The structure of our equity compensation program for 2012 was substantially similar to the program we had in place for 201

Under our equity incentive compensation ptogram for 2012 eachof the Named Executive Officers was eligible to receive grant

of restricted stock up to specified target dollar value based on the achievement of pre-established company and individual goals

For each of the Named Executive Officers 50% of the target dollar value of each grant was based on the achievement of company

goals and the remaining 50% of the target dollar value of.each grant was based on the achievement of individual goals The number

of shares of restricted stock to be granted is calculated by dividing the dollar value earned by the Named Executive Officer based

on the achievement of these goals by the closing price of our common stock on the date the Committee determines whether the

goals have been achieved or if such date occurs during the regular quarierly blackout period under our insider trading policy on

the second business day after we have announced earnings for the applicable quarter Any shares of restricted stock that are granted

are subject to additional vesting requirements with 50% vesting on each Of the third and fifth anniversaries of the grant date subject

to continued employment through that date

The following table setsforth the target dollar values of the restricted stock grants that the Named Executive Officers were eligible

to earn for 2012 and forthose executives who were also named executive officers in the prior year 2011

2012 Target Value 2011 Target Value Percentage Change

of Base of Base of Base

Named Executive Officer Salary Salary Salary

Steven Grimes 262 500 50% 262 500 50%

Angela Aman 96250 25% N/A N/A N/A N/A

Niall Byrne 75000 25% 68750 25% 9.1%

Shane Garrison 96250 25% 87500 25% 10.0%

Dennis Holland 83750 25% 81250 25% 3.1%

Represents 25% of Ms Amans base salary as of December 312012 which was $385000

The Committee established these target dollar values for 2012 in the same manner as it did for 2011 i.e the target value of the

restricted stock grant that Mr Grimes was eligible to receive equaled 50% of his base salary and the target value for each of the

other Named Executive Officers equaled 25% of the base salary of each other Named Executive Officer

For 2012 the company goals were the same for all of the Named Executive Officers and were as follows economic occupancy

of9l .5% as of December 31 2012 for our total operating portfolio same store NOI growth of 2.5% for 2012 and signed new and

renewal leases covering at least three million square feet in 2012 The Named Executive Officers were only entitled to the portion

of their equity incentive compensation award attributableto the company goals if all three of these goals were met In addition

in late 2011 the Committee establishedthe following individual goals for the Named Executive Officers for 2012
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Named Executive Officer Individual Goals

Steven Grimes Goals relating to supervision of the other executive officers and the

achievement by other executive officeraof their individual goals

Angela Aman Goals relating to the implementation of capital recycling plan investor

relations and corporate finance modeling

Niall Byrne Goals relating to tenant retention management of property operating expenses

and management of accounts receivable balances

Shane Garrison Goals relating to the growth of our joint venture with RioCan disposal of

assets and transactional costs savings

Denrns Holland Goals relating to the management of expenses for the legal department

The Named Executive Officers were oniy entitled to the portion of their equity incentive compensation award attributable to the

individual goals if all of the individual goals were met

For 2012 the Committee determined that not all of the company goals had been met and as result none of the Named Executive

Officers had earned the portion of his or her equity incentive compensation award that was based on the company goals The

Committee determined that each of Messrs Grimes Byrne and Holland and Ms Aman had met his or her individual goals for

2012 and as result had earned the portion of his or her equity compensation award that was based on the individual goals The

Committee decided that Mr Garrison had met all of his individual goals for 2012 with the exception of the goal relating to the

growth of our joint venture with RioCan However the Committee determined that Mr Garrison did not meet that goal due the

strategic shift in our business which resulted from the listing of our Class common stock on the NYSE and our concurrent

offering As result of the capital raised by the offering and our enhanced ability to access capital through the public markets in

the future that was facilitated by the listing we decided to retain portion of the assets that we had otherwise planned to contribute

to our joint venture with RioCan and accelerate the disposition of our non-core and non-strategic assets to target over $450 million

of these dispositions in 2012 In light of the fact that we disposed of an excess of $450 million in non-core and non-strategic assets

during 2012 the Committee determined to award Mr Garrison the full amount of his equity compensation award that was based

on his individual goals

In determining the final amount of equity incentive compensation awards for 2012 the Committee also took into account the

significant accomplishments that we achieved in 2012 that were not reflected in the pre-established goals that were set in December

2011 Additionally the Committee took into consideration SHPs report described below indicating that our executive

compensation levels were well below market and the Committees desire to provide greater portion of the Named Executive

Officers total compensation in equity in order to strengthen alignment with shareholders As result of these significant

achievements and other considerations we decided to grant restricted stOck to each of our Named Executive Officers with value

equal to the target value we initially established

The following table sets forth the dollar values of the restricted stock actually granted to each of the Named Executive Officers

for 2012 These grants were approved on February 12 2013 with the number of shares to be determined based on the closing

price of the Companys Class common stock on February 21 2013 but remain subject to vesting over five years with 50%

vesting in February 2016 and 50% vesting in February 2018 subject to continued employment through such dates

2012

Restricted

Stock Grant

Named Executive Officer

Steven Grimes 262500

Angela Aman 96250

Niall Byrne 75000

Shane Garrison 96250

Dennis Holland 83750

Stock Ownership Guidelines

In order to complement our equity incentive compensation program and further align the interests of our Named Executive Officers

with those of our shareholders our Board adopted stock ownership guidelines that apply to our executives See Director and

Officer Stock Ownership Guidelines below for summary of these guidelines
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Retention Agreements

In February 2013 we entered into retention agreements with each of the Named Executive Officers The agreements among other

things provide for severance payments generally equal to multiple of base salary and target bonus or target equity award value

plus continuation of healthcare benefits for period of time to the applicable Named Executive Officer if his or her employment

is terminated by us without cause or by the Named Executive Officer for good reason Each of these agreements also provides for

full acceleration of vesting of unvested time-based equity awards upon change in control or Named Executive Officers

termination by us without cause or as result of death or disability or by the Named Executive Officerfor good reason The

retention agreements also require the Named Executive Officers to comply with employee non-solicitation obligations for one

year following termination and non-disparagement obligations and require the Named Executive Officers to execute general

release of claims for our benefit at the time of termination in order to be eligible to receive the cash severance payments and

continuation of healthcare benefits described above

We realize that consideration of an acquisition by another company or other change in control transaction as well as the possibility

of an involuntary termination or reduction in responsibility can be distraction to executives and can cause them to consider

alternative employment opportunities Accordingly we believe that establishing pre-negotiated severance benefits for the Named

Executive Officers helps encourage the continued dedication of the Named Executive Officers and further aligns the interests of

the Named Executive Officers and our shareholders in the event of potentially attractive proposed change in control transaction

following which one or more of the Named Executive Officers may be expected to be terminated We alsO believe that establishing

pre-negotiated severance benefits encourages our executives to focus on longer teim goals that are in the best interest of shareholders

over longer time penod but may in some cases negatively impact short term results In addition we believe these retention

agreements by specifically setting forth severance terms and conditions that are agreed upon in advance with the Named Executive

Officers make it easier for us to make changes in our senior executive team if desired without the need for protracted negotiations

over severance See Executive Compensation Retention Agreements below for summary of the retention agreements we

entered into with the Named Executive Officers

Broad-Based Benefits

In addition to the compensation programs described above each of the Named Executive Officers was eligible to participate in

the same benefits programs available to all of our employees health and dental insurance group term life insurance short-term

disability coverage and tax-qualified 401k plan

Anti-Hedging andAnti-Pledging Policy

None of the Named Executive Officers has engaged in any hedging transactions with respect to the Companys stock or pledged

any of his or her shares of stock in the Company and in early 2013 we established formal anti-hedging and antipledging policies

that generally prohibit all of our executive officers and directors including the Named Executive Officers from engaging in any

hedging transactions or pledging any shares of the Companys stock Exceptions to this policy can only be made with the prior

approval of the Audit Committee

Executive Compensation Process

Information regarding our processes and procedures for considering and determining the compensation of our executives including

the role of any executive officers is described below under Executive Compensation Executive and Director Compensation

Process

Executive Compensation Review for 2013

Beginning in late 2012 following our initial listing on the NYSE in April2012 the Committee conducted comprehensive review

of our executive compensation programs and levels In connection with this review the Committee retained compensation

consultant SHP In September 2012 SHP prepared written report for the Committee providing thorough analysis of our

executive compensation programs including competitive analysis of compensation levels for the Named Executive Officers

ii an analysis of our incentive plans with regard to competitiveness design features and vehicle usage iii an internal analysis

which involved review of the documents governing our current executive compensation programs and interviews with our

executives to ascertain their perspectives regarding our overall competitiveness with respect to compensation and iv SHPs
recommendations regarding the mix of our executive compensation and the structure of our incentive programs for 2013
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Benchmarking

In connection with its analysis SHP also developed peer group compnsed of 12 retail REITs to be used along with other

market data in benchmarking our executive compensation programs and levels The companies selected for the
peer group represent

similarbusinesses and have annual revenue and market capitalization comparable to ours This peer group used for benchmarking

executive compensation for fiscal 2013 included the following companies

CBL Associates Properties Inc Glimcher Realty Trust Regency Centers Corp

DDR Corp Kimco Realty Corp Tanger Factory Outlet Center Inc

Equity One Inc Macench Co Taubman Centers Inc

Federal Realty Investment Trust Penn Real Estate Investment Trust Weingarten Realty Investors

The peer group data presented to the committee included information regarding base salary bonus amounts total annual

compensation and long-term equity and incentive compensation For each of these categorie .SHP presented information

comparing our compensation to the compensation paid by these companies at the 25th 50th and 75 percentiles for comparable

positions Additionally SHP reviewed and provided analysis regarding the annual and long-term incentive plan designs and

share ownership guidelines utilized by the companies in our peer group identifying trends in the structuring of executive

compensation

Executive Compensation Changes for 2013

As result of the comprehensive review described above the Committee concluded that certain aspects of our executive

compensation programs should be realigned to better reflect our business strategies talent priorities and market practices In

particular the Committee concluded that we currently and historically lagged the market in the amount oftotal direct compensation

we provide to our executive officers which if continued could negatively affect our ability to attract and retain high quality

employees and executives in the future The total remuneration paid by the Company to its named executive officers was the

lowest among its
peers

both as percentage of revenue and as percentage of FF0 Additionally the Committee concluded that

our historical executive compensation mix and structure was significantly different from our peers as it relied heavily on base

salary and cash compensation rather than long term performance-based incentives

With the above conclusions in mind the Committee cOntinued to consult with SHP during late20 12 and early 2013 in connection

with finalizing 2013 compensation decisions regarding base salaries and incentive compensation In structuring the executive

compensation programs going forward we made thefollowing changes among others

Named Executive Officer Total Compensation For 2013 we increased the base salary and target incentive compensation

for each Named Executive Officer to roughly equal the 25th percentile of our 2013 peer group for each of their comparable

positions Over time our goal is to migrate target total compensation for each of our Named Executive Officers closer to

the median total compensation level of our 201 peer group for each of their comparable positions

Executive Compensation Mix and Structure We restructured the compensation mix for the Named Executive Officers

based on our desired marketplace positioning retention considerations and long term strategic needs of the Company

Accordingly the Committee determined among Other things to place greater emphasis on incentive compensation

ii revise the company goals for 2013 to among other things include goal based on relative total shareholder return

and iii reduce the vesting periods forequity incentive compensation to more closely align with our peers Given our

desire to enhance alignment with shareholders for201 we determined to pay our incentive compensation entirely in

shares of restricted stock to the extent it is earned consistent with 2012 Details regarding these changes are set forth

below

Target Incentive Compensation For 2013 we significantly increased the percentage of each Named Executive

Officers target incentive compensation as percentage of his or her total potential compensation During 2012

the Named Executive Officers target incentive compensation represented 20%-33% of each of the Named

Executive Officers total potential compensation with base salary representing the remainder For 2013 target

incentive compensation will represent 50% or more of each of our Named Executive Officers total potential

compensation and in the case of our Chief Executive Officer will represent more than two-thirds of his total

potential compensation We believe these changes will create much more performance-based compensation

structure and will better incentivize our executives to maximize our performance

2013 Company Goals For 2013 we revised the company goals to reflect our commitment to maximizing

shareholder value In particular the company goals used to determine equity incentive compensation that we
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established for 2013 include goals based on relative total shareholder return and ii growth in same store

EBITDA which is calculated by subtracting general and administrative expenses adjusted to exclude items that

the Committee does not believe are representative of our ongoing operating performance from our publicly

reported same store NOl We believe that these goals will help to strengthen managements alignment with

shareholders by incorporating goal based on relative shareholder returns

Percentage of Target Incentive Compensation Based on Company Goals For 2013 the percentage of the target

value of each grant that is based on the achievement of company goals has been increased with the percentage

varying by Named Executive Officer During 2012 50% of the target value of each grant was based on the

achievement of company goals and the remaining 50% of the target value of each grant was based on the

achievement of individual goals For 2013 75% of the target value of our Chief Executive Officers equity

incentive compensation will be based on company goals and 50%-60% of the target value for each of our other

Named Executive Officers will be based on the achievement of company goals with the remainder to be based

on the achievement of individual goals The increase in the percentage Of the target value of each grant that is

based on company goals is meant to better incentivize each Named Executive Officer and to more closely align

management with shareholders

Vesting Period for Target Incentive Compensation Historically awards of incentive compensation based on

company and individual goals have been subject to vesting on the third and fifth anniversaries of the grant date

respectively subject to continued employment through that date We concluded based on SHPs report that

this vesting schedule is inconsistent with prevailing market practices for our peer group and otherpublicly-listed

companies Therefore we changed the vesting period so that awards of equity incentive compensation based

on company and individual goals are subject to vesting over three years and one year respectively subject to

continued employment

The following table sets forth the base salaries and target incentive compensation amounts for each of the Named Executive

Officers for 2013

2013 Target

2013 Incentive

Named Executive Officer Base Salary Compensation

Steven Grimes 700000 1425000

Angela Arnan 425000 675000

Niall Byrne 325000 325000

Shane Garrison 475000 725000

Dennis Holland 375 000 435 000

The following table sets forth the percentage of the target value of our incentive compensation for 2013 based on company and

individual goals respectively for each Named Executive Officer

Company Goals

Total

Shareholder Same Store Individual

Named Executive Officer Return EBITDA Goals

Steven Grimes 37.5% 37.5% 25%

Angela Anian 30.0% 30.0% 40%

Niall Byrne 30.0% 30.0% 40%

Shane Garrison 30.0% 30.0% 40%

Dennis Holland 25.0% 25.0% 50%

We believe that these changes to our executive compensation programs will enhance our ability to attract and retain talented

executives and employees in the future and will better incentivize our executives to maximize our performance which will inure

to the long-term benefit of our shareholders
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2012 Summary Executive Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information with respect to all compensation paid or earned forservices rendered to us by the Named

Executive Officers for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Summary Compensation Table

All Other

Stock Compensation
Name and Principal Position Awards

___________
Steven Grimes 1500

President and Chief Executive Officer 375000 1000

Angela Aman

Executive Vice President Chief Financial

Officer and Treasurer

Represents company match to 40 1k plan

The amounts reported were based on the probable outcome of the applicable corporate and individual performance measures under the

2011 executive incentive compensation program as of the service inception date for accounting purposes Management believed it was

probable that each Named Executive Officer would receive the entire amount of restricted stock awards available In addition amounts

include restricted stock awards granted on April 12 2011 related to the individual performance portion of the 2010 executive incentive

compensation program as follows Mr Grimes $112 500 Mr Byrne $12 500 Mr Gamson $12 500 and Mr Holland $33 125

The amounts reported were based on the probable outcome of the applicable corporate performance measures under the 2010 executive

incentive compensation program as of the service inception date for accounting purposes If the applicable corporate performance measures

had been achieved for these restricted stock awards the fair value of the portion of the restricted stock awards that is based on achieving

the applicable corporate performance measures would have been as follows for each of the Named Executive Officers Mr. Grimes

$112 500 Mr Byrne $50 000 Mr Gamson $50 000 and Mr Holland $33 125 Mr Gamson achieved his applicable corporate

performance measures and received restricted stock of $50000 The remaining Named Executive Officers did not achieve their applicable

corporate performance measures and as such received no restricted stock

Ms Aman became Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer on January 20

Mr Garrison became Chief Operating Officer on January 2012

2012 Grants of Plan-Based Awards

There were no grants of plan-based awards made to our Named Executive Officers that had grant date occurring during the
year

ended December 31 2012 other than those with service inception date occurring prior to 2012 that were previously reported

In February 2013 we granted shares of restricted stock to the Named Executive Officers pursuant to our equity compensation

program for 2012 as set forth above under Executive Compensation Compensation Discussion and Analysis Our Executive

Compensation Programs Equity Incentive Compensation

Year

2012

2011

2010

2012

2012

2011

2010

2012

2011

2010

2012

2011

2010

Total

526500

921000

450000

1500 336500

Niall Byrne

Executive Vice President and

President of Property Management

Shane Garrison

Executive Vice President Chief Operating

Officer and Chief Investment Officer

Dennis Holland

Executive Vice President

General Counsel and Secretary

Salary

525000

525000

450000

335000

300000

275000

250000

385000

350000

250000

335000

325000

265000

Bonus

20000

20000

20000

20000

81250

100000

114375

1500 301500

1000 377250

250000

1500 386500

470000

250000

1500 336500

1000 460375

265000
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2012 Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to outstanding equity awards at December 31 2012 with respect

to our Named Executive Officers

Stock Awards

Number of Shares Market Value of

or Units of Stock Shares or Units of

That Have Not Stock That Have

Name Vetted Not Vested $fi

Steven Grimes 6569 78631

15108 180843

Angela Aman

Niall Byrne 730 8738

3957 47365

Shane Garrison 3650 43691

5036 60281

Dennis Holland 1934 23150

4676 55972-

Market value is based on price of $11.97 per share which was the closing price on the NYSE of one share of our

Class common stock on December 31 2012

The awards have vesting provisions whereby 50% of the awards vest on April 12 2014 and 50% of the awards vest on

April 12 2016 subject to continued employment through such dates

The awards have vesting provisions whereby 50% of the awards vest on March 13 2015 and 50% of the awards vest

on March 13 2017 subject to continued employment through such dates

As of December 31 2012 pursuant to the terms of our 2008 Long-Term Equity Compensation Plan and the applicable award

agreements all outstanding unvested shares of restncted stock held by each of the Named Executive Officers will fully vest upon

the occurrence of change in control or in the event that the Named Executive Officers employment is terminated by us without

cause or as result of death or disability As result of these provisions if any of the events set forth above occurred with respect

to Named Executive Officer as of December 312012 the Named Executive Officer would have vested in all of the stock awards

set forth abovewith the market values as set forth above As of February-i 2013 pursuant to the-terms of the retention agreements

described below and the applicable award agreements alloutstÆnding unvested shares of restricted stock held by each of the

Named Executive Officers will fully vest upon the occurrence of change in control or in the event that the Named Executive

Officers employment is terminated by us without cause or as result of death or disability or by the Named Executive Officer for

good reason The terms cause resignation for good reason and change in control are specifically defined in the applicable documents

Retention Agreements

In February 2013 we entered into retention agreements with each of the Named Executive Officers The initial term of each

agreement is for two years beginning on February 19 2013 with automatic two-year renewals commencing on each anniversary

date unless written notice of termination is given at least 90 days prior to such date by either party Generally if any of the Named

Executive Officers is terminated for any reason under the retention agreements he or she will be subject to the following continuing

obligations after termination non solicitation of our employees for one year and ii non-disparagement obligations

Each retention agreement provides for the following payments and benefits to the applicable Named Executive Officer in connection

with the termination of his or her employment by us without cause or by the Named Executive Officer for good reason

cash payment equal to one times or if the termination occurs in cbnneôtion -with Or within two years
after change in

control two times the sum of the Named Executive Officers annual base salary at the rate then in effect without

giving effect to any reduction in the base salary rate amounting to good reason and ii the Named Executive Officers

target cash bonus or for so long as we maintain an annual bonus program payable in equity awards in lieu of an annual

cash bonus program the dollar amount of the Named Executive Officers target equity award under such bonus program

for the year
in which the termination occurs or the prior year

if target annual cash bonus or equity award amount had

not yet been established for such year

all unpaid annual bonus amounts earned during the year in which the termination occurs through the most recently

completed fiscal quarter prior to the date of termination and
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continuation of healthcare benefits or cash payments equalto the premiums for healthcare benefits for up to 18 months

after termination

provided that the Named ExeŒiitive Officer enters into general release of claims for our benefitin connection with such termination

In addition the retention agreements provide that upon change in control or Named Executive Officers termination by us

without cause or as result of death ordisability or by the Named Executive Officer fOr good reason all of such Named Executive

Officersoutstanding unvested equity awards that are only subject to time-basedvesting conditions will fully vest This acceleration

of vesting will not apply to any equity awards that are subject to performance-based vesting conditions

Under the retention agreements in the event that any payment or benefit constitutes an excess parachute payment under Section

280G of the Code subject to an excise tax the Named Executive Officers ayments and otherlterminaUon benefits will be reduced

to the extent necessary to avoid such excise tax but only.if sich reduction would result in greater after-tax payments and benefits

to the Named Executive Officer

The terms cause resignation for gOod reason and change in cotitrol are specifically defined in the retention agreements

Because these retention agreements were entered into after December 31 2012 the Named Executive Officers would not have

been entitled to any payments or benefits under these retention agreements in connection with termination of employment or

change in control occurring as of December 31 2012

Compensation Risks

The Committee.with assistance from SHP reviewed the Companys compensation policies and practices for its employees to

determine whether they encourage unnecessary or excessive risk4aking Due to the greater emphasis..piaced on incentive

compensation at higher levels ofthe organization and the fact that these individua1s are more likely tornake.decisions that impact

corporate performance and could have material adverse effect on the Company the review focused primarily on our executive

compensationpolicies and practices BªsŁdon this review we conciudedthat risks arising from our policies andpractices for

compensating employees are not reasonably likely to have material adverse effect on the Company Our conclusion was based

primarily on the following findings

our compensation program is more heavily weighted towards fixed compensation compared to variable compensation

there are downsiderisks associated with pursuing poor business/strategic alternatives including failure to meet goals

under our equity incentive compensation program and decline.in value of shares of stock previously granted under our

equity incentive compensation program that are subject to vesting over five years

our executive compensation program has significant focus on long-term equity compensation

the goals for our equity incentive program are aligned with long-term performance objectives/metrics reflect balanced

mix of individual and company goals aligned with our strategic objectives are bothquantitative and qualitative and

provide comprehensive framework for assessing performance

incentive compensation opportunities are capped and therefore do not incentivize employees to maximize short-term

performance at the
expense

of long-term performance

our compensation levels and opportunities are in keeping.witli appropriate competitive practice and

our executives and directors are expected to maintain an ownership interest in the Company which aligns their interests

with those of shareholders

Director Compensation

Directors who are employees of the Company do not receive compensation for their service as directors

We provide the following compensation for non-employee directors

an annual retainer of $75000 for service as director increased from $50000 effective January 2013

an additional annual retainer of $50000 for service as chairman ofthe board of directors increased from $25000 effective

January 2013
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an additional annual retainer of $25000 for service as the chair of the Audit Committee increased from $10000 effective

January 12013

an additional annual retainer of $15000 for service as the chair of the Executive Compensation Committee increased

from $10000 effective January 2013

an additional annual retainer of $10 000 for service as the chair of the Nominating Committee and

an additional annual retainer of $5000 for service as non-chair member of the Audit Executive Compensation or

Nominating Committee effective Janudry 2013

In addition subject to shareholder approval of an amendment to our Independent Director Stock Option Plan to permit granting

of restricted stock non-employee directors will receive an annual restricted stock award subject to vesting over one year having

value of $75000 For 2013 in lieu of restricted stock grant we paid $75000 in January 2013 to each non-employee director

with the expectation but not the requirement that non-employee directors that do not already meet the $287500 threshold under

our stock ownership guidelines use the retainer to acquire shares of our Class common stock when permitted under our insider

trading policy

Pnor to January 2013 we also paid per meeting fees equal to $1000 for each board meeting attended in person $750 for each

board meeting attended telephonically and $500 for each committee meeting attended in person or telephonically In addition

prior to January 2013 each continuing non-employee director was entitled to be granted an option under our Independent

Director Stock Option Plan to acquire 2000 shares of common stock on the date of each annual shareholders meeting All such

options were granted at the fair market value of share on the last business day preceding the date of each annual shareholders

meeting based on the average closing price for thefive trading days ending on such date and become fully exercisable on the

second anniversary of the date of grant Accordingly on October 2012 each of our non-employee directors was granted an

option to purchase 2000 shares of Class common stock at an exercise price of $11 .736 per share

Options that were granted under the Independent Director Stock Option Plan are exercisable until the first to occur of

the tenth anniversary of the date of grant

the removal for cause of the director as director or

three months following the date the director ceases to be director for any other reason except death or disability

The options may be exercised by payment of cash Or through the delivery of our common stock They are generally exercisable

in the case of death or disability for period of one year after death or the disabling event provided that the death or disabling

event occurs while the person is director However if the option is exercised within the first six months after it becomes exercisable

any shares issued pursuant to such exercise may not be sold until the six month anniversary of the date of the grant of the option

2012 Director Compensation Table

The following table sets forth summary of the compensation we paid to our directors during 2012

Fees Earned Option

or Paid in Awards

Name Cash Total

GeraldM Gorski 110250 1836 112086

Kenneth Beard 73750 1836 75586

Frank Catalano Jr 87500 1836 89336

Paul Gauvreau 87500 1836 89336

Steven Grimes

Richard Imperiale 94500 96336

Kenneth Masick 77750 1836 79586

Barbara Murphy 75500 1836 77336

The table excludes Ms Brenda Gujral who resigned in 2012 and who received no compensation in 2012
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As of December 31 2012 each of the directors other than Ms Murphy and Mr Grimes held unexercised options to purchase

12000 shares of common stock Asof December31 2012 Ms Murphy held unexercised options to purchase 11400 shares

of common stock and Mr Grimes held no unexercised options

The option awards were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the following assumptions expected term

of options years expected volatility 21.65% expected dividend yield 5.66% and risk-free interest rate 0.67%

Mr Grimes does not receive any fees or remuneration for servingas director

Executive and Director Compensation Process

Overall the Executive Compensation Committee is responsible for determining and approving the compensation of all of our

executive officers provided that all equity awards to be made are also subject to the approval of the Board The Board is responsible

for approving the compensation of our non-employee directors provided that the Executive Compensation Committee may make

recommendations to the Board with respect to non-employee director compensation

The Executive Compensation Committee typically meets several times each year in connection with the consideration and

determination of executive compensation Historically most actions of the Executive Compensation Committee have occurred at

regular meetings scheduled well in advance by the Executive Compensation however the Executive Compensation Committee

may hold special meetings or take actions by written consent as they deem appropriate Specific meeting agendas are prepared by

the chair of the Executive Compensation Committee and our Chief Executive Officer although they reflect the direction of the

full Executive Compensation Committee Matters to be acted on by written consent may relate to matters that have been previously

discussed and/or are summarized by our ChiefExecutive Officer consultant engaged by the Executive Compensation Committee

or other advisor to the Company or the Executive Compensation Committee

For 2012 our Chief Executive Officer made recommendations to the Executive Compensation Cotumittee regarding base salaries

and the target amounts structure and goals for our equity incentive program provided detailed information to the Executive

Compensation Committee regarding the performance of our other executive officers during 2011 made recommendations regarding

payouts under our equity incentive program and made recommendations regarding the terms of retention agreements to be entered

into with the executive officers In addition our Chief Executive Officer provided the Executive Compensation Committee with

the financial and other information
necessary to determine whether the company goals an4 each executive officers individual

goals under our equity incentive program for 2012 had been achieved

As noted above in Compensation Discussion and Analysis the Executive Compensation Committee engaged SHP to assist

the Executive Compensation Committee in conducting comprehensive review of our executive compensation programs and

levels In September2012 SHP prepared written report providing thorough analysis of our executive compensation programs

including competitive analysis of compensation levels for the Named Executive Officers ii an analysis of our incentive

plans with regard to competitiveness design features and vehicle usage iii an intemal analysis which.involved review of the

documents governing our current executive compensation programs and interviews with our executives to ascertain their

perspectives regarding our overall competitiveness with.respect to compensation and iv SHPs recommendations regarding

the mix of our executive compensation and the structure of our incentive programs for 2013 Following the delivery of this written

report the Executive Compensation Committee consulted with SHP during late 2012 and early 2013 regarding our executive

compensation programs This report and the Executive Compensation Committees consultations primarily related to and were

intended to be used for purposes of structuring 2013 compensation However the Executive Compensation Committee did consider

the findings set forth in this report and the recommendations of SHP which were specifically requested in connection with its

decisions to increase Ms Amans base salary from the amount initially established for 2012 and to make additional equity grants

to our executive officers for 2012 above the amount earned based on the achievement of the pre-established goals The Executive

Compensation Committee retained direct responsibility for the appointment comperisation and oversight of the work of SHP
and instructed SHP to report directly to the Executive Compensation Committee We have concluded that the work of SHP
did not raise any conflict of interest

The Executive Compensation Committee and with respect to equity awards the independent members of Board ultimately made

all determinations regarding compensation payable to our executive officers and the terms of the retention agreements for our

executive officers

The Board and Executive Compensation Committeereview our director compensation on an annual basis The Board is responsible

for approving the compensation of our non-employee directors provided that the Executive Compensation Committee may make

recommendations to the Board with respect to non-employee directof compensation Additionally our Chief Executive Officer

may also make recommendations or assist the Executive Compensation Committee in making recommendations regarding director

compensation Neither the Board nor the Executive Compensation Committee retained compensation consultant to assist in
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recommending or determining director compensation for 2012 In 2012 the Executive Compensation Committee engaged SHP

to perform comprehensive review of our director cornpensªtioæ and make recommendations for our future director compensation

however the results of this review and recommendations were not used in determining 2012 director compensation but rather

were used and intended to be used in determining director compensation for 2013

Director and Officer Stock Ownership Guidelines

Our Board believes it is important to align the interests of the directors and senior management with those of the shareholders and

for directors and senior management to hold equity ownership positions in the Company Accordingly in 2012 we adopted stock

ownership guidelines pursuant to which each ofthe following persons is expected to own an aggregate number of shares of common

stock or phantom shares in the Company whether vested or not with the following aggregate
market values

Equity Ownership

Position Guideline

Non-employee director 287500

Chief Executive Officer 5x annual base salary

Other named executive officers 3x annual base salary

Current non-employee directors and the current ChiefExecutive Officer and other Named Executive Officers will have five years

from the end of 2012 to gain compliance with these ownership guidelines and any new non-employee directors chief executive

officer or other named executive officers will be expected to gain compliance with these ownership guidelines by the end of the

fifth full fiscal year following the year in which he or she was initially elected as director or appointed as director the chief

executive officer or named executive officer Thereafter compliance with these ownership guidelines will be measured as of the

end of each fiscal year
thereafter

For purposes of these ownership guidelines the value of shares of common stock and phantom shares shall be the greater of the

market price of an equivalent number of shares of our Class common stock on the date of purchase or grant of such shares

or ii as of the date compliance with these ownership guidelines is measured

Any director who is prohibited by law or by applicable regulation of his or her employer from owning equity in us shall be exempt

from this requirement For directors who are employed by or otherwise are affiliated with shareholder of the Company the shares

owned by the affiliated entity are attributed to the director for purposes
of these ownership guidelines Our NCG Committee may

consider whether exceptions should be made for any director on whom this requirement could impose financial hardship

Executive Compensation Committee Report

The Executive Compensation Committee of the Company has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis

required by Item 402b of Regulation S-K with management and based on such review and discussions the Executive

Compensation Committee recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Annual

Report on Form 10-K

Submitted by the Executive Compensation Committee

Frank Catalano Jr Chairman

Richard Imperiale

Barbara Murphy

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During 2012 the members of the Executive Compensation Committee consisted of Frank Catalano Jr chair Richard

Imperiale and Barbara Murphy Brenda Gujral served as member of the Executive Compensation Committee until April

2012 Ms Gujral also served as our Chief Executive Officer until November 15 2007 and as director until May 31 2012

Additionally we are required to disclose certain relationships and related transactions with Ms Gujral See Item 13 Certain

Relationships and Related Transactions None of the other members of the Executive Compensation Committee has any

relationship with us requiring disclosure under Item 404 of Regulation S-K No other member of our Executive Compensation

Committee is current or former officer or employee of ours or any of our subsidiaries None of our executive officers serves as

member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any company that has one or more of its executive officers

serving as member of our board of directors or Executive Compensation Committee
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Class common stock

Number of Percent of

Shares Class

4568

17060

10677

26346

4000

11700

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner

Directors and Named Executive Officers

Gerald Gorski

Kenneth Beard

Frank Catalano Jr

Paul Gauvreau

Richard Imperiale

Kenneth Masick

Barbara Murphy

Steven Grimes

Angela Aman

Niall Byrne

Shane Garrison

Dennis Holland

All directors and executive officers as group

13 persons

4000

16658

2342

7342

4246

111155

Class common stock

Number of Percent of

Shares Class

4568

17060

4752

26346

4000

4000

4000

16

2342

4342

4246

Total common stock

Number of Percent of

Shares Class

9136

34120

15429

52692

8000

15700

8000

33316

4684

11684

8492

5% Holders

The Vanguard Group Inc

FMR LLC/Edward Johnson 3d

10049846 7.52%

7559553 5.66%

10049846 4.36%

7559553 3.28%

Less than 1%

The address of each of the persons listed above is 2021 Spnng Road Suite 200 Oak Brook IL 60523

Beneficialownership includes outstanding shares and shares which are not outstanding that any person has the right to acquire within

60 days after the date of this table However any such shares which are not outstanding are not deemed to be outstanding for the

purpose of computing the percentage of outstanding shares beneficially owned by any other person Except as indicated in the footnotes

to this table and pursuant toapplicable community property laws the persons named in the table have sole voting and investingpower

with respect to all shares beneficially owned by them

All Class common stock is equally divided among Class B-2 and Class B-3 unless otherwise noted

Includes 4000 shares of Class common stock and 4000 shares of Class common stock issuable upon exercise of options granted

under our Independent Director Stock Option Plan which are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after

the date of this table

Includes 3700 shares of Class common stoŁk and 3700 shares of Class common stock issuable upon exercise of options granted

under our Independent Director Stock Option Plan which are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after

the date of this table

Information regarding The Vanguard Group Inc Vanguard based on Schedule 3G filed by Vanguard with the SEC on February

13 2013 Vanguards address is 100 Vanguard Blvd.Malvern PA 19355 The Schedule l3G indicates that Vanguard has sole voting

power with respect to 21500 shares of common stock sole dispositive power with respect to 10028346 shares of common stock and

shared dispositive power with respect to 21 500 shares of common stock

Information regarding FMR LLC and Edward Johnson 3d is based on Schedule 3G filed jointly by FMR LLC and Edward

Johnson 3d with the SEC on February 14 2013 FMR LLC reported sole voting power with respect to 638085 shares and each of
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Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth information as of January 31 2013 regarding the nUmber and percentage of shares beneficially

owned by each director and nominee ii each Named Executive Officer iii all directors and executive officers as group

and iv each
person

known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of any class of our outstanding common stock

Percentages in the following table are based on 230643556 shares of common stock outstanding consisting of 133606778 shares

of Class common stock 48518389 shares of Class B-2 common stock and 48518389 shares of Class B-3 common stock

which were the amount of shares outstanding as of January 31 2013 plus for each person thç number of shares that person has

the right to acquire within 60 days after such date None of our directors or executive officers own Series preferred stock except

as set forth below

94530 205685



FMR LLC and Edward Johnson 3d reported sole investment power with respect to the same 7559553 shares FMR LLC and

Edward Johnson 3d reported that Fidelity Management Research Company wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR LLC and an

investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 is the beneficial owner of 6921468 shares

or approximately 5.18% of our outstanding Class common stock The address of FMR LLC Edward Johnson 3d and Fidelity

Management Research Company is 82 Devonshire Street Boston Massachusetts 02109

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

All dollar amounts and shares in this Item 13 are stated in thousands

Due to the relationships of the Company with Daniel Goodwin and BrendaG Gujral during the applicable periods transactions

involving the Inland Group and/or its affiliates are set forth below Each of Mr Goodwin and Ms Gujral is significant shareholder

and/or principal of the Inland Group or holds directorships and is an executive officer of affiliates of the Inland Group With respect

to our company Mr Goodwin was beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock until our public sale of Class

common stock in April 2012 and as of the date of such sale Mr Goodwin bØnŁficially owned more than 5% of each class of our

Class common stock In June 2012 majority of the shares of our Class common stock and Class common stock beneficially

owned by Mr Goodwin were transferred out of record holder accounts of certain of Mr Goodwins affiliates According to the

Schedule 13D filed on October 2012 Mr Goodwin has not reported beneficial ownership Of more than 5% of any of our

securities Ms Gujral ceased to be director of our Company on May 31 2012

Terminated Service Agreements

The following provides summary of number of agreements we had with Inland Group affiliates all of which were terminated

in 2012

An Inland Group affiliate which is registered investment advisor provided investment advisory services to us related to our

securities investment account for fee paid monthly of up to one percent per annum based upon the aggregate fair value of our

assets invested Subject to our approval and the investment guidelines we provided to them the Inland Group affiliate had

discretionary authority with respect to the investment and reinvestment and sale including by tender of all securities held in that

account The Inland Group affiliate had also been granted power to vote all investments held in the account We incurred fees

totaling $116 for the year ended December 31 2012 As of December 31 2012 no amount remained unpaid We terminated this

agreement effective June 11 2012

An Inland Group affiliate provided loan servicing for us for monthly fee based upon the number of loans being serviced Such

fees totaled $141 for the year ended December 31 2012 As of December 31 2012 no amount remained unpaid We terminated

this agreement effective November 2012

An Inland Group affiliate had legal services agreement with us where that Inland Group affiliate provided us with certain legal

services in connection with our real estate business We paid the Inland Group affiliate for legal services rendered under the

agreement on the basis of actual time billed by attorneys and paralegals at the Inlâæd Group affiliates hourly billing rate then in

effect The billing rate was subject to change on an annual basis provided however that the billing rates charged by the Inland

Group affiliate would not be greater than the billing rates charged to any other client and would not be greater than 90% of the

billing rate of attorneys of similarexperience and position employed by nationally recognized law firms located in Chicago Illinois

performing similarservices For the year ended December 31 2012 we incurred $231 of these costs Legal services costs totaling

$52 remained unpaid as of December 31 2012 The termination of this agreement will be effective during the second quarter of

2013

We had service agreements with certain Inland Group affiliates including office and facilities management services insurance

and risk management services computer services personnel services property tax servicesand communications services Some

of these agreements provided that we obtain certain services from the Inland Group affiliates through the reimbursement of

portion of their general and administrative costs For the year ended December 31 2012 we incurred $1879 of these

reimbursements Of this amount $344 remained unpaid as of December 31 2012 The termination of these agreements have

various effective dates ranging from the fourth quarter of 2012 to the first quarter of 2013

An Inland Group affiliate facilitated the mortgage financing we obtain on some of our properties We paid the Inland Group affiliate

0.2% of the principal amount of each loan obtained on our behalf Such costs were capitalized as loan fees and amortized over the

respective loan term as component of interest expense We did not incur any such costs for the
year

ended December 31 2012

As of December 31 2012 no amount remained unpaid We terminated this agreement effective November 2012

134



We had transition property due diligence services agreement with an Inland Group affiliate which has expired by its terms In

connection with our acquisition of new properties the Inland Group affiliate gave us first right as to all retail mixed use and

single-user properties and if requested provided various services including services to negotiate property acquisition transactions

on our behalf and prepared suitability due diligence and preliminary and final pro forma analyses of properties proposed to be

acquired We paid all reasonable third-party out-of-pocket costs incurred by this entity in providing such services paid an overhead

cost reimbursement of $12 per transaction and to the extent these services were requested paid cost of $7 for due diligence

expenses and cost of $25 for negotiation expenses per transaction We incurred no such costs for the year ended December 31

2012 No costs remained unpaid as of December 312012

We had an institutional investor relationships services agreement with an Inland Group affiliate Under the terms of the agreement

the Inland Group affiliate attempted to secure institutional investor commitments in exchange for advisory and client fees and

reimbursement of project expenses We did not incur any such costsduring the year endedDecember 31 2012 None of these

costs remained unpaid as of December 31 2012 We terminated this agreement effective November 2012

Office Sublease

We subleased our office
space

from an Inland Group affiliate through November 30 2012 The lease called for annual base rent

of $496 and additional rent in any calendar
year

of our proportionate share of taxes and common area maintenance costs which

amounted to $340 for the
year

ended December31 2012 Additionally the Inland Group affiliate paid certain tenant improvements

under the lease in the amount of $395 and such improvements are being repaid byus over period of five years Of these costs

$121 remained unpaid as of December 31 2012

Joint Venture with Inland Equity

On November 29 2009 we formed 1W JV 2009 LLC or 1W JV wholly owned subsidiary and transferred portfolio of 55

investment properties and the entities which owned them into it Subsequently in connection with $625 000 debt refinancing

transaction which consisted of $500000 of mortgages payable and $125000 of notes payable on December 2009 we raised

additional capital of $50000 from Inland Equity Investors LLC Inland Equity in exchange for 23% noncontrolling interest in

1W JV Pursuant to the terms of the agreement Inland Equity earned preferred return of 6% annually which was paid monthly

and cumulative on any unpaid balance and an additional 5% annually which was set aside monthly and paid quarterly if the

portfolio net income was above target amount as specified in the organizational documents Inland Equity is an LLC owned by

certain individuals including Daniel Goodwin

The organizational documents of 1W JV contained provisions pursuant to which at any time after 90 days from the date of Inland

Equitys contribution we had the option to call Inland Equitys interest in 1W JV for price as determined under the organizational

documents On March 20 2012 pursuant to the terms of the call right we provided written notice of exercise to Inland Equity

and agreed to the repurchase price with Inland Equity On April 262012 we paid $55397 representing the agreed upon repurchase

price and accrued but unpaid preferred return to Inland Equity to repurchase their 23% interest in 1W JV resulting in us owning

100% of 1W JV

Related Person Transaction Policy

Our Board has adopted Related Person Transaction Approval and Disclosure Policy for the review approval or ratification of

any related person transaction This written policy provides that all related person transactions must be reviewed and approved by

majority of the disinterested directors on our Board in advance of us or any of our subsidiaries entering into the transaction

provided that if we or any of our subsidiaries enter into transaction without recognizing that such transaction constitutes related

person transaction the approval requirement will be satisfied if such transaction is ratified by majority of the disinterested

directors on our Board promptly after we recognize that such transaction constituted related person transaction Disinterested

directors are directors that do not have personal financial interest in the transaction that is adverse to our financial interest or that

of our shareholders The term related person transaction refers to transaction required to be disclosed by us pursuant to Item

404 of Regulation S-K or any successor provision promulgated by the SEC

Previously the Independent Directors Committee committee comprised of all of the independent directors assisted the Board

in discharging its responsibilities relating to the reviewing authorizing approving ratifying and monitoring all related
person

transactions agreements and relationships In particular the Independent Directors Committee was responsible for evaluating

negotiating and concluding or rejecting any proposed contract or transaction with related party monitoring the performance

of all related person contracts or transactions entered into and determining whether existing and proposed related
person contracts

and transactions were fair and reasonable to us The Independent Directors Committee operated under written charter approved

by our Board
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Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The following table sets forth fees for professional audit services rendered for the audits of our annual financial statements by

Deloitte Touche LLP and fees for other services rendered by them

2012 201.1

Audit fees 1215000 780000

Audit related fees 558000 456500

Tax fees 181276 184975

Total 1954276 1421475

Audit fees include the financial statement audit and audit of internal controls over financial reporting

Audit related fees primarily include the review of documents and issuance of independent registered public accounting

firms consents related to documents filed with the SEC as well as fees related to 1W

Tax fees consist of fees for review of federal and state income tax returns

The Audit Committee reviews and approves in advance the terms of and compensation for both audit and non-audit services As

stated in our Audit Committee charter the Audit Committee pre-approves all auditing services and the terms thereof which may

include providing comfort letters in connectionwith securities underwritings and non-audit services other than non-audit services

prohibited under Section OAg of the Exchange Act or the applicable rules of the SEC or the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board to be provided to the Company by its independent auditors The pre-approval requirement may be waived with

respect to the provision of non-audit services for the Company if the de minimus provisions of Section OAi1B of the

Exchange Act are satisfied This authority to pre-approve non-audit services may be delegated to one or more members of the

Audit Committee provided all decisions to pre-approve an activity is required to be presented to the full Audit Committee at its

first meeting following such decision

The Audit Committee approved 100% of the fees descnbed above
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

List of documents filed

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are set forth in the report in Item

Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules for the year ended December 31 2012 is submitted herewith

Page

Valuation and Qualifing Accounts Schedule II 95

Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation Schedule III 96

Schedules not filed

All schedules other than those indicated in the index have been omitted as the required information is inapplicable or the information

is presented iri the consolidated financial statements or related notes

Exhibit No Description

3.1 Sixth Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Registrant dated March 202012 Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

3.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March22 2012

3.2 Articles of Amendment to the Sixth Articles of Amendment arid Restatement of Registrant dated March 202012 Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 22 2012

3.3 Articles of Amendment to the Sixth Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Registrant dated March 202012 Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 33 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K flled on March22 2012

3.4 Articles Supplementary to the Sixth Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Registrant as amended dated March 202012
Incorporated herein by reference to-Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 22 2012

3.5 Articles Supplementary for the Series Preferred Stock Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrants
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 17 2012

3.6 Certificate of Correction Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrants Current Report Amended on
Form 8K/A filed on December 20 2012

Sixth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit ito the Registrant Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on July 20 2012

10.1 Second Amended and Restated Independent Director Stock Option Plan of Registrant Incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 22 2012

10 2008 Long Term Equity Compensation Plan of Registrant Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 102 to the Registrant

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 22 2012

10.3 Indemnification Agreements by and between Registrant and its directors andofficers Incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibits 10.6 A-E and to the Registrants Annual Report Amended on Form 10-K/A forthe year ended December 31
2006 and filed onApril 272007 Exhibits 10.561 10.562 10.567 10.569 10.571 to the RegistrantsAnnual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December31 2007 and filed on March 31 2008 and Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2011 and filed on February 22 2012

10.4 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 242012 among the Registrant as Borrower and KeyBank
National Association as Administrative Agent KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc as Co-Lead Arranger and Joint Book Manager
and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as Syndication Agent and JPMorgan Securities LLC as Co-Lead Arranger and Joint Book

Manager and Citibank NA as Co-Documentation Agent Deutsche Bank Securities Inc as Co-Documentation Agent and

Certain Lenders from time to time parties hereto as Lenders Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants
Statement on Form S-li/A filed on March 12 2012

10.5 Loan Agreement dated as of December 2009 by and among Colesville One LLC JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A and certain

subsidiaries of the Registrant Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.587 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form
10-K/A for the year ended December 31 2009 and filed on March 2010
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Exhibit No Description

10.6 Senior Mezzanine Loan Agreement dated as of December 2009 by and among 1W Mezz 2009 LLC and JPMorgan Chase

Bank N.A Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.588 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the

year ended December 31 2009 and filed on March 52010

10.7 Junior Mezzanine Loan Agreement dated as of December 12009 by and among 1W Mezz 2009 LLC and JPMorgan Chase

Bank N.A Incorporated herein by fØference to Exhibit 10.589 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the

year ended December 31 2009 and filed on March 2010

10.8 Closing Agreement dated as of June 17 2011 by and between Inland Western Retail Real Estate Trust Inc Inland Real Estate

Investment Corporation and the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

10.10 to the Registrants Amendment No to the Registration Statement on Form S-il filed on July 25 2011 No

333-172237

10.9 Retention Agreement dated February 19 2013 by and between Registrant and Steven Grimes filed herewith

10.10 Retention Agreement dated February 19 2013 by and between Registrant and Angela Aman filed herewith

10.11 Retention Agreement dated February 19 2013 by and between Registrant and Niall Byrne filed herewith

10.12 Retention Agreement dated February 19 2013 by and between Registrant and Shane Garrison filed herewith

10.13 Retention Agreement dated February 19 2013 by and between Registrant and Dennis Holland filed herewith

10.14 Retention Agreement dated February 19 2013 by and between Registrant and James Kleifges filed herewith

12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges filed herewith

12.2 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends filed herewith

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of Registrant filed herewith

23.1 Consent of Deloitte Touche LLP filed herewith

31.1 Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3a-l4a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

filed herewith

31.2 Certification of Executive Vice President Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 filed herewith

32.1 Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

pursuant to Rule 13a-14b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 furnished herewith

101 Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following formatted in XBRL Extensible Business Reporting Language

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2012 and 2011 ii Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other

Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 iii Consolidated Statements of Equity for the

Years Ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 iv Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December

31 2012 2011 and 2010 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and vi Financial Statement Schedules

In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulations S-T the XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 to this Annual report on Form 10-K shall not

be deemed to be filed for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act and Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the

liability
of those sections and shall not be part of any registration or other document filed under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act except

as expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has duly caused this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA INC

Is Steven Grimes

By Steven Grimes

President and Chief Executive Officer

Date February 20 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons

on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Is Steven Grimes Is Kenneth Beard Is Richard Imperiale

By Steven Grimes By Kenneth Beard By Richard Imperiale

Director President and Director Director

Chief Executive Officer

Date February 20 2013 Date February 20 2013 Date February 20 2013

Is Angela Aman /s Frank Catalano Jr /s Kenneth Masick

By Angela Aman By Frank Catalano Jr By Kenneth Masick

Executive Vice President Director Director

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Date February 20 2013 Date February 20 2013 Date February 20 2013

/s James Kleifges Is Paul Gauvreau Is Barbara Murphy

By James Kleifges By Paul Gauvreau By Barbara Murphy

Executive Vice President and Director Director

Chief Accounting Officer

Date February 20 2013 Date February 20 2013 Date February 20 2013

/5/ Gerald Gorski

By Gerald Gorski

Chairman of the Board and Director

Date February 20 2013
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Goodwin Procter LLP

Boston MA

855247RPA

This Annual Report and the Letter to Stockholders contain forward-looking

statements Forward-tanking statements are statements that are not historical

including statements regarding managements intentions beliefs expectations

representations plans or predictions of the future and are typically identified

by such words as believe expect anticipate intend estimate may
shouldaod could We intend that such forward-looking statements be subject

to the safe harbor provisinns created by Section 27A of the Securities Act of

t933 and Section 2tE of the Securities Exchange Act of t934 and the Federal

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of t995 and we include this statement

for the purpose of complying with such safe harbor provisions Future events

and actual results performance transactions or achievements financial or

otherwise may differ materially from the results perfnrmance transactions

or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements

Important factors that could cause our actual results to be materially different

from the forward-looking statements are discussed in our Form lu-K We

assume no obligation to opdate or revise
any forward-looking statements or

to update the reasons why actual results could differ from those projected in

any forward-looking statements The companies depicted in the photographs

herein may have proprietary interests in their trade names and trademarks

and nothing herein shall be considered to be an endorsement authorization

or approval of Retail Properties of America Inc jRPAI by the companies

Further none of these companies are affiliated with RPAI

Retai Properties of America inc

2021 Spring Road Suite 200

Oak Brook tlinois 60523

Current stockholder information including the annual

report SEC filings and press releases are available on

our website at www.rpai.com by email request to

ir@rpai.com or via telephone at 800.541.7661

Deloitte Touche LLP

Chicago IL

Registrar and Transfer Company

10 Commerce Drive Cranford NJ 07016

800.960.6552 908.2729481 fax

www.rtco.com
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